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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

Year ended
31 December 2017
BE-ZT—tHF

t=A=+-H
IEERE
HK$ MillionE &% T

Year ended

31 December 2016
HE-ZT—RF
+t=A=+—H
IEFE

HK$ Million & &8 7T

Revenue EE ) 18,242.8 15,531.7 +17%
* 1B~ RBYTH -
EBITDA AHRHAE - BB - FTRE 5,259.4 3,230.6 +63%
88 A s R
Profit before tax* RREL AR T 4,613.1 2,503.3 +84%
Net profit attributable to owners  Zx7A T)#5H8 A FE(L 4 F)
of the Company
- Underlying net profit* — B R4 R 3,735.0 1,947.2 +92%
— Reported net profit —BREAL T 3,764.5 4,346.6 -13%
Earnings per share BREF
- Based on underlying net profit* — AL F) & HK121.6 cents3&1l HK64.9 cents# (Il +87%
- Based on reported net profit —ABRE4TFIFTE HK122.5 cents3&Al HK144.9 centsi# Il -15%
Interim dividend per share FRPHKRE HK32.6 centsj& HK13.5 centsi# 1l +141%
Proposed final dividend per share ZESRALRE HK52.6 cents3&1l HK18.5 cents &1l +184%
Special interim dividend per share SR4:BIFEIKRE - HK50.0 centsi& 11l N/ATiE B
o - | ; \
Proposed special final dividend E&ESRIGIAERE _ HK30.0 centsiill /AT
per share
Net asset value per share BREERE HK$5.677% T HK$4.807% 7T +18%
Net cash HEE 1,062.1 1,750.5
*Excluding: AEIE
FY2017: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$29.5 million. ZE—+F  REMELAFEEHZRE—_TNLERTE
FBIT ©
FY2016: Gain on fair value changes of investment properties of HK$7.1 million, gain —ERNFE REVELAFEEH 2 KFZLtE — T

on disposal of a subsidiary of HK$2,121.2 million and income from relocation

compensation of HK$271.1 million.

BET HE-—BHBEARZUER
TR T A TEET AR ER
A—fEET—B—TEBT
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBREE

Revenue
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERERE

BUSINESS REVIEW ¥ )

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am delighted to report to our RAZERERZEFS  MARABAREDAMN - &2
shareholders that Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) SBREBRIERAR AR AR ]) REKE AT
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) delivered outstanding results for the financial (TEB)REBE-_ZE—+F+-A=1+—H1t
year ended 31 December 2017. Driven by the applications in automobile R EERSEMELE  —T—+F  £58

electronics, smart home appliances and light-emitting-diode (“LED”) products, TBF -  HEREUAREN —fREE([LED])E MR
overall demand for laminates remained robust in 2017. Prices of copper FERAE) T BERTEERRY - ARE
foil, glass yarn, epoxy resin and other upstream materials have surged, ERMER Y InRE - WRAKIRS
thereby driving laminates’ selling prices to increase consecutively. The Group BIIESEEMEBERH 2R EE - HHERE
commands a comprehensive and efficient vertical supply chain, enabling it to REBRZRER - EEBEETERSMNEN
enjoy the benefits of price hikes of both laminates and upstream materials, EiREEHEESERE  tRFZSEBRER L
thus helping to raise its profit margin. ERYIREERMREALR - AE R ARE
hn e

Turnover Breakdown by Products & ¥ 58 5

FY2017 FY2016
—E-tEMBFE —E-RFHBFE

[ Glass Epoxy Laminates || Paper Laminates Upstream Materials* ] Properties® [l Others”
RAWHBHEERNAER BB E R ik EiE® H'
* Upstream Materials included copper foil, epoxy resin, glass fabric and bleached kraft paper * YR BERE  IREMENE - HIBAsA T
AR
@ Properties mainly comprised sales of properties and rental income e FEHEEZBEHEMERESKA

# Others comprised driling services and polyvinyl butyral (“PVB”) # Hab e iE LR B LGS T B (TPVB))
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

In 2017, the Group recorded a 17% increase in revenue to HK$18,242.8
million. Underlying net profit (excluding non-recurring items) rose significantly
by 92% to HK$3,735.0 million. In view of the Group’s healthy financial
position, the Board has proposed a final dividend of HK52.6 cents per share,
subject to shareholders’ approval. Together with the interim dividend of
HK32.6 cents per share, it will constitute a total dividend of HK85.2 cents per
share for full year with the dividend pay-out ratio increased to 70%.

PERFORMANCE

During 2017, prices of upstream materials and laminates rose to different
extents owing to tight supply. Benefiting from the increase in the average
selling price, the Group’s gross profit margin was lifted to 29% from last
year’s 22%. Average monthly shipment volume was 10 million square metres.
Among these, composite epoxy material laminates (“CEM”) and glass epoxy
laminates (“FR4”) contributed an aggregate revenue of HK$10,388.5 million,
accounting for 57% of the Group’s revenue. Paper laminates delivered a
revenue of HK$2,246.5 million, representing 12% of the total. Reflecting
the partial booking of sales from Kunshan Development Zone Kingboard Yu
Garden Phases 2-3, Huagiao Kingboard Yu Garden Phase 4 and Jiangyin
Kingboard Yu Garden during the year, the property division recorded a
revenue of HK$1,789.4 million, or 10% of the Group’s revenue. The balance
mainly comprised sales of upstream materials and other products.

O AR R R A
—EFLEER

EFEOIEE e

—E—+tF  EERFEETELATRE
—BANtTZBOETZaN+EBT  EAL
MTBREECEEER) RIBIEMN2%ZE
—t+HE=ZTHRESET - £EUEKRE
& EEEEHEERPRETAS2.6/81 -
Ik BEZASRERZRB - BRDREZ
FHAR S FHKR32.68lL - 2FIREBEATR
85.278Il + IR BLLEHAET0% ©

EBRE

—E—tF FERYHRNERERERD
FftEERmAE TRZENTIE - RERE
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2% RITE29% - SEFATHHEE
R-—TEYITK - HEFEREMBRER
(TCEM)) RIRAT WM BINmIR([FR4)) &
ERR—BT=ENATN\BL+EET &
BEEBULER % GEFAHMRERER
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
e

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Group’s consolidated financial and liquidity position remained robust. As
at 31 December 2017, net current assets and current ratio of the Group were
approximately HK$11,135.5 million (31 December 2016: HK$8,584.2 million)
and 2.49 (31 December 2016: 1.95) respectively.

The net working capital cycle decreased to 75 days as at 31 December 2017
from 80 days as at 31 December 2016, on the following key metrics:

- The stock turnover days was 27 days (31 December 2016: 22 days).

- Trade receivables, including amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of debtor turnover days, was 90 days (31 December 2016: 88
days).

- Trade and bills payables (excluding bills payables to properties, plant
and equipment), including amounts due to fellow subsidiaries, in
terms of creditor turnover days, was 42 days (31 December 2016: 30
days).

The Group’s cash flow remained strong during the year, with net cash
stood at HK$1,062.1 million as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016:
HK$1,750.5 million). In 2017, the Group invested approximately HK$800
million in new production capacity and HK$700 million in its property
business. Backed by a highly experienced professional management team,
a sound business foundation and solid financial strength, management is
confident that these investments will deliver stable and satisfactory returns to
shareholders over the long term. The ratio of bank borrowings between short
term and long term stood at 12%:88% (31 December 2016: 57%:43%). The
Group maintains sufficient financial resources to meet its requirements for
future market developments.

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management policy. The
Group did not enter into any material types of derivative financial instrument,
nor did the Group have any material foreign exchange exposure during the
year. The Group’s revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, RMB
and US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirements of its
operating expenses.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group maintained a workforce of approximately
9,900 (31 December 2016: 9,900). In addition to offering competitive salary
packages, the Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to
eligible employees based on the Group’s overall financial achievements and
individual employee performance.

PROSPECTS

The Group expects the demand for laminates to continue to expand in
2018. As the Group enters a new capacity expansionary cycle, management
is confident in the prospects of the Group’s business development. The
glass yarn and fabric facilities completed by the end of last year have been
commissioned in phases, helping the Group to resolve the bottleneck in
laminates capacity expansion. Laminates production volume will therefore
increase gradually. The planned new laminates and copper foil capacities
are under construction and expected to commence operation consecutively
during this year. These new facilities will help the Group meet high demand in
the market.

Demand for laminates will grow further on the back of a strong electronics
market and the activation of the supply chain for 5G telecommunication. It
is expected that the supply of laminates and upstream materials will remain
tight, driving ongoing steady price increases. The Group plans to increase
capacity for high value-added products such as thin, high-frequence and
high-speed, and halogen-free laminates in order to enhance its product
portfolio. Thus, the performance of the average selling price of laminates of
the Group will likely yield a better result than that of market average.

Sales of the residential projects in Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, moved
ahead satisfactorily. Continued booking of property sales is anticipated for
this year. The Group currently has no plan to increase its land bank, and as
existing projects are near completion, construction expenses are expected to
reduce substantially. Net cash inflow from the property business will increase
significantly.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers, banks, the management
and employees for their unreserved support to the Group in the past financial
year.

Cheung Kwok Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong, 23 March 2018
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EERGREEAEBZERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wa, aged 54, is an executive Director and the Chairman
of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors and an uncle of Mr. Cheung Ka
Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined Kingboard Chemical Holdings
Limited (“KCHL”) in 1988 and has over 29 years experience in the marketing
of a wide range of industrial products. He is responsible for the overall
strategic planning of the Group and sets the general direction and goals for
the Group. Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Keung, aged 65, is an executive Director and the
Managing Director of the Company. He is a brother of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa
and Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, both being executive Directors, and an uncle of
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 1991
and has over 26 years experience in the laminate industry. He is responsible
for the overall implementation of the strategic plans and goals of the Group.
Mr. Cheung was appointed as an executive Director in July 20086.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Ping, aged 57, is an executive Director. He is a brother
of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa and Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, and an uncle of Mr.
Cheung Ka Ho, each being an executive Director. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in
1988 and has over 29 years experience in marketing. He is mainly responsible
for the Group’s marketing operations and is also the general manager of the
paper laminate factories in Fogang and Shaoguan, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Cheung is also an executive director of Kingboard
Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“KBCF”), a 82.32%-owned subsidiary of the
Company as at the end of reporting period and whose shares are listed on
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX”). Mr. Cheung was
appointed as an executive Director in May 2006.

Mr. LAM Ka Po, aged 61, is an executive Director. Mr. Lam is a co-founder
of KCHL and has over 29 years experience in the sales and distribution of
laminates. Mr. Lam is also the chairman and executive director of KBCF. He
was appointed as an executive Director in November 2006.

Mr. CHEUNG Ka Ho, aged 34, is an executive Director. Mr. Cheung is the
nephew of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping, all being executive Directors. Mr. Cheung joined KCHL in 2004
and is involved in the laminate marketing operations for the southern region
of China and also the general manager of glass epoxy laminate factory in
Thailand. He was appointed as an executive Director in July 2006.

Mr. LIU Min, aged 49, is an executive Director. He joined KCHL in 1998.
Mr. Liu graduated from Harbin University with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Chemical Engineering. Prior to joining KCHL, he had over 7 years’ experience
in the copper foil industry. He was appointed as an executive Director in
November 2006.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERGREEAEBZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. ZHOU Pei Feng, aged 49, is an executive Director. He joined KCHL
in 1999 and is the general manager of four glass epoxy laminate facilities
in Shenzhen, Fogang, Jiangmen and Jiangyin, the PRC. Mr. Zhou holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Chongaing University
and a Master’s Degree in Material Processing Engineering from Jilin Industrial
University (now known as Jilin University). He was appointed as an executive
Director in November 2006.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 44, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Lo is also a
member of the audit committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Professional Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Lo joined KCHL in May 1999 and is in charge of KCHL'’s
company secretarial work. Prior to joining KCHL, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo was appointed as a non-executive
Director in July 2006.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Tai Chiu, aged 71, joined as an independent non-executive
Director in November 2006. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company, and a member of the remuneration committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Leung graduated from The
University of Hong Kong in 1969. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He has broad experience in accounting
and auditing matters, having worked in the auditing profession for over 30
years, 20 years of which he served as a partner. Mr. Leung retired from
PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2005. Mr. Leung was the President of Lions
Club of Victoria in 1986 and 1998 and a director of Yan Oi Tong from 1995
to 1997. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is also
an independent non-executive director of the companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
namely Eva Precision Industrial Holdings Limited and G-Vision International
(Holdings) Limited. He was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of KCHL on 1 October 2016.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
EERGREEAEBZER

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. IP Shu Kwan, Stephen, GBS, JP, aged 66, joined as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2011. Mr. Ip is also the chairman of the
remuneration committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Ip graduated
from The University of Hong Kong with a degree in Social Sciences in 1973.
Mr. Ip joined the Hong Kong Government in November 1973 and was
promoted to the rank of Director of Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the
HKSAR Government as a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007.
Senior positions held by Mr. Ip in the past include Commissioner of Insurance,
Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and Secretary
for Financial Services. Mr. Ip took up the position of Secretary for Economic
Development and Labour on 1 July 2002. His portfolio in respect of economic
development covered air and sea transport, logistics development, tourism,
energy, postal services, meteorological services, competition and consumer
protection. He was also responsible for labour policies including matters
relating to employment services, labour relations and employees’ rights. Mr.
Ip retired from the HKSAR Government in July 2007. Mr. Ip received the
Gold Bauhinia Star award from the HKSAR Government in 2001, and is an
unofficial Justice of the Peace. Mr. Ip was an independent non-executive
director of Viva China Holdings Limited from June 2010 to March 2013, a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. Mr.
Ip was also an independent non-executive director of Goldpoly New Energy
Holdings Limited from October 2010 to March 2013, an independent non-
executive director of PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited from
January 2011 to October 2011, an independent non-executive director
of Milan Station Holdings Limited from April 2011 to March 2013 and an
independent non-executive director of Synergis Holdings Limited from
September 2008 to December 2017, all of these companies are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Ip also serves as an independent
non-executive director on the boards of three companies listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, namely China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited, Lai Sun Development Company Limited and Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited.

Mr. ZHANG Lu Fu, aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in January 2015. Mr. Zhang is also a member of the nomination
committee, audit committee and remuneration committee of the Company.
He has had the experience of working for the Chinese government since
1987 including the Xin Hua News Agency branch in Hong Kong (Liaison
Office of the Central People’s Government in Hong Kong). Since 2000,
Mr. Zhang has worked for a number of Hong Kong listed companies and
charitable organisations on either full-time or part-time basis in the capacity
such as chief representative of Chinese affairs, Chinese affairs consultant,
chief secretary for Chinese affairs and chief executive.

Mr. Zhang has been the director-general of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association and a member of the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference since 2008; he has been serving as
the council member of the China Overseas Friendship Association since 2013
and the executive director of Guangdong Overseas Friendship Association
since 2015 as well as the council member of the Shenzhen Overseas
Friendship Association since 2017. Mr. Zhang holds a Master degree in
Philosophy from the Beijing Normal University and is a research associate
thereat. In 2011, Mr. Zhang was employed by the Hong Kong Academy of
Management and the Hong Kong Financial Services Institute as a professor
on a part-time basis. He has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Sino Biopharmaceutical Limited since April 2015 and CT
Environmental Group Limited since January 2018, both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DlRECTORS (continued)

Mr. LAU Ping Cheung, Kaizer, aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in August 2015. Mr. Lau is also the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company, and a member of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Lau is a
chartered surveyor and he was graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and holds a Master Degree
in Construction Project Management from The University of Hong Kong.
He is a past president and fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors,
a past chairman and fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(Hong Kong Branch), a past chairman of the Surveyors Registration Board,
a former member of the HKSAR Legislative Council, a former non-executive
director of the Urban Renewal Authority, a former member of the Council
of The City University of Hong Kong, a member of the Council of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and a member of the Basic Law Promotion
Steering Committee. Mr. Lau has over 40 years of experience in construction
and property development in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Mr. Lau was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of MTR Corporation
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, in
August 2015.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHANG Guo Qiang, aged 50, joined KCHL in 2002 and is the general
manager of the glass fabric factories in Qingyuan and Lianzhou, the PRC.
Mr. Chang graduated from Hunan Chang Sha University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Textiles. Prior to joining KCHL, he had over 14 years’ experience in
the glass fabric industry.

Mr. LAM Ting Hin, aged 30, the Company Secretary, joined the Group in
October 2015. Mr. Lam is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the
company secretarial work and financial management of the group. He has
over 7 years of work experience primarily on accounting, auditing, finance
and financial reporting, including working at professional advisory firms.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 can
be found in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” of this annual report,
which forms part of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks and uncertainties which are specific to
the Group and/or the industries in which the Group operates. These risks may
materially affect the Group’s business operations, financial condition, results
of operations and business prospects. The Group has identified the key risks
and uncertainties as follows:

Operating at close to full capacity

The Group is operating at close to full capacity in its existing glass epoxy
laminates production plants. Accordingly, the Group’s ability to grow its
business is dependent upon it acquiring additional production capacity
through either the expansion of its existing plants or the building or acquisition
of additional plants. There can be no assurance that the Group will be able
to achieve its planned increases in production capacity in the near future or
at all. Failure to achieve this expansion in production capacity would limit the
Group’s ability to remain competitive and to maximise business opportunities
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.
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BUSI N ESS REVI EW (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Future expansion plans require additional funding and management
resources

The Group’s ability to obtain financing for its expansion plan will depend on
its financial condition, as well as on other factors that may be outside the
control of the Group, such as general market conditions and the political and
economic conditions. No assurance can be given that adequate funds will
be obtainable on acceptable terms, or at all. If capital cannot be obtained,
the Group may be forced to curtail its expansion plans, which could result in
an inability to successfully implement its business strategy and may have a
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations and
business prospects of the Group.

Furthermore, the management may face challenges resulting from the
expansion plan of the Group, including but not limited to, upgrading or
expanding existing facilities and training personnel to manage and operate
those facilities. Such challenges could hinder the Group’s expansion plans
which may in turn have a material adverse effect on the financial condition,
results of operations and business prospects of the Group.

Intense competition in the industry

The business segments in which the Group operates are highly competitive.
No assurance can be given that the Group will be able to compete
successfully against its current competitors or emerging companies in
the future. If the Group fails to compete effectively, the Group’s results of
operations, financial condition and business prospects may be materially and
adversely affected.

Recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions

The recent global market fluctuations and economic conditions have adversely
affected economies and businesses around the world. A slowdown in the
global economy, in particular, the PRC economy, could lead to a reduction in
demand for the Group’s products and may materially and adversely affect its
business operations, financial condition and results of operations.

The risks and uncertainties stated above are not meant to be exhaustive.
There may be other risks or uncertainties that are not known to the Group or
which may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the future.
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BUS' N ESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group is committed to achieving environmental sustainability. The Group
endeavours to comply with the relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, waste reduction and energy saving. For instance, the in-house
manufacturing facilities of the Group operate in compliance with the relevant
environmental rules and regulations. The Group reviews its environmental
policies on a regular basis.

In accordance with Rule 13.91 and the ESG Reporting Guide contained in
Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report will be available on our website within three months from
the publication of this annual report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws, rules and
regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to such laws, rules
and regulations through various measures such as internal controls, approval
procedures, staff trainings and oversight of business operations at different
levels of the Group. The Board also monitors the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular
basis.

So far as the Directors and senior management are aware, for the year
ended 31 December 2017, the Group has obtained the approvals, permits,
consents, licences and registrations required for its business and operations,
and there was no material breach of the relevant laws and regulations by our
Group that has a significant impact on the Group.

Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers in order to operate in a
sustainable manner and to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

The Company strongly believes that employees are its most important
and valuable assets. In order to recognise the performance of and provide
incentives for its employees, the Group reviews its policies on remuneration
and benefits for its employees regularly to ensure that they are in line with
the market standard. To maintain a close relationship with its employees, the
Group organises various activities for its staff to participate.

The Company maintains sound relationships with its customers and suppliers
which enable the Group to foster long term business benefits. The Directors
and senior management of the Company endeavour to exchange business
ideas and updates of the Group with its customers and suppliers from time to
time. To maintain its competitiveness, the Group aims to deliver high quality
products and services to its customers.

During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the
Group and its employees, customers or suppliers.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 58.

An interim dividend of HK32.6 cents per share was paid to the shareholders
of the Company during the year. The Directors now recommend the payment
of a final dividend of HK52.6 cents per share to the shareholders on the
register of members of the Company on 6 June 2018, and the retention of
the remaining profit in the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share capital of the
Company are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, there was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company
or any of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 62 and 63.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share premium
and special reserve of the Company are also available for distribution to
shareholders provided that the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

As at 31 December 2017, the sum of the retained profits, the share premium
and the special reserve of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$8,838,932,000 (2016: HK$8,177,837,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to shareholders
of the Company by reason of their holding of Company’s shares.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2017,
resulting in an increase in fair value of HK$29,505,000 (2016: HK$7,101,000)
which has been credited directly to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company has in aggregate
approximately HK$3,285 million available-for-sale investments, representing
approximately 12% of the total asset of the Group as at 31 December 2017,
which consist of mostly securities listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and bonds issued mainly by companies also listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. The Company acquired its available-for-sale
investments through a market purchase. On 5 November 2017, the vendors
(namely Kingboard Chemical, the parent company of the Company (in
respect of 44,657,000 the ordinary shares (“Cathay Pacific Shares”) of Cathay
Pacific Airways Limited (stock code: 293) (“Cathay Pacific”)), Kingboard
Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kingboard Chemical (in
respect of 311,632,000 Cathay Pacific Shares), and the Company (in respect
of 21,899,000 Cathay Pacific Shares)), entered into an agreement with Qatar
Airways Q.C.S.C., pursuant to which the vendors agreed to sell, and Qatar
Airways Q.C.S.C. agreed to acquire an aggregate of 378,188,000 shares
in the share capital of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited (stock code: 293),
representing approximately 9.61% of the total issued share capital of Cathay
Pacific, at a total consideration of HK$5,162,266,000. The completion of the
disposal took place on 6 November 2017.

The Group will from time to time monitor the price movement of prices in
securities and bonds and may adjust its investment portfolio as and when
appropriate.

The following table sets out the Group’s major available-for-sale investments
as at 31 December 2017:

Name of available-for-sale
investments

AHHERE R

Bond listed on SGX by Country Garden
Holdings Limited (listed on the stock
exchange with stock code 2007) with
fixed coupon interest 4.75% per annum
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Bond interest
for the year
FRBEFFLE
HK$’000
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and maturity date on 28 September 2023 ZEZ=FAA=+)N\H 938,081 44,955
Bond listed on SGX by Guangzhou R&F BMNE it ERDBRAE (BB
Properties Co., Ltd. (HK stock code: 2777): {55k : 2777 )R Fr Eh 2 (&%
0] fixed coupon rate of 5.875% 0] BEFEB5875B v ETFE

per annum and maturity date B BRI =F=H3

in February 2023 A 773,175 5,601
(i) fixed coupon rate of 5.75% (ii) BEBFBS75EZETFE
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in 2022 232,830 13,387

1,944,086 63,943
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(continued)

Save as the available-for-sale investments as set out in the table above, the
aggregate fair value of other available-for-sale investments held by the Group
as at 31 December 2017 does not exceed 5% of the consolidated total assets
of the Group as at 31 December 2017.

Based on the announcement of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 2007) (“CGH”") dated 21 September 2016, the senior notes (“CGH
Senior Notes”) were issued by CGH in September 2016, and due in 2023.
The CGH Senior Notes are listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited and carries an interest of 4.75% per annum and interests are payable
semi-annually. The proceeds from the CGH Senior Notes was intended to be
used for refinancing certain of CGH’s existing indebtedness and for its general
working capital purposes. According to the annual results announcement
dated 20 March 2018 for the year ended 31 December 2017 of CGH, as
at 31 December 2017, its group’s net gearing ratio increased slightly from
approximately 48.7% as at 31 December 2016 to approximately 56.9% as at
31 December 2017.

Based on the announcement of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (stock
code: 2777) (“GRFP”) dated 13 November 2017: (i) the senior notes (“GRFP
2023 Senior Notes”) were issued by GRFP in November 2017, and due in
February 2023. The GRFP Senior Notes are listed on Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited and carries an interest of 5.875% per annum and
interests are payable semi-annually. The proceeds from the Senior Notes
was intended to be used for refinancing of debt and for general corporate
purposes of GRFP; and (ii) the senior notes (“GRFP 2022 Senior Notes”)
were issued by GRFP in January 2017, and due in 2022. The GRFP 2022
Senior Notes are listed on Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
and carries an interest of 5.75% per annum and interests are payable semi-
annually. The proceeds from the Senior Notes was intended to finance
GRFP’s overseas projects under China’s “One Belt One Road” strategy
and for general corporate purposes. According to the 2017 annual report of
GRFP, the net debt to total equity ratio of GRFP as at 31 December 2017
was 169.6%, and the maturity profile of the GRFP group’s total borrowings
was well balanced between short, medium and long term debt.

For further information of the business and financial performance of the above
companies, please refer to the reports and announcement referred in the
above paragraphs for details. Please also refer to the respective publications
of the above companies from time to time for updates on prospects and
performances of the respective companies. The reports and announcement
referred above do not form part of this annual report and do not constitute
any publication issued by, or any opinion, advice or view of, the Company or
any of its directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EZEHE
PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT W% - RN

An expenditure of HK$838,229,000 was incurred during the year primarily EFRNTFTERRSAEBALAEIMELARX
to expand the production capacity of the Group. Details of all the changes in 838,229,000/ 7T - FRFTEYIZE - BfFE MEE
properties, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 15 to the SR BEHNGE P EIREM TS o
consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES FEWB QT

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017 are AABFEMBAGIR -_ZE—+F+=-A
set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements. =+ —BZFBENNRE VT ISIRE M40 o

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE ESEREEZREEY
CONTRACTS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were: FARBEEAREAHILE2EEZNT ¢
Executive Directors: ITES:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REIE S A (FE)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) SRR ST A (B FEARACIE)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping FRELF S A

Mr. Lam Ka Po MRERLE

Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RRRIE

Mr. Liu Min gL

Mr. Zhou Pei Feng [ESFIE S E

Non-executive Director: FHITES :

Mr. Lo Ka Leong HRIuAEE

Independent non-executive Directors: BYFHITES :

Mr. Leung Tai Chiu PEEFBE &

Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen P

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu SRE KL

Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2IRE L

In accordance with Article 130 of the Company’s Articles of Association, RIEART 2 AEABEIRMAIZE1301E « #iT
Mr. Zhou Pei Feng, being executive Director, Mr. Lo Ka Leong, being non- EEEBEBELE  FRTEFERSEEAR
executive Director and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, BIYFFRTEEEHRAERREREEH/R
being independent non-executive Directors, will retire from directorship by ARAREERRABFAE LHEREES I
rotation and will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual HRESERETES -

general meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section headed BB ERFBHINEI0EIBAIES

“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 10 to 13. RERERAEZER]|—E -

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general BEANARERRAFRGERET L ES
meeting of the Company has a service contract which is not terminable by BEEAEETBEMNIAIR —FRNBEAKE
the Group within one year without a payment of compensation (other than CEEEBERINMRIEZ RBEL -

statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests of the Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company) and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long position
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company (“Shares”)

Name of Director Capacity

EEpR EEME

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/interest of spouse
SR EEE S EnlEAATEER
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner
RRFHRE BEnEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
SRE8 S A BEnEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SRET A BEnEAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MERERE BEnEAA

Mr. Zhang Lu Fu Beneficial owner
REKRGE BEREAA
Note:

1 75,000 shares were held by his spouse.

BEHEERERARAA
T FFR

ESzROER

R-ZB—tF+-A=+—0 BFEBEAR
AMERBLE)RFEEZHEAREAARRE
HEER(EERESFRBERN([ESRHBE
1611 1) EBXVER) Z B ~ AERARR D SES+ -
BERDAIRERS R EEHIEI521MFFE 2 &
AR R RIE LT RITAZEESE
IBHXHNEZESTRIE ME AR T MBS
ZHERIAT

(@ ALAEEREMEICBITZERER(RKR
%)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
share capital
Number of of the Company
issued shares PN
held BRITRAE
e RITROEE ZHHAE D
6,712,000 0.2179%
2,000 0.0001%
897,000 0.0291%
1,000,000 0.0325%
1,803,000 0.0585%
10,000 0.0003%

B aE

1 75,0000 AL EH & -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)
(b) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each of Kingboard
Laminates Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director Capacity

ESHR REmtE

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner
REIESLE BEmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner
REISE ST 4 BEmBEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
KRBT A BEmBEAA
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MREFLLE BEmBEAA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates Limited is
held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no rights to receive notice
of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of Kingboard Laminates
Limited and have practically no rights to dividends or to participate in any
distribution on winding up.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

EECRDER

REW®

(b) FRFREHEFZHELFRBERER
FRLAFBREAEIETEREREL
&)

Number of non-voting
deferred shares held
FEEREREERAEE
(Note)

(PiEE)

1,058,000

529,000

952,200

581,900

=

AEERESHEREEERERAR.L
BREBELTRD - ZERERH L&
M AT B ER B IR AR A BHER I
RREBEXHERRAGENE LR
RZHER - T2 B WERER B HAVE R E
ERERDIRZ BRET -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of Kingboard Chemical
Holdings Limited (“KCHL”), the ultimate holding company of

the Company

| | ww

RERERERAERAT
TR

EECRDER

REW®

() FLAABRKERLTAEBLIKEER
AR (MBI ) EREE0I0ETZ
L

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
Number of share capital
issued ordinary of KCHL
shares held HEE{ET
Name of Director Capacity e 21T EBTRA
EEpR RS ZERROHE ZEBHNBEDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa' Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 2,934,320 0.2751
SR EUEE S A EnEAATEER
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping? Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 4,656,383 0.4366
o BT 5 R 2 EnEAATEER
Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner 2,991,360 0.2805
MRERE BEnEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung Beneficial owner 2,318,122 0.2174
SRE8 S A BEnEAA
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho Beneficial owner 384,000 0.0360
RRFHRE BEnEAA
Mr. Liu Min3 Beneficial owner/Interest of spouse 540,300 0.0507
e[ e EnlEAATEER
Notes: Mz -

1. 74,400 KCHL'’s shares were held by his spouse. 1 74,4008 2B TRt R ELEL B A -

2 36,000 KCHL's shares were held by his spouse. 2 36,0006 L TR ) A BB A -

207,800 BB\t TR 5 B E R B
ﬁ °

3 207,800 KCHL's shares were held by his spouse. s
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(d) Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in the share capital of Elec
& Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC”), a fellow
subsidiary of the Company

Name of Director Capacity
EEpE EEME

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa Beneficial owner
SREIEE S BEREAA

Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping Beneficial owner
SREIT S BEREAA

Mr. Lam Ka Po Beneficial owner
MRERE BEREAA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors (including the Managing
Director of the Company) nor their respective associate, had any interests or
short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as at 31 December 2017.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

EECRDER

REW®

(d) FLAFAERRAMELARANZEEEER
AF(TEEIC]) REFHEER ([EEIC
B3 1)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital
issued EEIC of EEIC
Shares held {5EEIC
e 8T BBRITRAE
EEICR 7 8B ZEBHNBEDL
706,200 0.3778
520,000 0.2782
486,600 0.2603

B bR EEIN KRBt F+ - A=+—
B BEER(BRARFAZESELIE) IR
EXBZBEATRARRRE AT REEE
(E&REBER LB RGIBEXVER) 2 EREND -
RERMNSESFREE TAREIER -

BEROIES2ZH

Br EXRFTEIN  AnE] - EERARISEE
fa] B B8 /2 B) ok 1B 2 BT /B8 % ) 0 4 IR AT s e 68
B2ETTEALY  BRESAEBALRR
AISEME MR A B 2 BRI KE R M -
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company (including the
exercise price, exercisable period and vesting period) are set out in Note 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the share options during the year:

On 11 January 2017, 6 April 2017 and 10 May 2017, 60,000,000, 600,000
and 20,400,000 share options were exercised at HK$6.54 per option
respectively. The closing price per share on the date immediately preceding
business day which the options were exercised was HK$8.01, HK$10.40 and
HK$9.56 respectively.

Outstanding
as at 1.1.2017

BEHEERERARAA
T FFR

BrBRE

ARRZBEBRETSZFB(RETRE
TR HA N SR8 H) SN AR & A TS R M RE30

TREBEELBERENFAZES

R-_E—+F—A+—H8 ZFT—tFWA
NAERZZE—+tFHA+H 60,000,000
600,000 220,400,00017 {8 ¢ B A% # LA =% 6.54
BT RIEITH - RERELEREREITEY
AI—EE %A SREMESFIA8.01ETT -
10.40% 70 X 9.56/8 T °

Outstanding
as at 31.12.2017

R-ZE—tF Exercised R=-Z—tF
=Ji=[E during the year +T=H=+—H
i RATHE RERTTHE i RATHE

Category 1: Directors F1E - E=R
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa REELE 12,500,000 (12,500,000) -
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung REBAEE 11,500,000 (11,500,000) -
Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping REFEE 10,000,000 (10,000,000) -
Mr. Lam Ka Po MERESLE 10,000,000 (10,000,000) -
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho RRFEE 10,000,000 (10,000,000) -
54,000,000 (54,000,000) -
Category 2: Employees F2¥ BB 27,000,000 (27,000,000) -
Total all categories FrEfERIG T 81,000,000 (81,000,000) -

TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions” in this
report and in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which
the Company, its subsidiaries, its substantial shareholder or any subsidiaries
of its substantial shareholder was a party subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year under review.

EXXREG » ZHHEN

ARTF - HERAR - BRHBLRRMER
BIBLERT SRR F E R G S F R R
AREMMEFTERAFAEFEFEAE R 2ER

B# e

BAREERS | —BREAMBRARME
BOFTIEE I - RFERLEEFE AN E
B ARE - EMBAR - TERRLEEE
PR 2 AR A R R L AN R B TS T
EBEAZIRS  RFRAEH -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2017, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of certain Directors (including the
Managing Director of the Company), the following shareholders had notified
the Company of their relevant interests in the issued share capital of the

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

FERR

R-E—+tF+_A=1+—8 " BEAQFE
BHERIEROIEIBCIHREFEC X ERRERL
MeETCsE - B ENFEBESE TES(BREARR]
ZERRCIR) 2SN THIRREME AR
A ERA AR B BITIRA Z FaR RS

Company.

Long position

Name of shareholder

IR EME

Hallgain Management Limited

(“Hallgain”)
KCHL
BEET
(©
Jamplan (BVI) Limited
(*Jamplan”)
(d)

Capital Research and Management
Company

L The letter “L” denotes a long position.

Nature of interest

REmtE

Interest of controlled
corporations

SRR

Beneficial owner

BEREAA

Interest of controlled
corporations

RS

Beneficial owner

Xt =N

Interest of controlled
corporation

RS

Investment manager
REKIE

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Number of share capital
issued shares of the Company
held HARDF]

e R8T ERITREZ
RBEE BRBE DT
2,135,892,500 (L) 69.32%
71,418,500 (L) 2.31%
2,064,474,000 (L) 67.01%
1,790,000,000 (L) 58.10%
274,474,000 (L) 8.91%
177,205,851 (L) 5.75%

L) [LIFRERE -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long position (continued)

Notes:

@)

At 31 December 2017, (i) no shareholder of Hallgain was entitled to exercise, or
control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more of the voting power
at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its Directors are not accustomed
to act in accordance with any shareholder’s direction; and (ii) Messrs. Cheung
Kwok Wa, Cheung Kwok Ping and Lam Ka Po, all of whom are Directors, are also
Directors of Hallgain.

The interests are held by KCHL directly and indirectly. KCHL is owned as to
approximately 37.85% of the entire issued capital of KCHL by Hallgain as at 31
December 2017.

The interests are held by Jamplan directly and indirectly. Jamplan is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KCHL. Mr. Lam Ka Po, being a Director, is also a Director of Jamplan.

The interests are indirectly held by Jamplan through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Kingboard Investments Limited (“KIL”). Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wa and Cheung
Kwok Ping, being Directors, are also directors of KIL.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has adopted the principals of
good corporate governance and complied with the code provisions in the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (the
“Code”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2017, save for the deviation
that the non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors are
not appointed for specific terms pursuant to paragraph A.4.1 of the Code. For
further information on the Group’s corporate governance practices during the
year, please refer to the Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

O AR R R A
TR

=

R-Z—tF+=-A=+—8 () HEHallgain
f& R A R Hallgainfi B 171 sk B # sk 8%
FEHITE =5 — A B2 RAME - fiHallgaink
HEEWMEERBEEARRIERTE  K(i)E
EREESE RETEEMMREEENA
Hallgain > EF -

(o) EECIEEREEREZSEHE - R —+
F+=-H=+—A8  HallgainEBEELIT 2
B BITIRANA)37.85% ©

(© JamplanE# K EERFEZ SR - Jamplang
BECIZ2EREHBEAR - EEMREELE
N AJamplanZ £ -

(d) JamplanZBBEZEHEWBAREERESR

AR(GEERE DHER AR S #E - EFERE
FRERKEFPEENBBERECES

TEER

EXZRR BFEATEEREIFATES
I FEARIE E TR AT SR 1 4P (B IBST
AD(T=FRID BA 4GB EEREEZ
REHE R 2N ARRBE—T—LF+_H
=t REFEAESRBMRFEEERRIR
—BETTRZER TG - BRAAEESF
AWEEERTRNEZFHE  F2HAFER
N2 BEERRE °
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the Group’s largest customer was KCHL Group (the
“KCHL Group”), being subsidiaries of KCHL other than the Company or its
subsidiaries, and the percentage of sales attributable to the KCHL Group was
10%. The Group’s second largest customer was Hallgain and its subsidiaries
(the “Hallgain Group”), and the percentage of sales attributable to the Hallgain
Group was 4%. The percentage of sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers combined was less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue.
During the year, the percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s
largest supplier and the five largest suppliers combined were 8% and 21%,
respectively. The percentage of purchase attributable to KCHL, one of the
Group’s five largest supplier was 5%.

At 31 December 2017, KCHL, a shareholder holding more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital and Hallgain, a controlling shareholder of KCHL,
had beneficial interests in one of the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates
or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers or
suppliers noted above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In 2017, the Group had the following non-exempt continuing connected
transactions (which are also related party transactions) within the meaning of
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

(@) KLHL/Hallgain SFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a supply
framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain SFA”) pursuant to which
the Group agreed to supply copper and laminates to the Hallgain
Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the Supply
Framework Agreement, the amount of copper and laminates to be
supplied is not fixed but is to be determined and agreed between the
parties from time to time. The actual quantity, specification and price
(with reference to the prevailing market price) of the products under
the Supply Framework Agreement will be subject to the individual
orders placed by the Hallgain Group with the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KCHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

(b)

KLHL/Hallgain SFA (continued)

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain SFA for the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
Hallgain SFA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.

KLHL/Hallgain PFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and Hallgain entered into a
purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/Hallgain PFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to purchase materials for production of
laminates such as drill bits and machineries from the Hallgain Group
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA, the amount to be purchased is not fixed but is to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the prevailing
market price) of the products under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by the Group with the Hallgain
Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that
Hallgain, through its interests in KCHL, is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, and hence a connected person of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/Hallgain PFA for the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
Hallgain PFA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.

O AR R R A
—EFLEER

‘P

R 5 =)

#ZHEEMR Hallgainfit FEAELE 175
= ()

BIEEER, Hallgaintt BIE2L
TR SBE_ZE—+F+-A :‘1'—
ALFErFEFREERERZEHN
T - @EREERHallgainft EEL
BEEBEERARTAYA =S
F+—AZt+—BZERPHEE -

#EEEMR HallgainiB EELL
uiﬁ
RZZ—R"F+A=Z+"B  KAQAE)H
Hallgaing] 7 B EELE s ([ BB E
1R, Hallgainl§ EHEL2E Hz 1) » itk
FrEERENR_ZE—+tF—-—HA—RBZEZ=
Z—NF+=A=+—HRHallgainE
EE BB RS S A EBIREAREM
B RIBZBEER,Hallgainig B1E
BetiE  BEECZHEWIIEET M2
HEA N TRETRRE - BBEE
1R, HallgainB BIEZR B ZHE T 2 EMm
ERHE  RERER(BEHIME)
1R F AR E B A HallgainE B {fEH 2 &
RIFTEME -

A Hallgain@E @ E R EEE T 2w

BARNEZEBRE - BRE ETRE

ARNT 2 BEAL - #IRE ETRE

F14AE - BEREER, Hallgainfd B1E
B HRBE T IR DERARR ZIHER
BRG o

BIEEER, HallgainfE EIE2L
TZ2RGBEZT—EF+=A= ‘1'—
ALFEZFELREREBERZBHN
T - #H FW/HaIIgamﬁﬁ,\ﬂ: S
WHZHEBERARRBHA-T—
F+—AZ+—AZBERFEE -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

()

KLHL/KCHL MPA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KCHL entered into a
materials purchase framework agreement (the “KLHL/KCHL MPA”)
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase chemicals including
methanol, formalin, phenol, acetone, phenol resin and caustic
soda “Chemicals” from the KCHL Group from 1 January 2017 to
31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/KCHL MPA, the amount of
chemicals to be purchased by the Group are not fixed but are to be
determined and agreed between the parties from time to time. The
actual quantity specification and the price (with reference to prevailing
market price) of the chemical under the KLHL/KCHL MPA will be
subject to the individual orders placed by Group with the KCHL
Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KCHL MPA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KCHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and KCHL and
members of the KCHL Group are accordingly connected persons of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of the transactions
contemplated under the KLHL/KCHL MAP for the year ended 31
December 2017 are set out in the table below. Details of the KLHL/
KCHL MPA were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 21
November 2016.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(d)

KLHL/KCHL SSFA

On 26 October 2016, the Company and KCHL entered into a supply
and service framework agreement (the “KLHL/KCHL SSFA”) pursuant
to which the Group agreed to supply laminate and related upstream
materials and to provide drilling services to the KCHL Group from 1
January 2017 to 31 December 2019. Under the KLHL/KCHL SSFA,
the amount of laminates and related upstream materials to be sold
and the drilling services to be provided by the Group are not fixed but
are to be determined and agreed between the parties from time to
time. The actual quantity, specification and price (with reference to the
prevailing market price) of laminates and related upstream materials
and the drilling services to be provided under the KLHL/KCHL SSFA
will be subject to the individual orders placed by the KCHL Group with
the Group.

The transactions contemplated under the KLHL/KCHL SSFA
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules on the basis that KCHL
is the ultimate holding company of the Company and KCHL and
members of the KCHL Group are accordingly connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The annual cap and the
actual transaction amount of the transactions contemplated under the
KLHL/KCHL SSFA for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out
in the table below. Details of the KLHL/KCHL SSFA were disclosed in
the circular of the Company dated 21 November 2016.

The independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
above continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been entered into in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, on normal commercial terms and
in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the
Company and shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing
the auditor’s findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions for the year ended 31 December 2017 disclosed by the Group
on pages 28 to 32 of the annual report in accordance with Listing Rule
14A.38. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to
the Stock Exchange. The auditor has confirmed that nothing has come to its
attention that causes it to believe that the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017:

(@) have not been approved by the Board;

(b) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

() were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(d) have exceeded the cap.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The annual caps and actual transaction amounts of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set

out in the table below.

The Group sold laminates and related upstream
materials and provide drilling services to the
KCHL Group under the Supply and Service
Framework Agreement

The Group purchased chemicals from
the KCHL Group under the Materials
Purchase Agreement

The Group sold laminates and copper to
the Hallgain Group under the Supply
Framework Agreement

The Group purchased drill bits and machineries
from the Hallgain Group under the Purchase
Framework Agreement
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Fifkes

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of transactions during the year ended 31 December 2017.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee having regard to the relevant Director’s experience, responsibility
and the time devoted to the business of the Group.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the Scheme are set out in Note
30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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1,835,757 1,900,000
603,701 800,000
659,021 700,000
270,285 350,000
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EMOLUM ENT POLICY (continued)

The remunerations paid to the senior management (excluding the directors)
during the year ended 31 December 2017 were within the following bands:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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:

Number of senior

management

BAREERE AR

Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7c£2,000,0007 7T -
HK$2,000,001 or above 2,000,001 LA _
Total: FES 2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The 2007 share option scheme of the Company (the “2007 Option Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders
of KCHL on 18 May 2007 and 25 June 2007 respectively. The 2007 Share
Option Scheme took effect after obtaining the approval from the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange on 6 July 2007. A total of 81,000,000
share options granted under the 2007 Share Option Scheme were exercised
during the year under review and there was no outstanding share option
under the 2007 Option Scheme as at the date of the report.

The new share option scheme of the Company (the “2017 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders
of Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (‘KCHL”) on 29 May 2017 and the
2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon receiving approval from the Listing
Committee of the Stock Exchange on 2 November 2017. The 2007 Share
Option Scheme has expired at its end of the term of the scheme on 5 July
2017 prior to the 2017 KLHL Scheme becoming effective. The purpose of
the Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to the eligible participants of
the Scheme for their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the
interests of the Group. As at 31 December 2017, no share options in the
shares of the Company were outstanding.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association although there are no restrictions against such rights under
company laws in the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year
ended 31 December 2017.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

According to the articles of association of the Company, every Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

Appropriate insurance covering for the Directors’ and senior management’s

liabilities arising out of activities of the Group has been arranged by the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during
the year under review.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of
the Company will be proposed for approval by shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wa
CHAIRMAN

23 March 2018
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The board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company recognises the
importance of corporate governance practice of a listed company. It is in
the interest of the stakeholders and shareholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

The Company has adopted the principals of good corporate governance
and complied with the code provisions as set out in the Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2017, save for the deviation from paragraph
A.4.1 of the Code since the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term. Notwithstanding the
aforesaid deviation, all the Directors (including the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company considers that
steps have been taken with a view to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are in line with the principles of the Code.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”).
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each Director has confirmed
that he has complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the code of conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions adopted
by the Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2017.

A. DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group
and is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the management
of the business and the affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted
internal guidelines which set forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the Board approves
the Group’s strategic plan, annual budget, key operational initiatives,
major investments and funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s
financial performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s business
and ensures implementation of appropriate systems to manage these
risks. Daily business operations and administrative functions of the
Group are delegated to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by the Company
Secretary as delegated by the Chairman of the Board and distributed
to the Board members within reasonable time before the meetings.
Relevant meeting papers are also sent to Directors well before the
meetings, informing them of the background and giving explanations
on matters to be brought before the Board. All Directors are given the
opportunity to include matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To
ensure the Directors make decisions objectively and in the interests of
the Company, the Company’s articles of association provide that any
Director shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in which he/she
or his/her associates is/are materially interested nor be counted in
the quorum of the meeting. Drafts and final versions of the minutes
of Board meetings are sent to all Directors for their comment and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the board meeting
and are kept by the Company Secretary.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A

The Board (continued)
During the year under review, the Board had held 4 meetings and the
Directors’ attendance at the Board meetings and Board committees’
meetings were as follows:

EE=

BEEgn)

REEFERN  EEQRTTHAE
% BENEEEQUREEEEE
SR ERsT

18 18

Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee

Board

Meeting

£sg

=

Number of Meeting e G 4

Executive Directors HITEZE

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) REE(EE) 4

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director) 3813 (& 48457 ) 4

Cheung Kwok Ping REIF 4

Lam Ka Po HRE 4

Cheung Ka Ho RRR 4

Liu Min 28y 4

Zhou Pei Feng [RE I 4
Non-executive Director HHITEE

Lo Ka Leong #R= 4

Independent non-executive Directors BUHRTEE

Leung Tai Chiu R 4
Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 9104 4
Zhang Lu Fu KEX 4
Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2ImE 4

The Directors have observed the importance of directing and
supervising the Company’s affair at a more regular interval. After
consulting all Directors, Board meetings have been preliminarily
scheduled to be held at quarterly interval and not less than 4 times in
the coming year.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in D.3.1
of the Code.

During the year under review, the Board met once to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model
Code and the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Meeting Meeting Meeting
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A %%(ﬁ:

Division and responsibilities

The Board is headed by the Chairman whose role differs from that of
the Managing Director of the Company. The roles of the Chairman
and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the following:

° scheduling meetings that enable the Board to perform
its duties and responsibilities and to ensure all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner without interfering the Company’s operations;

° preparing meeting agendas after consultations with the
Managing Director;

° exercising control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the
flow of information between management and the Board and
to ensure decisions are made on a fully informed basis by the
Directors; and

. assisting in ensuring compliance with the Listing Rules and
the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the overall strategic
planning and day-to-day management of the Group.

The Board currently comprises 12 members, four of whom are
independent non-executive Directors who are expressly identified in
all corporate communications that disclose the names of Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board as of the report date is as follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

Lam Ka Po

Cheung Ka Ho

Liu Min

Zhou Pei Feng

Non-executive Director
Lo Ka Leong
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A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Division and responsibilities (continued)
Independent non-executive Directors
Leung Tai Chiu

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen

Zhang Lu Fu

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung and Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping are brothers and are uncles of Mr. Cheung Ka Ho.

Currently, the non-executive Director and the independent non-
executive Directors were not appointed for specific terms but are
subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election. The
Board considers that although such arrangement deviates from
paragraph A.4.1 of the Code, sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence as
required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board comprises Directors who collectively provide core
competencies, sales and marketing experience and technical
knowledge in laminates and its upstream materials, administration
and management experience in the PRC factories, financial
and accounting skill, as well as in-house advice to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size of twelve
Directors with a balance of skills and experience is appropriate for
effective decision making, taking into account the nature and scope
of the operations of the Company.
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A.

DIR ECTO RS (continued)

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s articles of association set out a formal, considered
and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors to
the Board. Any Director appointed by the Board either to fill a casual
vacancy or as addition to the Board shall retire and be eligible for re-
appointment at the next following general meeting after appointment.
At every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election by shareholders. The Directors appointed by the Board who
are subject to retirement and re-election as mentioned above shall
be taken into account in calculating the total number of Directors for
the time being but shall not be taken into account in calculating the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation. All Directors eligible
for re-election shall have their biographical details made available
to the shareholders to enable them to make an informed decision
on their re-election. Any appointment, resignation, removal or re-
designation of Director shall be timely disclosed to the shareholders
by announcement and shall include in such announcement, the
reasons given by the Director for his resignation.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each Director to keep abreast of
his responsibilities as a Director of the Company and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company. Every Director
is required to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs of
the Board and the material matters of the Company and to serve
the Board with such degree of care and due diligence given his own
expertise, qualification and professionalism.

Every newly appointed Director shall receive a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. All
Directors shall be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the operations and the business of the Company
and that they are fully aware of their responsibilities under the
applicable laws and regulations. The Board has a procedure for
Directors, either individually or as a group, in the furtherance of their
duties, to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at
the Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the Directors to
make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance coverage
for Directors’ and officers’ liability has been arranged against for any
possibility of legal action to be taken against the Directors and the
management.

Pursuant to A.6.5 of the Code, Directors should participate in
appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

A briefing session was organised for the Directors for the year
under review to update the Directors on the latest Listing Rules and
statutory disclosure obligation for listed companies to disclose inside
information under Part XIVA of the SFO.

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the
following trainings:

Name of Directors

Executive Directors: HITES :
Cheung Kwok Wa (Chairman) SRENEE(E/E)

Cheung Kwok Keung (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwok Ping

RE5R (B FELIE)
REIF

Lam Ka Po MRE
Cheung Ka Ho REF

Liu Min 218

Zhou Pei Feng A&
Non-executive Director: FETES
Lo Ka Leong BER
Independent non-executive Directors: B EHITES :
Leung Tai Chiu RESHR

Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen 7P
Zhang Lu Fu SRE KR

Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer 2IRE

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with A.6.5 of the
Code on Directors’ training.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation to furnish the
Board with complete, adequate and appropriate information in
such form and such quality in a timely manner so as to enable them
to make an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors. All the Directors are given separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
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DI RECTO RS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the Directors are given separate and independent access to
the Company Secretary, whose role includes ensuring that Board
procedures are observed and followed, and that applicable rules and
regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is responsible for
drafting minutes and keeping minutes records which can be accessed
by any Director for inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) which comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen (Chairman), Mr. Leung
Tai Chiu, Mr. Zhang Lu Fu and Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer, to
formulate policies and procedures for determining the remuneration
of Directors and senior management and other remuneration related
matters. The Remuneration Committee is set up with written terms of
reference which set out clearly its duties and authorities delegated by
the Board, including the following duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for determining
the remuneration of the Company’s Board and senior
management. The objective of such policy should ensure
that members of the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage enhanced
performance and are, in a fair and reasonable manner,
rewarded for their individual contributions to the success of
the Company;

o recommend to the Board specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances, bonuses, benefits
in kind, incentive payments, and share options, if any, for
each executive Director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is designated to
consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked pay schemes
operated by the Company, taking into account remuneration
and employment conditions within the industry and in
comparable companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
taking into account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continueq)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

When recommending the remuneration package for each individual
Director, the Remuneration Committee will consider his qualification
and experience, specific duties and responsibilities assigned to him
by the Board and the prevailing market packages available for similar
position. The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review are set out on pages 113 to 116 in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements. Review and comparison in terms
of Directors’ emoluments package and net profits of the Group are
made from time to time with comparable listed industrial companies
with similar capitalisation to the Group. Considering all such factors,
the Remuneration Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation with the
Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
convened two meetings to consider the performance, and the
remuneration policy and packages for all Directors and senior
management.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
Company’s account which gives a true and fair view of the financial
position of the Company. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare unaudited half-yearly account and
audited yearly account. Senior management is required to present
and explain the financial reporting and matters that materially affect or
may have material impact on the financial performance and operations
of the Company to the Audit Committee and the Board and respond
to the queries and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and
the Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 52 to 57 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board

The Board acknowledges its accountability to the risk management
and internal control system and its responsibility to review the
effectiveness of the system. The Board also clarifies that the system
is purported to manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to
fulfil business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Management is responsible for setting an appropriate tone from
the top, performing risk assessments, and owning the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control. Essential to this
risk management and internal control systems are well defined policies
and procedures that are properly documented and communicated to
employees.

The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the key elements
of which are as follows:

. formal policies and procedures are in place, including the
documentation of key processes, procedures and rules
relating to the delegation of authorities. These allow the
monitoring of controls and restrict the unauthorised use of the
Group’s assets;

o experienced and suitably qualified staff take responsibility for
important business functions. Annual appraisal procedures
have been established to maintain standards of performance;

. monthly business and financial reports are prepared, providing
relevant, timely, reliable and up-to-date financial and other
information; budget variances are investigated as appropriate;
and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly to the Audit
Committee, is in place to determine whether the above
procedures are properly carried out.

The Group has established an internal audit department to review
the financial condition, operational condition, risk management,
compliance control and internal control of the Group. For 2017, the
Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of the above
internal control system of the Group including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management and will conduct
such review at least once a year, so as to ensure the shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets are properly safeguarded.
The Board is satisfied that, based on the information supplied,
coupled with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk management
processes are satisfactory for the nature and size of the Group’s
operations and business.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Risk Management, Internal Control and Responsibility

of the Board (continued)

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has established
an internal audit team that reports directly to the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team will independently audit various functions,
operations and systems existed in the Company according to their
weight of significance to the Company as well as the priority list
recommended by the Audit Committee. The internal audit team will
prepare an internal audit report highlighting the deficiencies and
weaknesses in existing audit functions, operations and systems for
discussion by the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on
these findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with specific written
terms of reference setting out duties, responsibilities and authorities
delegated to them by the Board. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the followings:

o review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

° review with the external auditor, their evaluation of the system
of internal accounting controls;

o review the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

° review the statement of financial position and statement of
profit or loss of the Company and the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

o nominate persons as auditor;

° review with the internal and external auditors their findings on
their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal controls
for the purpose of assisting the Board in developing policies
that would enhance the controls and operating systems of the
Company; and

o review connected transactions and examine the adequacy
of internal controls of the Group as part of the standard
procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee assists the Board to fulfil its oversight role
over the Group’s risk management and internal control function
by reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of our overall risk
management and internal control system at least annually.

The Group’s risk management and internal control system are
embedded within our business processes so that its functions as
an integral part of the overall operation of the Group. The system
comprises a comprehensive organisation structure with assignment
of definite accountabilities and delegation of corresponding authorities
to each post. Based on our organisation structure, a reporting system
has been developed including reporting channels from division heads
of business units to the Board.

The risk management and internal control systems and accounting
system of the Group are aimed at identifying and evaluating
the Group’s risk and formulate risk mitigation strategies, and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or disposition, transactions are executed in
accordance with management’s authorisation, and the accounting
records are reliable for preparing financial information used within the
business for publication, maintaining accountability for assets and
liabilities and ensuring the business operations are in accordance with
relevant legislation, regulations and internal guidelines.

The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear
defined lines of responsibility and authority. Each department is
accountable for its daily operations and is required to report to
executive Directors on a regular basis. Policies and procedures are
set for each department, which include establishing and maintaining
effective policies to enhance risks identifications to which the
Group are exposed and taking appropriate action to manage such
risks, establishing a structure with defined authorities and proper
segregation of duties; monitoring the strategic plan and performance;
designing an effective accounting and information system; controlling
price sensitive information; and ensuring swift actions and timely
communication with our stakeholders.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and Dissemination of
Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal policy
and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of inside
information and has communicated to all staff; the Board is aware
of its obligations to announce any inside information in accordance
with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with reference to
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In addition, only
Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s spokesperson
and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the scope and
results of the audit and its cost effectiveness and the independence
and objectivity of the Company’s auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
The Audit Committee will review the independence of the Company’s
auditor, the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function, at
least once a year. Where the auditor also supplies non-audit services
to the Company, the Audit Committee will keep the nature and extent
of such services under review, seeking to balance between the
maintenance of objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to
the Group were as follows:
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The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the non-
audit services provided by the Company’s auditor and concluded
that in its opinion such services did not affect the independence
of the auditor. The Board has appointed an accountant to be
responsible for the accounting and financial matters of the Group
and the Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial and relevant
information which enable them to discharge their audit committee
function effectively and efficiently. Besides internal assistance being
available, the Audit Committee may request for assistance and
advice from external auditors as and when they think necessary
at the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee shall meet
with external auditor without the presence of executive Directors to
discuss the Group’s financial reporting and any major and financial
matters arising during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

to investigate any matter within its written terms of reference;

to have full access to and co-operation by the management;

to have full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer
to attend its meetings; and

to have reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its
functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit Committee
are appropriately qualified to discharge their responsibilities and at
least one member has accounting and related financial management
expertise or experience. The Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director,
namely Mr. Leung Tai Chiu (Chairman), Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen,
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, Mr. Lau Ping Cheung, Kaizer and Mr. Lo Ka Leong.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had performed the
following works:

review of the scope of audit work;

review and discussion of the annual financial results and
report in respect of the year ended 31 December 2016 and
interim financial results and report for the six months ended
30 June 2017 and discussion with the management of the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group;

discussion and recommendation of the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

review of the internal control, financial reporting and risk
management systems of the Group.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had convened
three meetings.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

BERZRH

EREES (@)
HOh - BT B QR -

. EHERARESEANAET

fAIEE :

o WMEBESEEMNEERHAS
€

. 2REMNBERETMNEZEERITHA

E\ﬁfﬁ;‘.% P R

. EEAEEREREEMEEE
TR -

ExeRERrREZZEEKBARAE
BIRETRS  kEL-—BKBAGS
ARV B ERE RN IER - F
BZEBEmMNEBLFRTEER %
FHMTES  REBLE(ZE) X
AL RBREL  BIRELRLENE
KR EARK -

(et

| 18

NOEEE  BRESRETTUTT
-

. HHEZITIEHE -

. ERRANREE—E—ANFT=
RA=t—HItFEZ2FUHE
BRMERBE T —RFLH
=+ BN E Rz B S S
NRE - EEIEEN wANEEA
Rz gt RAIRER

. Al MRS S B AR AT ¢ Ko
. EHRAEEABES - KRS
KRR EIRZA o

REBERN  BREERBHAE
% -

mB>



049

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERER®RSE

D.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company’s articles of association set out matters which are
specifically reserved to the Board for its decision. Executive Directors
normally meet on an informal basis every two weeks and participate
in senior management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast of
the latest operations and performance of the Group and to monitor
and ensure the management carry out the directions and strategies
set by the Board correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are
given to the management as to the matters which should bring to the
attention and be determined by the Board on behalf of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees, namely Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee,
each chaired by different independent non-executive Director, to assist
the Board in discharging functions specific to each committee. Each
Board committee has its own written terms of reference setting out
the principles, procedures and arrangements which are substantially
the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises four members who are
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Ping Cheung,
Kaizer (Chairman), Mr. Leung Tai Chiu, Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and
Mr. Zhang Lu Fu. According to the written terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee, the major responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee include:

° regularly review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board with regard
to any adjustments that are deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-executive Director
is independent for the purpose of the Listing Rules on annual
basis;

o be responsible for identifying and nominating for the approval

of the Board, candidates to fill board vacancies as and when
they arise; and

o be responsible for re-nomination having regard to the
Director’s contribution and performance, including, if
applicable, as an independent Director.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued)

Board committees (continued)

During the year under review and up to the date of the report, the
Nomination Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, considered the Directors who should retire by
rotation pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association and Code.
The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr. Zhou Pei Feng,
being executive Directors, Mr. Lo Ka Leong, being non-executive
Director and Mr. Ip Shu Kwan, Stephen and Mr. Zhang Lu Fu, being
independent non-executive Directors, shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
All the above-named Directors were nominated by the Nomination
Committee to stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. During the meeting of the Nomination
Committee, it had considered the policy for the nomination of
Directors, and the process and criteria adopted by the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for directorship. It
had also reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board
to ensure that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the Code. The policy aims to achieve diversity on the members of the
Board. In designing the Board’s composition, a number of aspects
would be considered, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. All Directors are encouraged to attend the general
meetings to have personal communication with shareholders. In
annual general meeting, Chairman of the Board and the chairman
of each committee are required to attend and answer questions
from shareholders in respect of the matters that they are responsible
and accountable for. The external auditor is also required to be
present to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by
shareholders. The Company has also set up a public relations website
which enables the shareholders and public to post their questions,
comments and opinions in relation to the Group to the Board.

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”) provide good opportunities for shareholders
to air their views and ask Directors and management questions
regarding the Company. All shareholders of the Company receive
the annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM and other
corporate communications in a form chosen by each shareholder
of the Company. The notices are also published on the Company’s
website at www.kblaminates.com. Separate resolutions are required
at general meetings on each distinct issue. A shareholder is permitted
to appoint any number of proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for shareholders’
consideration and voting. Besides, pursuant to the Company’s
Articles of Association, shareholder(s) holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene an
extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary. The objects of the meeting must be
stated in the written requisition.

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as
follows:

Address:  23/F, Delta House
3 On Yiu Street
Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T.
Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 26910445/26915245
Email: enquiry@Kingboard.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full
name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association.

An up to date version of the Articles of Association is available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website. Shareholders
may refer to the Company’s Articles of Association for further details
of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company (www.kblaminates.com) immediately after the
relevant general meetings.
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 58 to 173, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

O AR R R A
TR

EAREFEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were AREASTEIEERFNEEHE - 2AaY

of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements AEG AU ERRNEIRABEENEE - &
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our LEFEAERMEFBREGEUBERRLLEA
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ERREITREN - T ELEIEIEH
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. BEENER -

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BREES SR

MO EFNAHERET S HETEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties held for development (“PHD”)

THEFRBYRE ([ FRBEYHE ) 19 25 FE

We identified the assessment of net realisable values of
PHD as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
amount and significant judgements involved in estimating
their net realisable value and future costs to complete the
PHD.

The Carrying Value of the Group’s PHD’s amounted to
HK$4 billion as at 31 December 2017 which are situated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

As disclosed in Notes 4 and 23 to the consolidated
financial statements, the net realisable values of the PHD
are determined by reference to the estimated future selling
prices. The future selling prices are estimated by reference
to the recent selling prices of similar properties in the same
project or relevant locations. In addition, the management
estimated the future costs to complete the PHD by
reference to the actual development costs incurred and the
completion status.
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Our procedures in relation to the assessment of net realisable values
of PHD include:

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the costs recognised in
PHD, on a sample basis, by obtaining direct confirmations
from an independent qualified surveyor in respect of the
costs incurred and the completion status;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the estimated future selling
prices of the PHD, on a sample basis, by comparing them
to recent transaction prices of similar properties in the same
project or relevant locations, based on our knowledge of the
property markets of the relevant locations; and

° Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future costs
to completion of the PHD, on a sample basis, based on
the actual development costs incurred and the completion
status of the properties of the Group with the adjustments
taking into account the current market data and the past
history of the similar projects.
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Key audit matter

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BARESER

Valuation of investment properties

REYEIGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties as
a key audit matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and complex estimates required in determining
the fair values.

The Group’s investment property portfolio comprises
commercial, residential and industrial properties located
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the United Kingdom, which
was stated at fair value of HK$1.3 billion, accounting for
approximately 5% of the Group’s total assets as at 31
December 2017 with a change in fair value of HK$29.5
million recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss for the year then ended.

As further disclosed in Notes 4 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements, in estimating the fair value of these
investment properties, the Group engaged a professional
independent valuer (the “Valuer”) to carry out the valuation.
The valuation committee of the Group provided information
to the Valuer and the Valuer established and determined
appropriate techniques and inputs to the valuation model.
The significant unobservable input of the approach is the
price per square metre of comparable properties. Changes
in the comparable properties adopted may result in a
significant increase or decrease in fair value.
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Our procedures in relation to the management’s valuation of
investment properties include:

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and objectivity of
the Valuer;
° Understanding the key assumptions applied to the valuation

based on available market data and evaluating their
reasonableness; and

° Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs and
information used by the Valuer and the valuation committee
in the valuation model, including adjustment factors for
location and other individual factors such as road frontage,
size of property and facilities, on a sample basis, in order to
assess the appropriateness, completeness and accuracy
of these inputs and comparing the comparable properties
adopted with fair market unit price.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concemn.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS |

continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s
report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

23 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEBRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BEZ=ZT—tF+=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—REF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue = 5 18,242,796 15,531,721
Cost of sales SHER A (12,906,842) (12,068,803)
Gross profit ES 5,335,954 3,462,918
Other income, gains and losses Hig A -~ s L EE 7 77,643 298,708
Distribution costs PARIzIDN (330,397) (313,422)
Administrative costs TR AR (577,329) (588,998)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HERHBERE 2 W
investments 176,046 6,053
Gain on fair value changes of investment WEMENFEZS 2 WS
properties 29,505 7,101
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B AR 2 WE 31 - 2,121,238
Finance costs BE KA 8 (68,843) (90,928)
Profit before taxation ML R A 4,642,579 4,902,670
Income tax expense PRSTB X 9 (870,328) (550,762)
Profit for the year INEE %A 10 3,772,251 4,351,908
Profit for the year attributable to: NS M G 10 58
Owners of the Company ZNNSIESESUN 3,764,540 4,346,561
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR R 7,711 5,347
3,772,251 4,351,908
Earnings per share BRER 13
- Basic — &R HK$1.2255 71  HK$1.4497 7T
- Diluted —¥E N/ATER  HK$1.4498 T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REREREMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BEZ=ZT—tF+=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tfF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FBT
Profit for the year AEFEZHF 3,772,251 4,351,908
Other comprehensive income (expense) HEibxmikes ()
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEeREF P EE B HE -
Translation reserve: P W RE 4
Exchange differences arising from translation RATEE2HREEmMEEZ
to presentation currency b 5 = RE 1,050,038 (886,870)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to ERBE W ET IR B
profit or loss: EH -
Investment revaluation reserve: BEBMEHE
Net fair value changes arising from AHEEREZATE
available-for-sale investments FEFE 52,812 (16,707)
Other comprehensive income (expense) AFFEMEEME ()
for the year (net of tax) (BBii%) 1,102,850 (903,577)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE AW EEE 4,875,101 3,448,331
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEFR2EZE(ZHE)
for the year attributable to: RERIE(R R
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEE YN 4,860,769 3,483,965
Non-controlling interests IEIE R 14,332 (35,634)
4,875,101 3,448,331
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBIRR R

At 31 December 2017 R —ZE—+F+-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBT
Non-current assets JERENEE
Investment properties "EME 14 1,344,937 1,235,755
Properties, plant and equipment W - BB NEE 15 4,830,663 4,117,744
Prepaid lease payments FEf B EFIE 16 426,457 387,967
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 17 2,506,043 2,290,068
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties, BB « ME R E# 2
plant and equipment BftETe 137,868 16,144
Other non-current assets EAbIERBEE 18 691,213 -
Deferred tax assets TREFIIRE B 19 2,882 2,480
Goodwill B 20 238 238
9,940,301 8,050,396
Current assets MENEE
Inventories PEN— 21 953,483 740,719
Trade and other receivables and 5 REMBURERR
prepayments AR FIE 22 4,775,798 3,994,993
Bills receivables BRI 22 3,150,609 2,721,444
Properties held for development FEREYHE 23 4,030,974 4,503,194
Available-for-sale investments AL ERE 17 778,986 -
Other current assets Hittmeh & E 18 - 645,931
Prepaid lease payments TEAEFE 16 10,291 8,129
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEU R 2B B8 A Rk 1A 24 439,356 471,984
Taxation recoverable Al [E IR 7,185 9,145
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 25 4,464,240 4,518,270
18,610,922 17,613,809
Current liabilities mENBE
Trade and other payables B R EMERIRR 26 2,732,847 2,681,122
Bills payables e 26 460,016 135,785
Deposits received from pre-sale of TEEMEMKET &
residential units 3,372,565 4,336,411
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries NIEEY G NGRS 24 46,276 44,907
Taxation payable FEZFIIA 461,639 359,182
Bank borrowings RITEE——FRNREZ
— amount due within one year 2IE 27 402,110 1,572,172
7,475,453 9,029,579
Net current assets mEVEEFE 11,135,469 8,584,230

Total assets less current liabilities BELERREBAEE 21,075,770 16,634,626
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RERBRRER
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Non-current liabilities ERBBE
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE 19 88,836 91,896
Bank borrowings HRITEE ——FRIIH
— amount due after one year IR 27 3,000,000 1,195,598
3,088,836 1,287,494
17,986,934 15,347,132
Capital and reserves &7 R
Share capital N 28 308,100 300,000
Reserves & 17,161,859 14,107,373
Equity attributable to owners of RAEIFEB AL #ERE
the Company 17,469,959 14,407,373
Non-controlling interests IR 516,975 939,759
Total equity ERN Gk 17,986,934 15,347,132

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 173 were approved gFenN - N\F=A-_t+=BC08ELK
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 March 2018 and are BT FE8E17TIAZIEAMIEHRE  WHT

signed on its behalf by: FEEREREE
Cheung Kwok Wa Cheung Kwok Keung
REE REIE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

BZ BZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERBRBER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BEZ=ZT—tF+=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
FARREARLRE

Property  Investment Share Non-
Share Share  Translation  revaluation revaluation options Special  Statutory Goodwill Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests

RE %
BE BAEE  EXRE G ERfEE  BRERE  RARE  ieRR BERE  REW Nt FERER
HKS000  HK$00D  HKS$'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HK$000
TFhn Thn Tin TEL FEn BT Fhx FEn T Fhn Fhn Fhn
MNotez)

Balance at 1 January 2016 RZF-~E-A-A2E8 300,000 1,097,104 831,231 7268 1829 93,105 767,689 101,549 28,365 09049268 13,167,408 985,753 14,153,161
Proft for the year FERER - - - - - - - - - 4,346,561 4,346,561 5,347 4,351,908
Exchange differences arsing fom EREZ2HERTEEL

translation to presentation currency EizE - - (845,889) - - - - - - - (845,889) (40.981) (886,870)
Net changes arising from available- HEERE EDFE

for-sale investments (Note ¢} (Hiske) - - - - (16,707) - - - - - (16,707) - (16,707)
Total comprefensive (expenses) TERRE(UE ) hEEE

income for the year - - (845,889) - (16,707) - - - - 4,346,561 3,483,965 (35634 3448331

Dividends paid to non-controling interests
Final dividend paid for the year ended
31 December 2015 (Note 12)

T ERESZ RS - - - - - - - - - - - 10360) (10,360)

- - - - - - - - - (339,000) (339,000) - (339,000
Interim divicend paid for the year ended
31 December 2016 (Note 12)
J: - - - - - - - - - (405,000) (405,000) - (405,000)
Special interim dividend paid for the year ended B
31 December 2016 (Note 12) TZA=T-BIEFEZ
HEMERE (Hit12) - - - - - - - - - (1,500,000 (1,500,000 - (1,600000
Reserve released upon disposal of HE-ENBLARRR
asubsidary - - - 1,569 - - - - - - (1,569) - - -
Transfer to reserve #azgkE - - - - - - - 53525 - (53,525 - - -
- - 1569 - - - - B S R0y P20 (1030 2254360
Balance at 31 December 2016 RZT-1F
TZR=t-B2E8 300,000 1,097,104 (13,089) 7268 (14,878 93,105 757,689 155,074 28365 11,996,735 14407373 939,759 15,347,132
Balance at 1 January 2017 RIB-tE-A-B2EH 300,000 1,097,104 (13,089) 7,268 (14,878) 93,105 757,689 155,074 28365 11,996,735 14,407,373 939,759 15,347,132
Profi for the year RERRT - - - - - - - - - 3764540 3764540 AT V7L
Exchange differences arising from REZRREUAELL
ranslation to presentafion currency EizE - - 1043417 - - - - - - - 1043417 6621 1,050,038
Net changes arising rom avalleble- HHERERDEE
for-sale investments (Note ¢) (Kze) - - - - 52,812 - - - - - 52,812 - 52812
Total comprefensive income TER2ENELE
for the year - - 1,043417 - 52,812 - - - - 3,764,540 4,860,769 14,332 4,875,101
Dividends paid to non-controling nterests ERTHERER RS - - - - - - - - - = = (3,208) (3,208)
EREE-E-AE
Final dividend peid for the year ended TZA=+-BLEEZ
31 December 2016 (Note 12) RERE(HEH12) = = = = = = - - - (569,985) (569,985) - (569,985)
EREE-E-tE
Inteim dividend paid for the year ended TZA=+-BLEEZ
31 December 2017 (Note 12) HERE () = = = = = = o = - (1004406)  (1,004,406) - (1,004406)
EREE-E-AE
Specil final dividend paid for the yearended 31~ +=A=+-HILFEZ
December 2016 (Note 12) BRIRERA (Hit12) - - - ° ° ° ° = - (9243000 (924300) - (024300
Issue of new shares from exercise of e BRER TR
share options 8,100 614,745 - - - (93,105) - - - - 529,740 - 529,740
Transfer to reserve [ - - - - ° - - 156,562 - (196,562 - - -
Acquisttion of additional interests in WENBARDE e
subsidiries (Note d) (Hitd) - = = = = = = - 10768 - 0768 (433908 (263,140)
8,100 614,745 - - - (93,105) - 156,562 170,768 (2655253)  (1,798,183) (437,116) (2,235,299
Balance at 31 December 2017 WE-tF
TZA=T-Bz&% 308,100 1,711,849 1,030,328 7,268 37,934 - 757,689 311,636 199,133 13,106,022 17,469,959 516975 17,086,034
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

Notes:

Statutory reserve comprises statutory fund, which is non-distributable and
represents capitalisation of retained profits of certain subsidiaries established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) for capital re-investment in these subsidiaries
and funds shall be used to (i) make up prior year losses or (i) expand production
operations.

Goodwill reserve represents the effect of changes in ownership in certain subsidiaries
when there is no change in control.

Net changes arising from available-for-sale investments consist of adjustments for
gain on fair value change amounting to HK$228,858,000 (2016: loss on fair value
change amounting to HK$10,654,000) and gain on disposal of HK$176,046,000
(2016: HK$6,053,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired additional interests in
non-wholly owned subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders. As a result of the
acquisition, the difference of HK$170,768,000 (2016: nil) between the consideration
paid HK$263,140,000 (2016: nil) and the amount of non-controlling interests
acquired of HK$433,908,000 (2016: nil) was directly recognised in equity in the
goodwill reserve.

O AR R R A
—EFLEER

EERBRETADIREEES - HETRH
FARLMBE (R E DRIZAMTE R B RE
MERNEBREABRE  B2ERARNUTA
B (VR A E R R ) EREEEE -

WR R AR 2 R TETHEAT
RS2 e -

AEEEREZESFEREATFEZH 2K
5 %5£208,858,000/8 T (=T — /N F : AFE
8 7 E51810,654,0007 70 ) A K H & Fris s
176,046,000 % 7t ( = F — /X : 6,053,000 7%
7T e

REBE-_ZT—+HF+_A=Z+—HBULFER"
NEBASEZERBRRIEIEZEH B LB 25
IMERS o 3% UK IS E £ M E R 8 263,140,000
BIL(ZT—NF  E) BB WEERES S
#0433,908,000/8 (=T —/NF : &) 2 %5
170,768,000/ L( =T —/<F : B)BEENA
BT HER A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE =T —tF+=-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—B—tF —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before taxation BRI 3 F) 4,642,579 4,902,670
Adjustments for: FATEE fEHFAE
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment ~ #13 ~ B RRE 2 ITE 568,220 628,006
Release of prepaid lease payments A ERERED 9,312 8,425
Interest expenses FERX 68,843 90,928
Interest income FLEMA (112,115) (47,737)
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) E ZEWERSIER 2
recognised on trade receivables B EE (=) 81,211 (2,408)
Write-down (reversal of write-down) of inventories il (#E)F & 6,259 (2,148)
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, & R - BE &
plant and equipment R E1E 38,911 31,133
Gain on fair value changes of investment WEMERNTEZS 2
properties Wz (29,505) (7,101)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments & AJ &R & 2 Wi (176,046) (6,053)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B ARz W - (2,121,238)
Dividend income from available-for-sale A HEERE 2R EWA
investments (5,620) (15,317)
Operating cash flows before movements KRt BESE TR
in working capital KEHERE 5,092,049 3,459,160
(Increase) decrease in inventories FE O RS (161,213) 584,389
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 & H i fE AR 5k &
and prepayments TERSRIEGE )RS (384,598) 58,597
Increase in bills receivables JEU =R AN (449,616) (1,512,933
Decrease in properties held for development FEERMERD 575,021 166,730
Decrease (increase) in amounts due from B E S NEIE b
fellow subsidiaries (35h0) 32,628 (279,758)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N Hoph FE T RRFIE AN 102,623 1,121,685
Increase (decrease) in bills payables FERTERIE (L) 2 303,497 (162,875)
(Decrease) increase in deposits received from TEEmEMmz T2 Ofd)
pre-sale of residential units b il (1,222,661) 2,901,102
Increase in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries JE A< [R) 25 BT B A B FIEE Hn 1,369 4,455
Cash generated from operations REXEEERE 3,889,099 6,340,552
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EEBEBNEN (14,472) (5,051)
Other Income Tax paid EAEAMATEH (715,981) (449,869)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) paid BB T g ER
(T LibiER ) (33,370) (29,719)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEEMBHESFE 3,125,276 5,855,913
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

%5" A Iﬁﬁ/)lbi%
2017 2016
—E—+tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Proceeds from disposal of &AM SR E SRR
available-for-sale investments 2,264,088 412,082
Interest received BT 98,144 38,212
Proceeds from disposal of properties, HEWE - BRE RERESHIE
plant and equipment 7,891 4,322
Dividend income received B AR B A 5,620 15,317
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—HB A RS KIEA 31 - 2,133,849
Purchase of available-for-sale investments B E Rt HERE (3,030,191) (1,933,568)
Purchase of properties, plant and equipment BB % - ME N & (820,929) (142,942)
Deposits paid for acquisition of properties,  WEEWMZE - ME N & B
plant and equipment ZE& (137,868) (16,144)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments EEEMNEERE (29,925) -

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM INVESTING REXM(FTR)FEBRETEE

ACTIVITIES (1,643,170) 511,128
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REES
New bank borrowings raised FHGIRITEE 6,039,610 165,787
Proceeds from exercise of share options T E BB A 529,740 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BBIRITEE (5,405,270) (2,293,666)
Dividends paid on ordinary shares B &R S (2,498,691) (2,244,000)
Consideration paid for acquisitions of U BT B A Tﬁﬁﬁl\ﬁi w2

additional interests in subsidiaries RE (263,140) -
Interest paid BEAFE (79,421) (95,954)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B4 FEIRAL HEzE 2 A% 8. (3,208) (10,360)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING MEEBMAREFHE

ACTIVITIES (1,680,380) (4,478,193)

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE INCASH HR&RRESZE1ER (BY)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EINFEE (198,274) 1,888,848

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNzReRRSEEER

THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 4,518,270 2,840,247
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EREEE
RATE CHANGES 144,244 (210,825)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZESRELEEER -
THE END OF THE YEAR, BRITHESBRES
REPRESENTING BANK BALANCES
AND CASH 4,464,240 4,518,270
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
E B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZE—ZE—+t&F+-A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL

The Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman lIslands and its shares are listed on the main
board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent company is Jamplan (BVI) Ltd., a
limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
in the opinion of the Directors (the “Directors”), its ultimate holding
company is Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (“KCHL”), an
exempted limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with its shares listed on the Mainboard of the Stock Exchange. The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 40.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”) while
the consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)
considered is more relevant for the users of the consolidated financial
statements.

—RE#

BEEERZERBR AT ([AAR )T
FMEeREaMX I ELA—RERE
ZBRAE  EROREBHEZ S
BRAR(THRET])EREM - AQF]
2 BB AT AJamplan (BVI) Ltd. © 5%
RAA—RNEBREZESEMKILZ
BRAF MER(EFDRE - AR
Al REIER AR AREE T EEBR
RARI(TEE{TI]) » ZRa A — KR
ERSTMRWERE ZBRAF]
ERRMOREERFTER LT o ANA R
WG T E A B Y i N E R
[ABRIER ] —EiP TR -

ARTARAZRAT - HEEHEA
Al £ B RBEAEE40 -

ARBMMEEERBARE(TAR
%) IREMBRRANET(BT))
29 ARRER(EFRRURY
FAVMBHRNEREER/ME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)

for the first time in the current year:

Amendments to Hong Kong Disclosure Initiative
Accounting Standard
(“‘HKAS”) 7

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets
for Unrealised Losses

As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 12

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) has applied these
amendments for the first time in the current year. The amendments
require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. In addition, the
amendments also require disclosures on changes in financial assets if
cash flows from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will
be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to be disclosed: (i)
changes from financing cash flows; (ii) changes arising from obtaining
or losing control of subsidiaries or other businesses; (i) the effect of
changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and (v)
other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of these
items is provided in Note 38. Consistent with the transition provisions
of the amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative
information for the prior year. Apart from the additional disclosure in
Note 38, the application of these amendments has had no impact on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 22

HK(FRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40
Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments!

Leases?

Insurance Contracts?

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments?

Classification and Measurement
of Share-Based Payment
Transactions!

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance Contracts™

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures?

As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle!

Transfers of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(continued)

Except for the new and revised HKFRSs mentioned below, the
Directors anticipate that the application of all other new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge
accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

o All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods.
Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All other financial
assets are measured at their fair values at subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes
in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

o In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The expected
credit loss model requires an entity to account for expected
credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are

recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management
policies as at 31 December 2017, the Directors anticipate the

following potential impacts on initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

Listed debt instruments classified as available-for-sale investments
carried at fair value as disclosed in Note 17: these are held within
a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the listed debt instruments
in the open market, and the contractual terms give rise to cash
flows on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding. Accordingly, the listed debt
instruments will continue to be subsequently measured at FVTOCI
upon the application of HKFRS 9, and the fair value gains or losses
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve will continue to
be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss when the listed debt

instruments are derecognised.

Listed equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments
carried at fair value as disclosed in Note 17: these securities qualified
for designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9, however,
the Group plans not to elect the option for the designation and will
measure these securities at fair value with subsequent fair value gains
or losses to be recognised in profit or loss. Upon initial application of
HKFRS 9, investments revaluation reserve of HK$8,241,000 related
to these available-for-sale investments will be transferred to retained

profits at 1 January 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Equity securities classified as available-for-sale investments carried
at cost less impairment as disclosed in Note 17: these securities
qualified for designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9
and the Group will measure these securities at fair value at the end
of subsequent reporting periods with fair value gains or losses to be
recognised as other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. Upon initial application of HKFRS9, no

material effect to financial statement is anticipated.

All other financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be
measured on the same bases as are currently measured under HKAS

39.

Impairment

In general, the Directors anticipate that the application of the expected
credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will result in the earlier provisions of
credit losses which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group’s
financial assets measured at amortised costs and other items that
subject to the impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by

the Group.

Based on the assessment by the Directors, if the expected credit
loss model was to be applied by the Group, the accumulated
amount of the impairment loss to be recognised by the Group as at
1 January 2018 would be not materially different compared with the
accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39 mainly attributable
to expected credit losses provisions on trade and other receivables,
amount due from fellow subsidiaries and listed bond securities

classified as available-for-sale financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current
revenue recognition guidance including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS
11 “Construction contracts” and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue
recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract

Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

(continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in
HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive

disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to
the identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent

considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The Directors have assessed the impact on the application of HKFRS
15 and do not anticipate the application of HKFRS 15 will have a
material impact on major sources of revenue, except for the service

income from drilling services that will be affected as follows:

Timing of revenue recognition

Service income from drilling services may meet the HKFRS 15 criteria
for recognising revenue over time since the entity’s performance
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is

created or enhanced.

Currently under HKAS 18, the Group recognizes the service income
when the services are provided. The change in accounting policy
regarding drilling services would expect to result in the recognition of
a contract asset or liability and related deferred tax assets or liabilities
as at 1 January 2018, and opening retained profits would increase.

In addition, the application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in

more disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors intend to apply the limited retrospective method with
the cumulative effect of the initial application recognised in opening

balance of equity as at 1 January 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of
lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors and
lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. Distinctions
of operating leases and finance leases are removed for lessee
accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by
lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement
of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date.
Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease
payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst
others. For the classification of cash flows, the Group currently
presents upfront prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows
in relation to leasehold lands for owned use and those classified
as investment properties while other operating lease payments are
presented as operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16,
lease payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as financing
and operating cash flows respectively by the Group.

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an asset and a
related finance lease liability for the finance lease arrangement and
prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential changes
in the classification of these assets depending on whether the Group
presents right-of-use assets separately or within the same line item at
which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carries
forward the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and
continues to require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating
lease or a finance lease. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are
required by HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable operating
lease commitments of HK$3,254,000 as disclosed in Note 35. A
preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will meet
the definition of a lease. Upon the application of HKFRS 16, the
Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability
in respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases upon the application of HKFRS 16.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$136,000 and refundable rental deposits received of
HK$17,788,000 as rights and obligations under leases to which HKAS
17 applies. Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS
16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the
underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits
may be adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be included in the carrying amount of right-
of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits received
would be considered as advance lease payments.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result in
changes in the measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above.

O AR R R A
TR

A
Iff &l
T N
Z®
==

\
/.

1IN
BHIA

g 1
E]

¥
Nid

W~

A
i
g
W
#@ I
Iff

%

S

W

165 E
WANMIESSFTHEE - R —tF+ =
A=+—8 REEZTAHHE &8
A 497 & 53,254,000 7T © #5514
- RELTHRFEEBYHREER
FIMTHHETE  AEEBIMAE
ZEMERRERAEEERBEAG
KRIETERE A BB SRS ERIFE 165 1&
HERFAREESEHHEE -

eoh - AEE B ATRAENAIRERS
#$£136,000/8 LR EWAIREHSIZ
©17,788,0008 L Jh FE B B G 7T %R
FATHROBEERN REE - BIEBEHEAY
BREEREI6HRE THNHEENKT
& BHESWEEREREBEEN
REFZ A EBIRSHNRAEN
REBHEAARAE  MEEARRER AR
SNMEERR - ENTRERSZRESNSA
BERERERAEEENREE - 2K
REMASRSNAZRK R ATEMNA
B o

PESh - 0 EIERR - EAFERE RS
EHHE 2 RPEELEEH -



0r6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based payment”, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of HKAS 17 “Leases”, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment
of assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RARMEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties measured at fair
value which use unobservable inputs to measure their fair values in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique that is calibrated so that
the results of the valuation technique is equal to the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at
the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included

within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company

and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of

the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until

the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the

Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s

and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amounts by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity in the goodwill reserve and is

attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (i) the carrying amounts of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of

equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired as
at acquisition date and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately
in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially measured
either at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Goodwil

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business (see accounting
policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each
of the Group’s cash generating units (“CGU”) (or groups of CGUs)
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purpose and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on
an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the CGU
(or group of CGU) is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit
on a pro rata basis on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGU). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of goodwiill
is included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal (or any of the CGU within group of CGUs in which the Group
monitors goodwill).

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from sales of goods other than sales of properties is
recognised when the goods are delivered and title has passed.
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e M RARMEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sale of properties in the ordinary course of business
is recognised when the respective properties have been completed
and the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties. Deposits and instalments
received from purchasers prior to meeting the above criteria for
revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under current liabilities as ‘deposits received from
pre-sale of residential units’.

Service income from drilling services is recognised when services are
provided.

Revenue from hotel accommodation is recognised upon the
provisions of the accommodation services. Revenue from food and
beverage sales and other ancillary services are recognised upon the
provision of goods and services.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established,
provided that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.

Interest income is accrued on a time apportionment basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or
losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the year in which the property is
derecognised.

Properties held for development
Properties held for development for sale in the future are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Costs relating to the development of properties, comprising prepaid
lease payments for land and development costs, are included in
properties held for development until such time when they are
completed.

The Group transfers properties held for development for sale to
investment properties when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties to earn rentals or/and for capital appreciation rather than
for sale in the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by the
commencement of an operating lease to another party. Any difference
between the fair value at the date of transfer and its previous carrying
amount of the properties is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group transfers properties held for development for sale to
properties, plant and equipment when there is a change of intention
to hold the properties for the Group’s own use rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Its previous carrying amount of the
properties becomes the deemed cost upon transfers to properties,
plant and equipment.
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e M RARMEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose (other than properties, plant and equipment under
construction as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties, plant and equipment in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to
the appropriate categories of properties, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets (other
than properties, plant and equipment under construction) less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of properties, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of properties, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Licenced properties, plant and equipment

Licenced properties, plant and equipment (included in properties,
plant and equipment) held to earn licence fee income are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Depreciation is recognised as to write off the cost of items of licenced
properties, plant and equipment less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of inventories is determined on the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale.

Licenced inventories

Licenced inventories shown as either other non-current assets or
other current assets in the consolidated statement of financial position
are stated at cost less impairment, if any.

Impairment losses on assets other than goodwill (see

the accounting policy in respect of goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RARMEE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment losses on assets other than goodwill (see

the accounting policy in respect of goodwill) (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value
in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or CGU) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases and licence fee income are
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease
and licence agreement. Other than investment properties measured
under fair value model, such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held
under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Leasing (continued)

Leasehold land for own use

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
each element have been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire
property is accounted as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire
consideration (including any lump-sum upfront payments) is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion
1o the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an operating
lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over the lease term on
a straight-line basis except for those that are classified and accounted
for as investment properties under the fair value model. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally classified as
if the leasehold land is under finance lease.

The Group transfers prepaid lease payments to properties held
for development when there is a change of intention to hold the
properties for the Group’s redevelopment rather than owner
occupation. The previous carrying amount of the prepaid lease
payments becomes the cost of properties held for development upon
the date of transfer.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sales, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits

the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’” carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of

an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before taxation’ as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not be reversed
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the
initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included
in the accounting for the business combination.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at
the time of initial recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
financial asset. The net gain or loss for available-for-sale investments
excludes any dividend income or interest income earned.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, bills receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries, and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interests
would be immaterial.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either
designated or not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

Equity and debt securities held by the Group that are classified
as available-for-sale are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period except for unquoted equity investments whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured. Changes in the carrying amount
of available-for-sale debt instruments relating to interest income
calculated using the effective interest method and dividends on
available-for-sale equity investments are recognised in profit and
loss. Dividend on available-for-sale investments equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive
the dividends is established. Other changes in the carrying amount
of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the heading of
investment revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed of
or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment loss
on financial assets below).

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity investments are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of the reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered
to be objective evidence of impairment.

O AR R R A
—EFLEER

FTESTHER®

R E 2 M EE ()
AEEFAZ R REBKES DR
RAMHE  RBREFHERE BER
FEFE  AFETEAIEAENER
ERSIRERI - BN SWABBIRE
BRI EAEZ AR EEFTAZK
HEZPHLAHRKERAREZEER
BafER o IR ERERETAZK
B S BUER LB 2 e A RE S B 10
BafER - IRhESREEREEL
Hip BN EM2EREER - Wik
BEGRBRTRGT - ERELESE
FERBIER - RN R EEEFH R R
ZRAMREABERER D EEER(F
S2HTXEREREEREBR g
B °

A ER AR E R RS LI EH
BREMERFERGEASEAE - VA
NZSZEEBRERAREEH - AR
AR IR s B AR E B E &5
BEBEAE(F2HTXERESRE
EREZEBER)

TREENREHRERE AEFER
BHFEARETR - WEREFEEE - B
RemEENSERRELZ A
BES REEGRTRARSRER
AFE  AEREERRARME -

MAHHERAREMS - ZBRREN
DFEAE R BB E R E A R
BRRENTBER -



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
094 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could
include significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments; or it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or the disappearance
of an active market for that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit period
and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a
trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be
impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses were recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will not be
reversed through profit or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent
to impairment loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of the investment
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition
of impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, bills payables,
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is a rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expenses is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are initially
measured at their fair values and are subsequently measured at the
higher of:

(i) the amount of obligation under the contract, as determined in
accordance with HKAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets”; and

(i) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the
revenue recognition policies.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of financial liabilities
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to the Directors and employees of the Group
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments
that will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of options that are expected to vest based on assessment
of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates during the vesting period, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss, such that the cumulative expense
reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share options reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in the share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to retained
profits.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying entity’s accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the Directors have made in the process
of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in consolidated financial
statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax
assets arising from investment properties that are measured using the
fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that certain of the Group’s
investment properties located in the PRC with carrying amount
of approximately HK$314,101,000 at 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$287,875,000) are held under a business model which objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
the Directors have determined the presumption that the carrying
amounts of such investment properties are recovered entirely through
sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised deferred
taxes on LAT in respect of changes in fair value of such investment
properties but has recognised deferred tax on Enterprise Income Tax
on the assumption that these investment properties will be recovered
through use.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying entity’s accounting

policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties (Notes 14 and 19)

(continued)

The investment properties located in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom with carrying amounts of HK$346,790,000 and
HK$684,046,000 at 31 December 2017 respectively (2016: located
in Hong Kong and the United Kingdom with carrying amounts of
HK$337,580,000 and HK$610,300,000 respectively) are not held
under a business model, the objective of which is to recover the
economic benefits of the investment properties entirely through use.
No deferred tax is recognised in respect of the fair value change in
such investment properties as the Group is not subject to any income
taxes on disposal of investment properties in Hong Kong and the
United Kingdom, assuming that the Group is considered as a non-

resident in the United Kingdom.

Legal claim (Note 36(b))

The Group is involved in a legal proceeding as disclosed in Note 36(b)
to the consolidated financial statements. Management has evaluated
and assessed the claims made against the Group based on legal
advice from the Company’s lawyer and is of the view that the liability
of this legal case cannot be quantified at this point because the
hearing date for Privy Council appeal has not been fixed. Accordingly,
no provision nor accrual is made in the consolidated financial

statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial

year.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Depreciation and impairment of properties, plant and
equipment (Note 15)

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for its
properties, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of properties, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will
increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are expected to
be shorter than previously estimated, or it will write-off obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Changes in
these estimations may have a material impact on the results of the
Group. The management review its properties, plant and equipment
to determine if there is any indication that the assets may have been
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts
of properties, plant and equipment will be determined based on
discounted cash flow method of each asset or a cash-generating unit.
The Directors consider that there was no indication of impairment that
requires the estimation of the recoverable amount of the properties,
plant and equipment including the licensed assets and therefore, no
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2017. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of properties,
plant and equipment was approximately HK$4,830,663,000 (2016:
HK$4,117,744,000).

Allowances for inventories (Note 21)

In determining the net realisable value of the Group’s inventories,
management estimated the net realisable value of inventories based
on the most reliable information available at the time the estimates
are made. These estimates take into consideration the fluctuations in
price, the balance on hand relative to sales prospect and the condition
of the inventories. A write down of HK$6,259,000 (2016: reversal of
write down of HK$2,148,000) on inventories has recognised during
the year ended 31 December 2017. As at 31 December 2017,
the carrying amount of inventories was HK$953,483,000 (2016:
HK$740,719,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
Estimated impairment of trade receivables (Note 22)

When there is an objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group
takes into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition, where applicable). Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected or being revised downward due to changes
in facts and circumstances, a material impairment loss/further
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying
amount of trade receivables was approximately HK$4,034,814,000
(2016: HK$3,281,141,000), net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$431,807,000 (2016: HK$353,337,000).

Estimated net realisable value on properties held for
development (Note 23)

In determining whether write down should be made to the Group’s
properties held for development, the Group takes into consideration
the current market environment and the estimated market value (i.e.
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling expenses)
less estimated costs to completion of the properties. Write down is
made if the estimated market value less estimated cost to completion
of the properties is less than the carrying amount. If the actual net
realisable value on properties held for development for sales is less
than expected as a result of change in market conditions and/or
significant variations in the budgeted development cost, material write
down may result. As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount
of properties held for development was HK$4,030,974,000 (2016:
HK$4,503,194,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for financial
reporting purposes. The Directors have a designated team to
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair
value measurements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment properties,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages third party
qualified valuers to perform the valuation of the Group’s investment
properties. At the end of each reporting period, the Directors works
closely with the qualified external valuers to establish and determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for Level 2 and Level
3 fair value measurements. The Group will first consider and adopt
Level 2 inputs where inputs can be derived observable quoted prices
in the active market. When Level 2 inputs are not available, the Group
will adopt valuation techniques that include Level 3 inputs. Where
there is a material change in the fair value of the assets, the causes of
the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes in the
price per square meter in reference with recent transactions will affect
the fair value of the investment properties of the Group. Information
about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties are disclosed in Note 14.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale
investments, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it
is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Directors will
assess the valuation of financial instruments based on quoted bid
prices of the previous trading day in the markets at the end of each
reporting period. The fair value of the Group’s bond securities listed
on the Stock Exchange, the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”) and Cayman Islands Stock Exchange (“CSX”) is
determined with reference to the pricing vendor’s estimation, who will
assess its fair value taking into account primarily the fair value quoted
by the brokers and which is adjusted for the lack of marketability of
the bond securities at the end of the reporting period. The pricing
vendor will exercise their judgements based on their experience to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to the valuation model. Where there is a material change
in the fair value of the available-for-sale investments, the causes
of the fluctuations will be reported to the Directors. Any changes
in the marketability of the listed bonds will affect the fair value of
the investments. Notes 17 and 33(c) provides detailed information
about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of the Group’s available-for-sale
investments.
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5. REVENUE

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable by the
Group from the sales of goods, provision of drilling services, sales of
properties, income from property investment and licence fee income
provided to outside customers, net of discounts, returns and sales

related taxes. Analysis of revenue for the year is as follows:

BEHEERERARAA

ST LFFR
5. EXE

EXERARERBLINEFPHER
i RREILRTS - HEME  MER
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FERE R - BT - RE R IHERRMR
TRIRH)FRE - FREEBENOIT

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RE

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHT FHT

Sales of glass epoxy laminates HERAIIBHERIAER 10,388,459 8,750,489
Sales of paper laminates THEAE IR R 2,246,462 2,029,000
Sales of upstream materials HE LRt 2,499,139 1,776,631
Sales of properties HEME 1,664,468 1,661,913
Income from property investment YIEREWA 124,915 117,127
Others Hitb 1,319,353 1,196,561
18,242,796 15,631,721

Sales of laminates include glass epoxy laminates and paper
laminates manufactured according to specifications required by
customers. Sales of upstream materials include sales of copper foil,
epoxy resin, glass fabric and bleached kraft paper. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, others mainly comprise drilling services,
which involves the drilling of holes into the laminates required by
customers, amounted to HK$154,445,000 (2016: HK$150,519,000),
sales of specialty resin amounted to HK$707,044,000 (2016:
HK$650,670,000) and licence fee income amounted to
HK$120,000,000 (2016: HK$120,000,000). Sales of properties
include sales of residential units. Income from property investment
includes rental income from leasing of investment properties, income
from hotel accommodation and income from food and beverage and

other ancillary services of the hotel operation.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the
Group that are regularly reviewed by Chief Operating Decision Maker
(“CODM?”) in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess
their performance. Specifically, the Group’s operating and reportable
segments under HKFRS 8 were organised into two main operating
divisions — (i) manufacturing and sale of laminates and (i) properties.
No other operating segments identified by the CODM have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Under HKFRS 8, segment information is based on internal
management reporting information that is regularly reviewed by the
executive directors, being the CODM of the Group. The measurement
policies the Group used for segment reporting under HKFRS 8 are the
same as those used in its HKFRS consolidated financial statements.
The CODM assess segment profit or loss using a measure of
operating profit whereby certain items are not included in arriving
at the segment results of the operating segments (gain on disposal
of available-for-sale investments, gain on disposal of a subsidiary,
unallocated corporate income and expenses and finance costs).
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eV BmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. /J-J\%BE*SI'(%)
(@ Segment revenue and results (a) oHEEBEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results BIELL RREDIEI D 2 KE
by operating and reportable segments: EEEEREEOTOT
For the year ended 31 December 2017 gz2-_FE—+tH&E+=-A=+—8
WHFE
Laminates Properties Consolidated
78 SR E AR LY oy
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET FHET
Segment revenue DEVE R 16,453,413 1,789,383 18,242,796
Segment results HELFELE 4,050,585 456,185 4,506,770

Gain on disposal of available-for- tHE R HEIRE 2

sale investments WS 176,046
Unallocated corporate income kO EE2 A FUHA 140,564
Unallocated corporate expenses &7 Bt 2 A a5 i (111,958)
Finance costs RhE KA (68,843)
Profit before taxation R T A A 4,642,579

For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE-Z—XR"Ft+=-A=+—H
WHFE
Laminates Properties Consolidated
E iR LS e
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FHT
Segment revenue 7 EfE ¥R 13,752,681 1,779,040 15,531,721
Segment results DR AE 2,421,646 271,858 2,693,504

Gain on disposal of available- — HERHHERE

for-sale investments W ek 6,053
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—EHE AR Z

st 2,121,238

Unallocated corporate income kA ez A aUA 314,910

Unallocated corporate expenses AR A& H (142,107)

Finance costs BUE KA (90,928)

Profit before taxation MR R A Vi A 4,902,670
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBERRME
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁ%lgﬁ*sl'(%)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities b) HHBEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities BIELL RREDIEI D 2 KE
by operating and reportable segments: EEERAGSTET
At 31 December 2017 R=B—tH+=A=+—H
Laminates Properties Consolidated
ERER Y3 e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET FHExT
Assets EE
Segment assets HEEE 14,293,800 6,441,699 20,735,499
Available-for-sale investments ~ AJftHERE 3,285,029
Unallocated corporate assets KA AL Z ARIEE
— Deferred tax assets —REFIBE E 2,882
— Taxation recoverable L 7,185
— Bank balances and cash —RITEHBRIA S 4,464,240
— Others —HAth 56,388
Consolidated total assets e BERE 28,551,223
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities DEBE (2,919,488) (3,643,566) (6,563,054)
Unallocated corporate liabilities KA 2 AT & &
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE (3,402,110)
— Deferred tax liabilities —EERIEAE (88,836)
— Taxation payable — FERITRIA (461,639)
— Others —HAh (48,650)

Consolidated total liabilities ReEaERE (10,564,289)




107

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
At 31 December 2016

BEHEERERARAA
T FFR

6. DEHER @

(b) WEEREEE
R-B-A"F+=A=+—-H

Laminates Properties Consolidated
E R LS ra
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FHT
Assets EE
Segment assets HEEE 12,339,440 6,408,978 18,748,418
Available-for-sale investments ~ A[{{HERE 2,290,068
Unallocated corporate assets KDt 2 ARIEE
— Deferred tax assets —EEHIBE E 2,480
— Taxation recoverable — ALY eI A 18 9,145
— Bank balances and cash —iRITERKRE S 4,618,270
— Others —HAh 95,824
Consolidated total assets e AEMAE 25,664,205
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities HEBE (2,534,508) (4,487,843) (7,022,351)
Unallocated corporate liabilities KA 2 AT & &
— Bank borrowings —RITIEE (2,767,770
- Deferred tax liabilities —EEFRIEEE (91,896)
— Taxation payable — FERIIE (359,182)
- Others —EAth (75,874)
Consolidated total liabilities irEABEEE (10,317,073)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

° all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than deferred tax assets, taxation recoverable, bank
balances and cash and other assets used jointly by
operating segments; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, taxation
payable and other liabilities for which operating
segments are jointly liable.
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eV BmRMETE
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. ﬁggﬁ*ﬂ(%)
(c)  Other information () HtbER
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE-_Z—tH+=-H=+—H
IHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or HrEN BRI D BEERTA
segment assets. L o

Unallocated
Laminates Properties amount  Consolidated
B ER L/ES APEEHE ra
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERT
Capital additions BARIER 871,791 635,349 - 1,507,140
Depreciation e 550,594 17,626 - 568,220
Release of prepaid ENREHERE
lease payments 5,392 3,920 - 9,312
Gain on fair value changes RENELNTERZEZ
of investment properties g - 29,505 - 29,505
Loss on disposal and written & REIEWE - BiE
off of properties, e it
plant and equipment 38,751 160 - 38,911
Write-down of inventories HREE 6,259 - - 6,259
Impairment loss on B S EBERT
trade receivables FEEE 81,211 - - 81,211
Interest income WA 21,048 1,190 89,877 112,115

For the year ended 31 December 2016

BE-_ZE-A<"F¥+=-A=+—H

IHEE
Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or HrEN BRI D MBEERTA
segment assets. L o

Unallocated
Laminates Properties amount  Consolidated
B ER L/ RPEEH )
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT
Capital additions BRIEAR 149,755 1,158,952 - 1,308,707
Depreciation e 612,217 15,789 - 628,006
Release of prepaid lease BNREHERE
payments 5,272 3,163 - 8,425
Gain on fair value changes REMEATEES 2
of investment properties W - 7,101 - 7,101
Loss on disposal and written & REEME « BE
off of properties, plant Rkt iR
and equipment 31,133 - - 31,133
Reversal of write-down BEMETE
of inventories 2,148 - - 2,148
Reversal of impairment loss ~ #[E1E 5 EKER
on trade receivables IERE 2,408 - - 2,408
Interest income FSUA 17,124 1,582 29,031 47,737
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6. SEGMENT |NFORMATION (continued)

(©)

Other information (continued)
The Group operates principally in the PRC (country of
domicile).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from
external customers by geographical location of the customers:

BEHEERERARAA

TR

6.

DEPEE @)

()

HtER (@)
AEETEEBHUNTE(AE
B2 PrEss) ©

BEFRELRE D 2 AEES
MEFPEXEDTMT

2017 2016

k- o —T—X
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
The PRC (country of domicile) B (RSB Z FTiEs) 17,363,935 14,697,790

Other foreign countries: EHAERK -

Other Asian countries H MR 752,989 737,914
Europe BN 63,092 40,155
America EM 62,780 55,862
18,242,796 15,531,721

Revenue from one of the Group’s customers in laminates
segment amounted to HK$1,835,757,000 (2016:
HK$1,744,263,000), which individually accounted for over
10% of the Group’s revenue for the year.

The geographical analysis of the Group’s non-current
assets, other than deferred tax assets, other non-current
assets, available-for-sale investments and deposits paid for
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment by location of
assets is presented as follows:

REASEEEBRERD BHE
F-EFMEERBLER
1,835,757,0007%8 7L ( =& — /<
4 1 1,744,263,000567T) 164
FEERFENEELERLIBI10% ©

BIEERIREE - HtIEREE
E - AHEEREUARKEY
¥ BEARBZENTERI
AEEFRBEEREEMR D
GIEFUNNE

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZT—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

The PRC (country of domicile) AR (AR EE 2 FTE) 5,419,954 4,655,325
Hong Kong BE 362,325 345,614
United Kingdom =" 684,046 610,300
Thailand EE 135,970 130,465
6,602,295 5,741,704
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HiWA ~ WEmREBE

2017 2016
k- o —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Other income, gains and losses includes: HAUA -~ W REBEE
Dividend income from available-for-sale A ERE 2 IR B U A
investments 5,620 15,317
Interest income from available-for-sale AMEHERE 2 FBUA
investments 89,536 29,031
Other interest income HiF 84 A 22,579 18,706
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, & REBEEE « BEK
plant and equipment i EsiE (38,911) (31,139)
Others Ao (1,181) (4,292)
Income from relocation compensation WBHEWA - 271,079
77,643 298,708
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HWERA
2017 2016
—EB—+tfF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FBT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEENE 73,636 95,436
Less: Amounts capitalised W ERIENERNMEESRE
in the construction in progress (4,793) (4,508)
68,843 90,928
The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed is 2.20% FfEE S EEMETHERMMFRER

per annum (2016: 2.50% per annum). 2.20%( =T —"F : FF2.50%) °
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FIEHiREX
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHxT FHBT
The amount comprises: HEeE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax RIS ZERTISHE 808,909 512,372
PRC LAT A 4 IR (E R 56,605 33,258
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBNEH 7,643 7,401
Taxation arising in other jurisdiction HAh R AR 2 T8 633 2,398
Overprovision in previous years BEFEBRERE - (2,314)
873,790 553,115
Deferred taxation IEREFL IR
Credit for the year (Note 19) REFEREE (MHFE19) (3,462) (2,353)
870,328 550,762

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards.

The provision of LAT is estimated according to the requirements
set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. LAT has
been levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, represented by the excess of sales
proceeds of properties over prescribed direct costs. Prescribed
direct costs are defined to include costs of land, development and
construction costs, as well as certain costs relating to the property
development. According to the State Administration of Taxation’s
official circulars, LAT shall be payable provisionally upon sales of
the properties, followed by final ascertainment of the gain at the
completion of the properties development.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdiction is calculated at the rate prevailing
in the relevant jurisdiction.

ZRPEAREMECEMER A0
¥MBHEDREBHED =TT
NF—A—HFRE  BARFENEA
Rl EFTISHER25% °

HE L IR ER B ERIZE AT EBA
RPN ERGEE - L HIZESER
(REBVEHERATNEEEEERRAN)
A ZHETH % 30% 2 60%E A2 £ 3 15
B - BEBERERAIE AL UK -
BRREERA - REMBEREERRK
IR - HRBERBBERZE T A
5 HEMERETHII0EER - 2
FEZERTMRT R ERMMSHS -

MBS E BB RGH hREE ERT
i FIA16.5% 2 BEKEHH o

H i AR 2 BRI B A AR
ZBAREE -
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continuedq) 9. FBMEXw
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation REE 7 HIBERESBERER TS
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: ZHERINT -
2017 2016
k- o —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T FHET
Profit before taxation M R B Vs A 4,642,579 4,902,670
Tax charge at the domestic income A H TS HE % 25%
tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%) (Note a) (ZZ—RF 1 25% )18 2
TiIE 2 ) (ff7ta) 1,160,645 1,225,668
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AAHNHERZ
for tax purpose B 4,691 22,550
Tax effect of income not taxable for BERBTIWAZ
tax purpose W E (75,788) (616,163)
PRC LAT A B+ I (E F 56,605 33,258
Tax effect of PRC LAT B IR ER 2 BIER 2 (14,151) (8,315)
Tax effect of Tax Concession (Note b) HEEZ 2 HEZZ (WD) (112,318) (22,8793)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FERRIER B HETE 5,123 11,569
Utilisation of tax losses previously EFSCRIARTER
not recognised HIEEsE (27,851) (8,198)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries BREHETSFHEIN » REMF)
operating in other jurisdiction/areas SEREE b A KB A R
other than the domestic income tax rate ZTRBEz w2 (58,668) (21,041)
Effect of tax exempted profit (Note c) ReBBUan 2 (Kiske) (67,960) (63,379)
Over provision in respect of prior years B EERERE - (2,314)
Tax expense for the year RNEE 7 TR 870,328 550,762

Notes: BT

(@) The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2016: 25%) represents the (@) EI TSR R25% (=T — N F
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of which the Group’s operations are 25% ) IR AN E B A D EEFER
substantially based. EMEBHE -

(b) Pursuant to the EIT Law, a High-New Technology Enterprise shall be (b) RIBRERERE - Bt g
entitled to a preferential tax rate of 15% for three years since it was officially HETIRIBERRIA=FMN15%H
endorsed. Certain subsidiaries in the PRC obtained official endorsement as KIGH - ATHBENERREE TR
a High-New Technology Enterprise (“Tax concession”). REFEeE((HEER] -

© Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau are () RARNINRP 2 & TFHIBARFES

exempted from profits tax. 2w MERR RN FISEL -
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mEMBERRME
10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 10. NEERF
2017 2016
k- o ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Profit for the year has been arrived REEHFE LR GEA)
at after charging (crediting): LATIEE :
Auditor’s remuneration A Gl 4,053 4,053
Cost of inventories sold EEFEZKAE 11,656,273 10,649,893
Cost of properties sold EEME KA 1,210,370 1,322,657
Depreciation of properties, Y% WEREBIITE
plant and equipment 568,220 628,006
Direct operating expenses in relation to WEMEZ BECERS
investment properties 23,358 24,612
Net exchange (gain) loss B 5, (Weam ) 18588 (19,079) 163,458
Loss on disposal and written off of properties, & RMisEW%E - BRE R EHEEIE
plant and equipment 38,911 31,133
Release of prepaid lease payments (Note 16) FE{JFA & IEE B ( B Hi3E16) 9,312 8,425
Total staff costs, including directors’ BIKRAERE BEEEHE
emoluments (Note 11) (FF=E11) 692,917 689,931
Write-down (reversal of write-down) of MR (BEEDFE » s ABESERA
inventories, included in cost of sales 6,259 (2,148)

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. %% CITHAEARRES

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS oA
(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (@ EERITHAZMSE
The emoluments paid or payable were as follows: BB e T
2017 2016
—E—+tF AN
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHT T
Fees fiakey 1,167 1,102
Other emoluments: Empi< -
Salaries and other benefits e hEMET 16,799 13,959
Contributions to retirement R FET B
benefits scheme 780 675
Performance related incentive TVERIFEBITNIE
payment (Note i) (B &ED) 74,140 67,864

92,886 83,600
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. &
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS B )

(continued)

(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (a EBERTHAZME®)
(continued)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve (2016: ENEEMN T -2 (ZF— X
twelve) Directors and the Chief Executive were as follows: F o+ -R)EENTHREH
o™

Year ended 31 December 2017
H2-S-tE+-B=t-ALEE
Non-
executive
Executive directors director  Independent non-executive directors

UiEs FUNES BUFHGES

Ip Lau

Cheung  Cheung  Cheung Zhou Lo  Leung Shu Ping

Kwok  Kwok  Kwok Lam  Cheung Liu Pei Ka Tai  Kwan, Zhang Cheung,
Wa  Keung Ping KaPo  KaHo Min Feng  Leong Chiu Stephen  LuFu  Kaizer Total
REE RER REY M3E Rx® 0 B8 BEE  BXR O RBE  ERE  REX  HRE A
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000
Tén TRz TEx TExr TEx TEr TéEn TEr TEn TEr TEn TER  TEn

Fees ne = - - - - - - - 192 480 255 240 1,167
Other emoluments: ~ E-fifi4 -
Selaresandother  HAREM
benefits & 3112 2175 2,905 2,630 1,860 1,113 1,084 1,320 - - - - 16,799
Contributions to BIER
retiement benefts  sFEIER
scheme 145 129 135 123 87 50 49 62 - - - - 780
Performance related  TERE
incentive payment  EEIZIE
(Note ) (Fiz) 20,360 15590 15590 15590 2,700 1,550 1,884 276 150 150 150 150 74,140

Total emoluments et 2617 18494 18630 18343 4647 2713 3017 1,658 342 630 405 300 92,886
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11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. 8 - THARBRES
AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS [ AT

(continued)

(@ Directors’ and Chief Executive’s emoluments (@ EERTBREAEME(H
(continued)

Year ended 31 December 2016
) FrZAZT-RLLER
Non-
executive
Executive directors director Independent non-executive directors
HiES FHTES H1ES
Ip Lau
Cheung  Cheung  Cheung ) Shu Ping
Kwok Kwok Kwok Liu ] Ka i Kwan,  Zhang  Cheung,
Wa  Keung Ping Min Stephen LuFu  Kaizer
g FET : - G 28 ¥R FERX @)

HKS'000  HK§'000  HK§'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$000  HK§'000  HKB'000  HK§'000

B TR B T TAT FAL T B T

Fees 4 - _ - - - - - - 192 480 190 240 1,102
Other emoluments: ~~ EA6#4
Sdaresandother  HAREM
benefits &l 2,566 23715 2,375 2,120 1,410 922 896 1,295 - - - - 1399
Contributions to BIER
refirement benefits  3FEIEE
scheme 128 113 119 106 70 45 43 51 - - - - 675
Performance related  TERE
ncentive payment  #E)E

(Note ) ki) 18,760 14340 14340 14340 3000 1,700 1,384 - - - - - 67864
Total emoluments Hewg 21454 16828 16834 16566 4,480 2,667 2,323 1,346 192 480 190 240 83,600
Notes: B &
0] The performance related incentive payment is determined with [0) TERBEBMRIEBINLEM
reference to the operating results, individual performance and BEFE2EEEE  BAK
comparable market statistics during both years. No other benefits RRAI R TS BB E
in kind is paid to the Directors. EoMERNESIMNEME
WiER| o
(ii) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly (ii) ElzHTESHEe EERH
for their services in connection with the management of the affair HEBEBARARRAEEN
of the Company and the Group. Non-executive director and EHRERB LA o Fat
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above ZIEMITESE KRB IFHNIT
were mainly for their services as Directors. EEWE ETERBFREAR

NRIEFMNT
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11.

DIRECTORS’,

CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b)

Chief Executive’s emoluments

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung is also the Chief Executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chief Executive.

Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Employees’ emoluments
For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, all of the
five highest paid employees are Directors.

During both years, no emoluments were paid to or receivable
by the Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

As disclosed in Note 39, the Group entered into purchase and
sale transactions with its ultimate holding company and its
fellow subsidiaries. The price is to be determined and agreed
between the parties from time to time with reference to the
prevailing market price. Mr. Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung Kwok Ping, Mr. Lam Ka Po and
Mr. Cheung Ka Ho, the executive Directors, are interested
in these transactions to the extent that they have indirect
beneficial interests in the fellow subsidiaries. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wa, Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, Mr. Cheung
Kwok Ping and Mr. Lam Ka Po have interests in the ultimate
holding company.

Save for the aforementioned transactions, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts to which the
Company or the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE

Dividends paid

2017 Interim dividend of HK32.6 cents
(2016: HK13.5 cents) per ordinary share

2017
—E—+tF

HK$°000
FEx

2IRENIE

—E—tFHRHREFR T ER
32678 M(=F—RF :

2016
—E—RF
HK$’'000
T8t

13.5% 1) 1,004,406 405,000
2016 Final dividend of HK18.5 cents ZE-RFRAREEFRERR
(2015: HK11.3 cents) per ordinary share 18.5/8II( =T —h%F
11.37%81l) 569,985 339,000
2016 Special interim dividend of HK50.0 ZENFERFEREER
cents per ordinary share T3 AR50.078 1L - 1,500,000
2016 Special final dividend of HK30.0 ZENFRHRIREARE R
cents per ordinary share L BA%30.078 1L 924,300 -
2,498,691 2,244,000
Dividends proposed Bk
Proposed 2017 Final dividend of HK52.6 R EFEEARAREER
cents (2016: of HK18.5 cents) LiBAR52.6/8II(=F—RF :
per ordinary share 18.578111) 1,620,606 566,100
Proposed 2016 Special final dividend ZENFEERIRERE
of HK30.0 cents (2017: nil) %3 A%30.078 11
per ordinary share (Z2—+1F : &) - 918,000
1,620,606 1,484,100

EECEBIRBHE-_T—tF+=
A=+ BLEERERESRER
f&52.67 1l % %8 & 1,620,606,000/%
T(ZE—RF  HEZT—RF+=
A=+ BLEERERESRER
1%18.578 (1L M 5 51 R HBRR B 3 A% X i@ %
30.0 1l - &% 5 5 £566,100,0007%8
7L }%918,000,000/7T) + HE/BFFARAR]
BE R FE IR AR A K #hfE - A 1E

=

The final dividend of HK52.6 cents per ordinary share amounted
to HK$1,620,606,000 in respect of the year ended 31 December
2017 (2016: final dividend of HK18.5 cents and special final dividend
HK30.0 cents per ordinary share amounted to HK$566,100,000
and HK$918,000,000 respectively in respect of the year ended 31
December 2016) have been proposed by the Directors and are
subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

o
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13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

13. BREF

ARBEAANBIEEREARNIZ T
BT

2017 2016
—g—tF T AF

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Profit for the year attributable to VIN/NCIEE YN ey
owners of the Company FE A

3,764,540 4,346,561

Number of shares

RAPEE
2017

—E—tf
‘000
i

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose  tEBIREAREF|Z
of calculating basic earnings per share B IREL

3,071,990 3,000,000

No diluted earnings per share for 2017 was presented as there
were no potential ordinary shares in issue for 2017. In 2016, the
computation of diluted earnings per share did not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise price
of these share options was higher than the average market price.

R -_E-—LFAWECHTELEER
o BT -EFRE 2 EBREER
Fe MR_FT—RF  BARBELER
BENTEESNTSFHE - BERR
BABBREISRTE  RTFEFE
BREERT
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14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

O AR R R A
TR

14. REWHE

HK$'000
FTAT

FAIR VALUE NE

At 1 January 2016 R-E—XF¥—A—H 1,285,285
Exchange adjustments b W% (142,726)
Transfer from properties held for development (Note) B3 (| 52 R Y2 (Mi:E) 86,095
Unrealised gain on fair value changes RERQNTEZE 2 W 7,101

At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—RNF+-_A=+—H 1,235,755
Exchange adjustments P& H #E 79,677
Unrealised gain on fair value changes REB QN EZE 2 K= 29,505
At 31 December 2017 N_E—+F+-_A=+—8 1,344,937

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2016, certain properties held for
development were reclassified to investment properties upon changing in
use as evidenced by commencement of operating leases with independent
third parties (Note 23).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December
2017 had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on
the respective dates by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited
(2016: Roma Appraisals Limited), an independent qualified valuer not
connected to the Group. Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited and
Roma Appraisals Limited are members of the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors. The valuation was determined based on direct comparison
method by reference to the market observable transactions of similar
properties and adjusted to reflect conditions and locations of subject
properties. There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in prior years.

In determining the fair value of the relevant properties, the board of
Directors has set up a valuation committee, which is headed up by
the persons in charge of financial matters of the Group to determine
the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements.

The Group engages an independent valuer to perform its valuations.
The valuation committee works closely with the independent valuer
to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the
model. The persons in charge of financial matters report the valuation
committee’s findings to the board of Directors every quarter to explain
the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets and liabilities.

i BME-E-AF+-A=T—BILF
¥ - BRMEBY S5 2 G
O M (I 3E23) - BT GEHED
S BANE - RENEENHAAR
an -

AEERENMEN_FT—LF+-A
=t —BZRFETIZEAEEL EE
27BN A B IR B I B IR
AERAB(ZT—RF : BEFERF
HARRXA) RAEBAETHEZE
EEY - IWERWFAEHBAEGRAAKR
ESBERTEERQR AT BB
CEEH - HEDRERLBEZSZEU
MEZABEMEXZFAELRHEUR
BREZEMEZRRRABERETE - NiB
EFEMBZAERMLEES

REEHRBENEZATE EFERY
HMEZEE  YHARBZHMEEER
BEARE  DEEATEFEZEER
BEEMR2H -

REBZBBEU(GEMGE- - HEERE
SEBIHEMEEZEE - HRABER
WZEEMERTR2E - BEEER
EABFRNEFEERGEERRS 2
B BAZENRABEAFERSZA
i o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (ontinued) BEME
REBREWMER-_Z—+FR_ZT
—RNE+ZA=+—"BHEAE=HA
SEEZRER R -

14,

The Group’s investment properties were classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

TRBIIRSOEDEATEOETS
R R H R BT (BT R 280 U
BATENESENTRRREHAT

The following table gives the information about how the fair values
of these investment properties are determined (in particular, the
valuation technique and inputs used), as well as the fair value

hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised B ENHBZ AFTHEEEL(E—F
(Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value =)

measurements is observable.

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
FEBRGESHBRR R
REZREM*

Fair value
hierarchy
AT
BEARR

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant

unobservable inputs Sensitivity

HERTRERZE

EARUBEZHY

Industrial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, A significant increase in
Hong Kong with price per square metre using market direct the price per square metre
comparable and taking used would result in a
into account of location significant increase in the
and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size the investment properties,
of property etc., which is and vice versa.
ranged from HK$42,389
to HK$42,862 (2016:
HK$41,129 to HK$41,979)
per square metre.
REBH TR B= BEELBEREGT IR KATMSEEATLERY BT RERBKELEA
Bt ¥NERUNENREM BEBUREMENRT

BRI A &% (WEREE
B MEXNNE)NETE
FKRER - NTEER
42,3897 7T E 42,862
B (ZZ—RF
41,1298 70 241,979/
JT) °

B ERELH K2
IR ©
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
FEERGEMBRRE
REZREM*

Fair value
hierarchy
ATE
B

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

HERITREE2H

Significant
unobservable inputs

EXRUBEZHY

Sensitivity

HREE

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, A significant increase in
Hong Kong with price per square metre using market direct the price per square metre
comparable and taking used would result in a
into account of location significant increase in the
and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size the investment properties,
of property etc., which is and vice versa.
ranged from HK$168,650
to HK$170,071 (2016:
HK$161,450 to
HK$161,460) per square
metre.
REBOERME F=R BRELBERGTERK KETSEEANLENE  BFHRERARLAE
B REBMEUAREMMER BRREMENDTFER
ARE(WHREER W BRELF R2TA-
FRNE)NGEHKRE
1% T FEF75K168,650
WBILE170,0718TL(ZF
—NE 1614508 TE
161,460/87T) °
Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, A significant increase in
Shanghai with price per square metre using market direct the price per square metre
comparable and taking used would result in a
into account of location significant increase in the
and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, the investment properties,
size of property etc., and vice versa.
which is ranged from
RMB28,000 to RMB30,000
(2016: RMB29,500 to
RMB30,500) per square
metre.
R EENERYE F=R BREEBERETHA RETSEEALENE  GFREHRAELHE
B REBLEALEMER BBREMENDFERT

REE (MEEER - Y
ERNF)NEFHKE
B NFEFTRARE
28,0007 A R ¥£30,000
T(ZE—RF
AR#29 500 E
AR#30,5007T) °

BRELT R2ZTA -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the
consolidated statement
of financial position
FEERGEMBRRE
REZRENME

Fair value
hierarchy
AVE
BB

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

HERITREEZH

Significant
unobservable inputs

EARUBEZY

Sensitivity

Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, A significant increase in
Shenzhen with price per square metre using market direct the price per square metre
comparable and taking used would result in a
into account of location significant increase in the
and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, the investment properties,
size of property etc., and vice versa.
which is ranged from
RMB15,000 to RMB16,000
(2016: RMB14,800 to
RMB14,980) per square
metre.
RRINE R FE=R BEELEERGTHR HAMSEEALERY STHRERKELA
B3 ERERLUBUALEM HEBIREMENRT
BERRER(WkREE EFEXELA - R
B MERNE)NEGT TR -
FARER  NFEFH
KARME15,0007TE A
R ¥16,0007T(=ZZF—X
F: AR¥14,800%
AR¥14,9807T) °
Commercial Shops in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, A significant increase in
Qingyuan with price per square metre using market direct the price per square metre
comparable and taking used would result in a
into account of location significant increase in the
and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size the investment properties,
of property etc., whichis  and vice versa.
ranged from RMB9,580
to RMB9,709 (2016:
RMB9,300 to RMB9,353)
per square metre.
INEFEEIEEIE v E= BEIEEREGTHRK KATSEZALEYE ST RERKE LA

E1&

NEBLIEAREMER
R &% (EREER -9
EXNE)NTEHKE
& NTFEFARAR
#9,58070 2 AR EEQ 700
T ZZT—NF : AR
9,300t AR#9,353
JT) °

BEBUREMERNAT
B BAELH - K2
IR -
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14, BEWHE =

Investment properties
held by the Group in the

consolidated statement Fair value Valuation techniques Significant
of financial position hierarchy and key inputs unobservable inputs Sensitivity
FEERGEMBRRE AVE
REZREM* RERA RERTREESH BEXTIHESH HRE
Commercial properties in Level 3 Direct comparison method  Price per square metre, A significant increase in
London with price per square metre using market direct the price per square metre
comparable and taking used would result in a
into account of location significant increase in the

and other individual factors  fair value measurement of
such as road frontage, size the investment properties,
of property etc., whichis  and vice versa.

ranged from GBP8,427

to GBP8,858 (2016:

GBP7,082 to GBP8,858)

per square metre.

N GEZ GOTE)SEUE S F= BEERUEEBAREFIAK RAMSERTLEY SFIKERAELA
B ENERUEAREM HEBUREMENDF

ERE=%(WEREE EifEAELHA Rz
B MEXNE)NTTE TR

FAREE - NTEEA

K8,427 H 42 58,8581

B(ZZT—R"F 7,082

HEEE8, 8580 EE) o

There was no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year. FR - WENE=RFEA KB -

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases R B A BN € 31 8 RIS E W AR R AT
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured EHNBE LB ERER - B A
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as ANEEERGTE - D BERIEREY
investment properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties, ¥ o NEETMEZATER  MECH
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. There BhEERRAENAR - RBAFE

has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior years. FrA Z (A ERM EE ) -
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15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. Y% - BMEKRRE

Properties,
Furniture, plant and
fixtures equipment
Leasehold Plant and Licenced and Motor under
Buildings  improvements  machinery assets  equipment vehicles  construction Total
ik BE GH-%E ERNE
Br  DEEE  HERME  GREE k% - T it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn TER Thn TR Thn TR Thn
(Note)
()
cost A
At 1 January 2016 WZF-"E-A-A 1,256,318 280 80%89%  2340,129 567,306 63,233 433988 12,742,859
Exchenge adjusiments R (42,893 2019 (530,604) (148,184) (20.807) 2.800) (24.211) (780,584)
Addtions HE - - 45,191 33,389 20573 2174 51,463 162,780
Disposals and witg off HERAH - - [B2,781) (38,565) (179 2449 (1308 (127273
Disposal of asubsiciary Note 31) W&~ ATI(H3E31) - - - - 0 - - 0
Redlassiications EfAE 75,782 1574 2951 - 8,55 - (115,160) -
At 31 December 2016 RZS-ETZA=+-A 1280207 N5 750082 2186769 564,438 60,164 344608 11,987,773
Exchenge adjusiments EiEE 47852 1367 452,855 151,921 25479 3,663 20,545 103672
Addtions e 894 8,702 341,471 2,14 209,754 6,957 226,341 841,866
Transfer rom properties held for ERaREENE ()
development (Note 23) 179,264 - - - - - - 179,254
Disposals and witg off HERAH - - (59,524) (65,056) (7552) (.911) Q0148 (158191)
Redlassfications g 5 - 102811 - 3,323 - (135,191) -
At 31 December 2017 O i oy s 1517264 P51 83706 2301381 844442 64,863 436245 13554374
DEPRECIATION AND IMPARMENT  HERH(E
At 1 January 2016 R-E-7E-A-8 25,175 11218 5288919 1919,3% 340,913 43646 - 7839867
Exchenge adjusiments A (10332 (709) (345,584) (125,097) (21,887) (2412 - (506,021)
Provided for the year TEERA 12,112 2174 Ao 92,084 46571 3,658 - 628,006
Eiminated on disposels and wite ot HEE AT 84 - - 1234) (15,482) (1,851) (214 - (01818
Disposal of asubsiclary Note 31) ~ HE-THBAF(H3H31) - - - - f) - - )
At 31 December 2016 RZF-NETZR=T- 287555 12688 5292401 1870901 363,741 2748 - 7870029
Bxchange adjustments Ex:E 10978 648 233,39 13198 17,708 2,142 - 396,801
Provided for the year TERER 15,543 2007 433745 1075 41439 421 - 568,220
Eiminated on disposals and wrte off (&R E SR - - (61,436) 48,662 (6,152) (5,139) - (111,389)
At 31 December 2017 St 2 i e 314,076 15508 5908106 2025299 416,731 43,962 - 8787
CARRYING VALUE HafE
At 31 December 2017 R-E-+E+-F=1-A 1,203,188 16976 2,449,560 276,082 41111 20,901 436245 4,830,663
At 31 December 2016 RZE-ETZf=+-A 1,001,652 9,762 2207651 315,868 200,697 17416 34608 411774
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BE B RMEE

15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. % - BERZE#E

(continued)

bz - BB REREERB (BRERZRA
BN EEBRIBEERRATFEL

The above items of properties, plant and equipment (other than those
under construction) are depreciated on a straight-line basis after

taking into account of their residual values at the following rates per R\ HGEETIRITE

annum:

Buildings* Over the remaining unexpired g ZBALNFI R
terms of the leases ranging TR E)F B
from twenty to fifty years ZHERT+F

Leasehold improvements 10-20% HAMEEE 10 -20%

Plant and machinery* 10-20% BN 10 -20%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10-33'/,% BRI - HENMRE 10-33/%

Motor vehicles* 20% RE 20%

* Including those grouped under licenced assets. * BEIEEREGCREENZSIER

Note:  Licenced assets comprised of the following:

MiaE - BREEAEESIENATRIER:

Plant and Motor
Buildings machinery vehicles Total
BF B R MR RE A&t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FERT FET FET
COST FRAR
At 1 January 2016 RZZE—XRE—HA—H 348,782 1,982,070 9,277 2,340,129
Exchange adjustments [ 54, = (22,160) (125,436) (588) (148,184)
Additions NE 890 32,499 - 33,389
Disposals and written off & K g - (38,565) - (38,565)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+=ZA=+—H 327,512 1,850,568 8,689 2,186,769
Exchange adjustments &5 % 22,090 129,218 613 151,921
Additions NE 4,617 22,175 955 27,747
Disposals and written off R ss (28,158) (36,054) (844) (65,056)
At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+tF+=-A=+—8 326,061 1,965,907 9,413 2,301,381
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 37 MR {E
At 1 January 2016 RZE—XF—A—H 148,806 1,761,313 9,277 1,919,396
Exchange adjustments Rk (9,699) (114,810) (588) (125,097)
Provided for the year INEFE A 5,929 86,155 - 92,084
Eliminated on disposals and
written off R AT 8 S8 - (15,482) - (15,482)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+ZA=+—H 145,036 1,717,176 8,689 1,870,901
Exchange adjustments Rk 9,303 122,100 582 131,985
Provided for the year TN S 3,638 67,379 58 71,075
Eliminated on disposals and
written off R R AT 8 S 8H (27,028) (20,824) (810) (48,662)
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—+F+-_A=+—8H 130,949 1,885,831 8,519 2,025,299
CARRYING VALUE BRMEE
At 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+=A=+—H 195,112 80,076 894 276,082
At 31 December 2016 R-Z—XFE+-_A=+—H 182,476 138,392 - 315,868
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15. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

On 3 August 2011, 30 August 2013 and 28 August 2015, a subsidiary
of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited (“‘KBCF” or the “Licensor”)
(KBCF is a listed subsidiary of the Group), entered into a licence
agreement and a letter of extension and amendments with Harvest
Resource Management Limited (the “Licencee”), a third party, to
licence KBCF’s copper foil manufacturing facilities located at Fogang
and Lianzhou to the Licencee for the period from 1 September 2011
to 31 August 2017. On 30 August 2017, the Licensor entered into a
letter of extension and amendments with Licencee and extended the
licence period for a further period of two years to 31 August 2019.
The details of the licence arrangement which remained unchanged,
are as follows:

(i) to use the leasehold properties, comprising factory buildings
in Fogang and Lianzhou;

(ii) to use, consume and dispose of the inventories which shall
include consumables and stocks in trade; and

(iii) to use the machinery, together with all other equipment and
facilities as from time to time located at the properties in
Fogang and Lianzhou.

The licenced properties, plant and equipment tabulated above and
the licenced inventories in Note 18 were licenced for licence income
of HK$10,000,000 per month payable in advance on the first day of
each and every calendar month, as a measure by KBCF to generate
income from the manufacturing facilities, pending the resolution of the
interested party transactions issue, relating to the manufacturing and
trading of copper foil, with the non-controlling shareholder of KBCF
(Note 36(b)) and the approval of the interested party transactions
mandated by the shareholders and/or when KBCF clinched new
third parties customers for the sales of copper foil. Accordingly, the
licenced properties, plant and equipment have been classified as
licenced assets under properties, plant and equipment.
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eV BmRMETE
16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FEHEERIE
HK$’000
FHT
At 1 January 2016 RZZE—R"F—H—H 427,634
Exchange adjustments RS (23,113)
Charge for the year RFEEZH (8,425)
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+_A=+—H 396,096
Addition NE 29,925
Exchange adjustments DERTI R 20,039
Charge for the year AEEZ M (9,312)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+-_A=+—H 436,748
2017 2016
—E—tHF AN
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RESTTAT
Current assets MEVEE 10,291 8,129
Non-current assets ERENEE 426,457 387,967

436,748 396,096
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 17. A[{tH€&¥%

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RHF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHERT FAT
Available-for-sale investments comprise: AMEHERERE
Listed investments, at fair value: EHRERAFEIE) -
- equity securities listed in Hong Kong —RNEB LT 2 BRARFES 223,300 1,121,923
Listed bond securities, at fair value: EmESESF(RATEIE)
— listed on the Stock Exchange and issued —RERFT ERY BB LT
by listed issuers in Hong Kong with fixed BITAET - ABER
coupon interests 8.625% per annum and 8.625F 2 [EE
maturity date on 5 February 2020 B WRZTEZZF
—ARB3H = 64,891
— listed on the SGX and issued by listed issuers — R 32 B L/ &S L
in Hong Kong with fixed coupon interests BIIAET ABEENT
ranging from 4.75% to 8.25% (2016: 4.75%  4.75[E£8.25[E(—ZF— /<4 ¢
to 8.75%) per annum and maturity dates 4.75[2£8.752)
from 13 January 2022 to 29 March 2024 ZEERE - FEHRA
(2016: 24 January 2020 to 28 September —E-__F—HA+=HZ
2023) —ZE-NNFE=A=-+ANH

(ZF—R%F: ZF2FF
—BZtmEE—Z-=%

NA=Z+NR/) 2,274,619 1,095,130
— Listed on CSX and issued by listed issuers in —RAHEBEB AR S EHITEE
Hong Kong with a fixed coupon interest BEMBITART  AEFE
3.875% per annum with maturity date on 3875EZEERE - FHBER
20 November 2018 —ZEZ—-N\Ft+—HA=+H 778,986 -
Unlisted equity investments, at cost: IEETRAIRE (IR AFIE) ¢
— private equity investment in —REBZLERAKRE
Hong Kong (Note) (B=E) 8,124 8,124
3,285,029 2,290,068
Analysed for reporting purposes as: RESTTAT
Current assets MBNEE 778,986 -
Non-current assets IERBEE 2,506,043 2,290,068

3,285,029 2,290,068
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17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

(continued)

At the end of the reporting period, all listed available-for-sale
investments are stated at fair value. Fair values of the listed bond
securities are determined by reference to the valuation provided by
the pricing vendor based on its own valuation techniques because of
lack of an active market. The unlisted equity investments are stated at
cost less impairment as their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

Note:

The amount represents the 19.67% (2016: 19.67%) interest in a private
entity incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is engaged in the
property development business in Hong Kong. The Group together with
other investment funds as investors currently holds a number of properties
in a building situated in Hong Kong which has been fixed for redevelopment
(the “Redevelopment Project”). The Group’s participation in the
Redevelopment Project is 4.70% (2016: 4.70%) and the amount committed
by the Group amounts to United States dollars (“US$”) $21,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$163,800,000) (2016: US$21,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$163,800,000)).

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the investment is measured
at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the Directors are of the opinion that its fair value cannot
be measured reliably.

Included in available-for-sale investments are the following amounts
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they are held:

us$
HKS

E"
BT

BEHEERERARAA
T FFR

17. JHHERE »)

REHRRAERER  BEAHEE L
MEREGRAFEIIR - ARERZ R
W5 EEFEFATENE2EE
BEIRBEARGOMGBERMER G
BEE - BRI LTERARENQFE
TRERAISERT H - BURARANBRR B
BE o

Mzt : ZEEERN HREBELHSFM
RS2 FLEE R 219.67% (=T — 7~
F19.67%)RIE - ZRLEBEBRE
BREMEBRRER - AEERHEA
BEHSIERIREERRES — R
REBZREZEYMESL - ZKRE
B#ETER(EEFE]) - A5EE2
B BERAEZ470%(ZF—RF ¢
4.70% ) - H#¥E & F8 /321,000,000 3
T (M1 49163,800,00087T) (=&
— 734 1 21,000,000 7T (HAE R K
163,800,000/ 7T) ) ©

R-T—+F+-_A=+—BE-F
—NEFZB=+—8  FEARAR
AEE - TAREABAFEZ G
BEBA - FARREER AR
EEEQFE -

AHHERERETIINEEERSHE
ZREREIASNE B EHEZ ZER

2017 2016
—E—tF AN
HK$’000

HK$’000
FET TET

3,061,729 1,168,145
223,300 1,121,923
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18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS/ 18.

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

This represents inventories licenced to the Licencee (see Note 15).
Under the licencing agreement, the Licencee may use, consume and
dispose of the licenced inventories which include consumables and
stocks in trade. However, the Licencee is required to replace and
return the quantities of the licenced inventories used, consumed or
disposed of during the licenced period to the Licensor at the end of

the licence period.

The licenced inventories have been reclassified from other current
assets to other non-current assets because the licence period was

extended for a further period of two years to 31 August 2019.

The licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed during the
licence period are secured by cash and bills receivables of a related
party of the Licencee, with a total receivable value of not less than the
value of the licenced inventories used, consumed or disposed of as at

the end of the reporting period.

19. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting periods:

19.

HtFRBEE Hit
5

DL =

BTy A A (R EE16) A mTE
B RIEREER DGR - BEREARRE
A BRRLEREERATE B4 e
ESRMEESEE - R REERE
RHERE - BEREARAREAEE
FMRENEEERSMRE R A%
HENRECRTEHE -

R R ARG T — S EmEE—
F-NFNA=+—HER  ZEEH
FEREEMRSEEEN DB REM
FRBEE °

RIEFEERBEER RARHEZE
BERTERERBA-RBEALZ
R REWREEERR - AJREBET
PRBERRERE BCER - AKX
HEZRERRTFEZEE -

BB TH

TRAREE B RBEREBINE
Wiy TEEERIEA R AR RY
B8

Fair value
change of
investment REVEIEL))
properties of properties Others Total
REMEZ
ATEEZD MEER Hith CH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2016 RZE—RF—H—H (9,577) (85,607) 3,415 (91,769)
Credit (charge) to consolidated REFEERERTTA
statement of profit or loss (F0%) - 3,057 (704) 2,353
At 31 December 2016 R-E—RE
+=-—A=+—H (9,577) (82,550) 2,711 (89,416)
Credit to consolidated statement of A4 & B2ERET A
profit or loss - 3,057 405 3,462
At 31 December 2017 N-ZT—+F
+=ZA=+—H (9,577) (79,493) 3,116 (85,954)
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19. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 19. ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁ(%)
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial AT & AR EHRE mmel 2 EEF:
reporting purposes: TALEER DT -
2017 2016
—E2—tHF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Deferred tax assets RIEFLIAE B 2,882 2,480
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIAEE (88,836) (91,896)
(85,954) (89,416)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses REHEERER - AEETH
of approximately HK$163,695,000 (2016: HK$254,607,000) available BEHMARREFN 2 RBARIEBER
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been #7163,695,000 %8 7T (=& — X &F -
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. All tax 254,607,000/ 7T ) ° B P 7 K F ik
losses will be expired gradually within five years to year 2023 (2016: AETFEA - I R R AR IR E
year 2022). Eo2HMREBESENIFAZRLE
HEE T (2R F: =%
)
20. GOODWILL 20. BHE
HK$’000
FA&T
CARRYING VALUE SREE
At 1 January 2016, 31 December 2016 and RZZE—R"F—H—H-
31 December 2017 —E-REt+-A=t+—"H8K

—Z—tF+-A=+—H 238
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FEMBmRMEE
INVENTORIES 21. EE
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T
Raw materials R 564,465 397,978
Work in progress TERE 254,229 213,277
Finished goods ki 134,789 129,464
953,483 740,719

22,

During the year ended 31 December 2016, there was a significant
increase in the net realisable value of certain finished goods due to
market shortage. As a result, a reversal of write down of inventories of
HK$2,148,000 was recognised and included in cost of sales during
the year ended 31 December 2016. No reversal of write down of
inventories is recognised during the year ended 31 December 2017.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS

22.

HE-_Z—XF+-_A=+—H8L1LHF
- BRATISER  BTEAMRAE
WFERRZEE M - At - KPS R
B 012,148,000/ 7T WAt AEZE =
T—RNF+ZA=+—BUEFEHEEK
Ko FEMBBEOYERNEE —T—+
F+-A=+—HIEFERR -

EZRHEMERERRR
ANFERERRE

RECEIVABLES

2017 2016

—E—+tF ZE—R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Trade receivables SRR 4,034,814 3,281,141
Advance to suppliers TEfTR FE R FIE 339,333 325,760
Interest income receivables FEUF B ULA 33,243 19,272
Prepaid expenses and deposits TR RiEe 241,533 247,625
Value-added tax (“VAT”) recoverable AR ERIEER ([2ER ) 86,810 61,997
LAT on pre-sale residential units (Note) TEEWEZ IR ER (FEE) 7,035 30,270
Other receivables E b FEUBR X 33,030 28,928
4,775,798 3,994,993
Bills receivables e ZEE 3,150,609 2,721,444
7,926,407 6,716,437

Note:  The amount represents the provisional LAT prepaid to the PRC tax
authority based on the latest completion status of the development
projects. The final assessment will be carried out upon sales of properties

at the completion of development projects.

Ry

ZIBN fa P BT IS M B A B By 1 338
BENeH  SRBHAAEREEGE
HE S EEKRBEE R TEY
SERFETT ©
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days (2016: 120 days),
depending on the products sold to its trade customers. The following
is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance for doubtful
debts based on invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

RERERERAERAT
TR

22. ESGREMEKRERIAKR

AEEGRTESIRFPZEEHERAE
1208 (=Z—74F : 1208) » Bl
EEMME - NBEHEERER &£
MR ERE R R - B RBEERZ R
ERBEZ[EHTMOT -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHExT BT

0-90 days 0£290H 3,010,539 2,398,254
91-180 days 91£180H 968,249 828,563
Over 180 days 180H A E 56,026 54,324
4,034,814 3,281,141

Bills receivables of the Group are based on age of 0-90 days since
invoice date (2016: 0-90 days) at the end of the reporting period.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has an internal credit
grading system to assess the potential customers’ credit quality and
the Directors have delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals for any customers.
Limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed every year.
About 77% (2016: 76%) of the trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have the best credit scoring attributable under the
credit grading system used by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$609,967,000 (2016:
HK$535,483,000) which are past due at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss as the Group
considers that these debtors are financially stable. The Directors are
of the opinion that these amounts are recoverable. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these
receivables is 137 days (2016: 145 days).

REEBR - AEBEKER ZRRY
BEZAHEF0ER(ZT—NF
0Z90H)Z A »

EEMNERHFELA - ARBERBER
ARFEeTEEERPZERER
EXCEERERERERENTPERE
FERELEEMZ FEPZRER
ADEGEEN  NT7T%(ZF—RF -
76%) BB RBEZ B 5 R AR E
AEBMRAZERTRNEZRBE
RFED o

AEEE ZERERGRELEEKE
o #EERE {E/5609,967,000/8 T (=&
— 7N : 535,483,000/ 7T) © RRER
HAE e ER - AEBEER RS RIAE
HREEERE  REALEERA -
ZEBGAVBIRE - EFHE - ZF
SRBNAR FUE - REBEFRZERTE
WEFEEMEER - ZFRUERER
ZFEHERERA13TH(ZZE—RF 1 145
=P
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22. EZ R EMEWKERTRE
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS FARERERERE @
RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired are as B ERBERE 2 B 5 EWER I Z BRI 10

follows: T
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT BT
Overdue: BEp

0-30 days 0230H 119,456 108,132
31-60 days 31260H 271,515 234,800
61-90 days 61290H 164,237 142,373
Over 90 days HiEmo0H 54,759 50,178
609,967 535,483

The Group has fully provided for all receivables that are overdue over
240 days because historical experience is such that these receivables
are generally not recoverable. Allowance on trade receivables
which have been overdue for less than 240 days are made based
on estimated irrecoverable amounts by reference to past default
experience and objective evidence of impairment as determined by
the management.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables, the Group
monitors any changes in the credit quality of the trade receivables
since the credit was granted and up to the end of the reporting
period. The directors consider that the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk on its trade and other receivables, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

The following is a movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

BELRBNAZ240H A £ 2 EUEER
KRR E - AAEEHZERY
R EBUIEL A - BRIk D M240R 2
B SRR Z B - D2ERERK
RRLEREETNEERERRRE

BRI AR EMEDL o

HEEE S RUIRRZ AT E R - 8
ERRBRHEEEERESHMERE
B AREERBSRUEREREER

BEFZE5MEMBUKEREER

AT RREEEZ B

% BRAZEARZTREF S # -

2017 2016

—E—+F —T—RF

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FTHET FHT

Balance at beginning of the year FEER 353,337 360,065

Amount written off as uncollectible s AE AR E 2 FIR (2,741) (4,320)
Impairment loss (reversal of impairment loss) 5t & 5 fEUBE X iER

recognised on trade receivables ZIREETE (B RmEEE) 81,211 (2,408)

Balance at end of the year FRAER 431,807 353,337
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND PREPAYMENTS AND BILLS
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of HK$431,807,000
(2016: HK$353,337,000) which have either been placed under
liquidation or in severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold
any collateral over these balances.

Included in trade and other receivables and bills receivables are
the following amounts denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

BEHEERERARAA
T FFR

22.

RIEEFERIEERBREZE S RUER
o HEKE 4 B431,807,0008 L (=&
— 754 1 353,337,000/ 70) © % EE
BERNEAMBERBET Z5IE - &
EEMZEEBRTESEEAERRR -

B REMEUKERMERRERRET
FJINEEERAR ISR AINES
FHEZHEE

Uss$ E7T
HK$ BT

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
191,763 289,315
425,152 573,941

23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT

Movements of properties held for development are as follows:

23.

(E9ELYES

FREMEZEFHMT

HK$'000
THET

At 1 January 2016 R-ZE—R"F—H—H 5,066,199
Exchange adjustments PE A% (310,180)
Additions NE 1,155,927
Transfer to cost of sales B SERR (1,322,657)
Transfer to investment properties (Note 14) RS EYZE(MiE14) (86,095)
At 31 December 2016 WZE—NE+=-_A=+—H 4,503,194
Exchange adjustments PE H A 282,055
Additions NE 635,349
Transfer to cost of sales EEHENAR (1,210,370)
Transfer to properties, plant and equipment (Note 15)  EZE¥% - E K& (FIEE15) (179,254)
At 31 December 2017 W_ZE—+F+_A=+—H 4,030,974

Properties held for development are situated in the PRC with medium-
term leases and are stated at cost at 31 December 2017 and 2016.
As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, all the properties are still under
development.

FERROEMRATHREOFAENFE
T WRZB—tFR-T—RF
TZA=+—RUEATER - R_F
—tER-FT-REt-A=1+—8"
EMEDFER -
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23. PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 23. Z&EW#* »)

(continued)

Properties held for development with carrying amount of BRI E 4 41,210,370,0008 Tt ( =&
approximately HK$1,210,370,000 (2016: HK$1,322,657,000) were — 75 1 1,322,657,000/8 70 ) 2 FFEE
completed and sold to third parties. The remaining balance as at MEEBRTIWHETFE=FH —F—+
31 December 2017 was related to properties that were still under FH+_A=+—BZHEEGFEREYE
development. B -

Included in the amount are properties held for development ZEeHBEREEREEDEEEAEY
with carrying amount of approximately HK$754,389,000 (2016: 754,389,000 & 7T ( = & — X F
HK$1,838,459,000) that are expected to be realised after one year 1,838,459,000/8 7T) » AT S HIME
from the end of the reporting period. ERBF—FREE -

In the opinion of the Directors, the properties held for development EEREGERVEIEARYEE -
were classified as current assets as the properties were held for YRR EREEMEFESERE - 58
sale purpose after the completion of construction under the Group’s ZEVENENANIRRIRFHE -

normal operating cycle.

24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW 24. EW({)EZKEBLQ T
SUBSIDIARIES g

2017 2016
—g—tF T AF

HK$000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries under RENEEIE N EIE &

current assets Hi 8 A RIFIE

— trade nature, neither past due nor impaired —ZS4HE - i@ Ei s HE 439,356 471,984
The Group allows credit periods normally up to 120 days for sales AEEREEL THREMB AR ZE
to its fellow subsidiaries. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, BH—MERA1208 - ZEERKFE
unsecured and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period. REEREEMR - HIRERY RS B

HERE HEMORAZA
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24. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

mBRBERTENRR
i )EYNCIP QL

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries under
current liabilities
— trade nature, neither past due nor impaired

24,

— B 5148 - EaisnE

FEU () B &K B2

FRIE ()

2017
—E—+tF

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FHBT

HK$’000
FET

46,276 44,907

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries have repayment terms of less
than 30 days. The amounts due are non-interest bearing, unsecured
and aged within 90 days at the end of the reporting period.

25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group. At 31
December 2017, the Group’s bank balances carry interest at the
prevailing market interest rates which range from 0.01% to 0.9%
(2016: 0.01% to 0.9%) per annum.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had bank balances and cash that
were not freely convertible or were subject to exchange controls
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$1,440,431,000 (2016:
HK$2,913,649,000).

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the
group entities to which they relate:

Uss$ E7T
HK$ I
Great British Pound (“GBP”) W

25.

FEH R Z M B AR FRIE 2 B RER A HA30
- ZERMNRBEAEERERF &
BRI AR BRI 4SRN0 R 2 A ©

RITEBRBAE

BITEHRRRCBEAEERBECE
o RZZT—+tHF+=A=+—H =K
EEBITHEBIRRITMBERENT
0.01EZE09E(=T—7"F : 0.01EE
0.9F)&TE -

RZZ—+&E+-_A=+—8 " K
EEATATERALBRAZHEINE
ERIFMMRRCRITEHRIRESN A
1,440,431,000 8 7T ( ZF — XN F -
2,913,649,000/87T) °

RITHEBRIREBETIAEEERA
B2 B ASNEEEHEZ AR

2017 2016
—E—+tfF —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T
122,624 538,347
2,046,282 934,832
258,794 106,620
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
BILLS PAYABLES

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
26. E5 K HMEMNRRR
BARE

2017 2016

—E—+F —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Trade payables B G EMNER 1,081,601 803,311

Accrued expenses TEIRE A 367,892 343,146
Payables for acquisition of properties, BEWME  BE;

plant and equipment Bt 2 AT BR X 150,880 57,775

Receipts in advance LGS 153,634 345,551

Other tax payables HAbERTIE 675,426 681,210

VAT payables BER R 240,026 283,080

Other payables H AR R 63,388 67,049

2,732,847 2,681,122

Bills payables (Note) FET IR (B EE) 460,016 135,785

3,192,863 2,716,907

Note:  Included in bills payables as at 31 December 2017 was payables for
acquisition of properties, plant and equipment of HK$117,918,000 (2016:

nil).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

Rt

R-B—tF+-A=+—8  Ef

ZE 117,918,000 L (=T —X
FEm)RBEYE  BRERRENE

308 -

BHRMNEFREER B PNREHMN

ERERZREROITMNT

2017 2016

—E—tF  —FAF

HK$’000 HK$'000

T THTT

0-90 days 0Z90H 935,237 663,081
91-180 days 91£2180H 114,424 109,828
Over 180 days 180H A k= 31,940 30,402
1,081,601 803,311

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days (2016: 90
days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to
ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time frame.

Bills payables of the Group are aged within 90 days (2016: 90 days)
at the end of the reporting period.

BEERNTHEEMRIA(ZE
—NF :90R) - AEEAEE NI
R EERRERAEERNTEARER
HRABE -

NEBREMNEE 2 RRY BIRE BRI
REBEROH(ZZ—RF : 0R)ZA °
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mEMBERRME
26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 26. EZ R EMENEREFTR
BILLS PAYABLES (ontinueq) ENEE @
Included in trade and other payables and bills payables are the SRAEMEMERIRENZESET
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional §|J NEEEREEEZNEEEINEE
currency of the group entities to which they relate: HEZ FEE -
2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Us$ E 589,005 425,342
HK$ BT 112,523 112,105
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) H 65,658 34,625
GBP HgE - 1,190
27. BANK BORROWINGS 27. RITEE
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T T
Unsecured I
Bank loans IRITEN 3,362,500 2,767,770
Trust receipt loans ERkEER 39,610 -

3,402,110 2,767,770
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/=t 1
27. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 27. $E1T1E ﬁ(@)
2017 2016
k- o —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Carrying amount repayable*: AR TP EE 2 BREE"
Within one year —FR 359,610 1,519,672
More than one year, but not more than —F L HETEBARE
two years 933,077 1,038,553
More than two years but not more than LA BB EBBE=F
three years 933,077 177,045
More than three years but not more than ZFEETBBRT
five years 1,173,846 20,000
More than five years HFLA 2,500 12,500
3,402,110 2,767,770
The carrying amounts of bank loans that M BN ERRERER
contain a repayment on demand clause &R TR ENAE
(shown under current liabilities) but FERSERE) !
repayable:
Within one year —FR 10,000 10,000
More than one year, but not more than —F L HETBAMRE
two years 10,000 10,000
More than two years but not more than MF A EETEBR=F
three years 10,000 10,000
More than three years but not more than ZFUHETBART
five years 20,000 20,000
More than five years HEFELA 2,500 12,500
52,500 62,500
Carrying amount repayable within one year I [ 75 78 /MBS (B8 FIERR
without repayment on demand clause AR —FNENHEREE 349,610 1,509,672
Amounts due within one year shown under ~ RA—F A EIE > 208 » 51 558
current liabilities aE 402,110 1,672,172
Add: Amounts shown under non-current e AERESEEZFIE
liabilities 3,000,000 1,195,598
3,402,110 2,767,770
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the * FESREDERER REANNTETER

loan agreements. HEIFIR »
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27. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 27. ﬁE?T'f%E(%)

28.

Variable-rate bank borrowings at 31 December 2017 carry interest
ranging from Hong Kong Inter-Bank Offer Rate (‘HIBOR”) + 1.02% to
HIBOR + 1.60% (2016: HIBOR + 1.75% to HIBOR + 2%) per annum.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank borrowings is 1.39%
10 2.79% (2016: 2.4% to 2.75%) per annum.

Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities
to which they relate:

RZZE—+F+_A=+—H 285
TEENFERHENTEHRITRERE
([BHBRITRAEFEDINM.REZEEH
BITAERBEMIB0E(ZZT—NF:
EBBRITREREIN 7T5EEEBRT
FEREI2E) R 5 -

AEBRITEEZERFE(NERF]
HF ) EEN T FHE1.39EZE2.79
E(ZZT—RF : 24FBFE2.75F )15 -

RITEERETIINEEEREM
BEERAINE R EHE 2 TR

2016
—E—tF ZTE—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T T4
Us$ E - 708,045
HK$ BT 3,402,110 2,059,725
SHARE CAPITAL 28. BR7A<
Authorised Issued and fully paid
SERE ERTRAR
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
BHEE ot ] BB E ot |
000  HK$'000 000  HK$'000
T A% FHET TB& FHExT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each: ~ EXE{E0.10/8T 2
TR
At 1 January 2016 and RZZE—X"F—A
31 December 2016 —AR-ZT—RE
+=-—A=+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 300,000
Exercise of share options (Note 30)  1T{ B A% # (Bt 5730) - - 81,000 8,100
At 31 December 2017 RIZE—+tF
+—-—A=1+—H 20,000,000 2,000,000 3,081,000 308,100
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29. SPECIAL RESERVE

Special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference between the
net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the
group reorganisation in 2006; and (i) the reduction in the registered

capital of a wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC.

30. SHARE OPTIONS

The share option scheme of the Company (“2007 KLHL Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and the
shareholders of KCHL on 18 May 2007 and 25 June 2007
respectively. The 2007 KLHL Scheme took effect after obtaining the
approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 6
July 2007, and it expired at its end of the term of the scheme on 5
July 2017 prior to the new share option scheme took effect. The new
share option scheme of KLHL (“2017 KLHL Scheme”) was approved
by the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders of KCHL
on 29 May 2017, and the 2017 KLHL Scheme took effect upon
receiving approval from the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 2 November 2017. The terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme are
largely similar to the 2007 KLHL Scheme, and that the purpose of the
2017 KLHL Scheme is to provide incentive or reward to the eligible
participants of the 2017 KLHL Scheme (as listed below) for their
contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the

Group.

The 2017 KLHL Scheme would be valid for a period of ten years
and it has a remaining life of around nine years and six months, and
no share option had been granted or exercised at the date of this
report. The Board may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe
for shares in the Company to eligible participants who contribute to
the long-term growth and profitability of the Company and include (i)
any employee or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time
and including any executive director), consultants or advisers of or to
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“Invested Entity”)
in which the Group holds an equity interest; (i) any non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors), any of
its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (i) any supplier of goods or
services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any
customer of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity
that provides research, development or other technological support
to the Group or any Invested Entity; and (vi) any shareholder of any

member of the Group or any Invested Entity.
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30.
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30. SHARE OPT'ONS (continued)

The subscription price of the Company’s share in respect of any
option granted under the 2017 KLHL Scheme must be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (jii) the nominal value of

the shares of the Company.

The option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the offer for the grant of the option upon the payment of
a consideration of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to each
grantee, and in the absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option is accepted but shall
end in any event not later than ten years from the date of grant of
the option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof. The
Directors may, at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period
for which an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the
options can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the 2017 KLHL
Scheme (excluding, for this purpose, options lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company) must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of
approval of the 2017 KLHL Scheme (i.e. 308,100,000 shares of the

Company).

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2017 KLHL Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not exceed 30% of the issued share

capital of the Company from time to time.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted (including both exercised and
outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the share capital of the Company then in issue
unless approved by the shareholders of the Company and KCHL in

general meetings.

RERERERERAT
S

30.

gk

BriEkRE:

R E - T -t FREEE R 8K
HZ BEBBREMTS R AR BN 2R
BELATHRENATHESER : ()F
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ME : ()AR BN NERETHEE
R BHAAES XA 2B RS AR
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Ptz mEfE -
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30. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 30. @%Eﬁﬂﬁ*&(%)

Balance at
1 January
2016, and Exercised Balance at Exercise
31 December during 31 December price per
Date of grant 2016 the year 2017 share  Exercisable period
R=ZB-—RE

—R—-BK
—E-RE
+=A=t+—-H REFE
ZEER B ; BRITREE
(Note ii)
(B i)

Granted to the Directors

RTEE

21 March 2011 54,000,000 (54,000,000) - HK$6.54 21 March 2011 to

—Z—%=Zf-+-H 6.5487C 17 May 2017 (Note )
—T——F=A=+—H
E-E—+FRA+EH )

Granted to employees

RTER

21 March 2011 27,000,000 (27,000,000) - HK$6.54 21 March 2011 to

—E——%=A=1+—-H 654787 17 May 2017 (Note i)
—E——%=fA=+-8
E2Z—+FR AT A (M)

81,000,000 (81,000,000) -

Exercisable at

R THB P71

1 January 2016 81,000,000

—T-~¥—-A—H

31 December 2016 81,000,000

ZE-R"F+ZA=+—H
31 December 2017 -
“E2—+F+-A=1+—H

Notes: B EE -

0] 25% of the total share options were vested immediately on the date of [0} BERBREAE %R - ——F
grant, 21 March 2011. The remaining 75% were split evenly into three lots AT -ERHEHNKSEE - £
and were vested on 21 March 2012, 2013 and 2014. T75% B FH D AR=H BER=F

——F "E-=FR-ZT-NF=A
—+—HEEB-

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2017, 81,000,000 options in the (ii) BE-_ZT—+F+=-A=+—HLLF
Company at an exercise price of HK$6.54 per share were exercised. The & + ANAE]81,000,00017 i AR L1 T{E
weighted average closing price of the Company’s share granted on the BERE.54ETEITEE « RAREETT
Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately before the exercise A EART R EA2 5 B B R AT HE AR 19
date was HK$8.93. The amount of approximately HK$93,105,000 was KIINE U TT(E /8.9378 T - £RELY
reclassified from share options reserve to share premium. 93,105,000 LB LR ED A

Betn s fE o
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31. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 31. HE—REHBAT

HE-_Z2—XRF+-_A=+—HIF
B AEBRRBIE=HFLEE—FEETD
HiFAE— R B A A2 B
BORIDABR AR 2 2B - BBEK
B4R ANRE2 004,430,0007 (FHE 7
2,386,230,000/87C) - HEHHWMEE

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group disposed
of its entire equity interest in Kingboard Digital Development
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd, a subsidiary holding a piece of land in PRC, to
an independent third party for a cash consideration of approximately
RMB2,004,430,000 (equivalent to HK$2,386,230,000). The net assets
at the date of disposal are as follow:

FEAT
HK$’000
T
Consideration received: BEHARE -
Cash received 2HERE 2,386,230
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control HEEAEHEz2EERBEZDNT
was lost:
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB KREE 4
Other receivables Hh FEUCRRIE 29,338
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIES 16,929
Other payables H A fERTRIE (16,731)
Net assets disposal of BHEEEFE 29,540
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—FRIRE ATz W
Cash consideration received BWESRE 2,386,230
Transaction costs RSB (235,452)
Net assets disposal of BHEEEFE (29,540)
Gain on disposal HE k= 2,121,238
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEECRSRANFE
Cash consideration received BWEERE 2,386,230
Transaction costs R A (235,452)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEHERE MBEEFHEIER (16,929)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect TE—MHNBARZEHe KRS EEER
of the disposal of a subsidiary MAFER 2,133,849
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32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. EXERERE
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will AEBEEEEAUERBIBEES
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to HERAETFRAEEFEATFRESE
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. o FEREBETEREMFELE -
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. REE 7 BRI BFFEMEMA -
The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings, net IR AR EHRITIRE  AEEY
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the BARGEEPERTEE(NBRES LR
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained SEEER)RAATEE AEGER
profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in (BIEBEITIRAE - BENMREEF) -
equity.
The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. EEFYIFEFERLEE - (EAEH—
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and o BEEHEREAKAEZHE AR
the risks associated with each class of capital. In the opinion of the MEM - EFRAE AEEBBBIN
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through B -~ BT - B - BITHE
the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as SEBERIREEIE - AT EBREERE
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 7 o
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. #WIA
(@) Categories of financial instruments (a) ST AR
The Group
AEE
2017
—ZE—tHF
HK$°000
FET
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including cash ~ B REWRER(BERS R
and cash equivalents) ®EEELH)
— trade and other receivables —B S REMBERERK 4,101,087 3,329,341
— bills receivables — R EE 3,150,609 2,721,444
— amounts due from fellow subsidiaries ~ — FEW R KB A 75018 439,356 471,084
— bank balances and cash —IRITEHRNMIR S 4,464,240 4,518,270
12,155,292 11,041,039
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 3,285,029 2,290,068
Financial liabilities cREE
Amortised cost HEERR
— trade and other payables — B S RHEMEMIRK 1,295,869 928,135
- bills payables —ENER 460,016 135,785
— amounts due to fellow subsidiaries —FENRRMBATIFRIE 46,276 44,907
- bank borrowings —RITEE 3,402,110 2,767,770

5,204,271 3,876,597
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

Details of the Group’s financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposes the Group to foreign
currency risk. Approximately 15% (2016: 9%) of the Group’s
sales are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entity making the sale, whilst
almost 2% (2016: 4%) of purchases are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes. The
management continuously monitors the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging foreign currency risk
should the need arise.

EEEERERER QA

—EFLEER

33. @I By

(b)

BHREREERBERBER

REEN DR T AFBR BRI
R - R T ARENERE
‘EhSER (8RR - FEE
aRBEAERRR) EERR
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ZEREINIWT - EEEEEK
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BB REVEE 2 i
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation against foreign
currencies of US$, JPY, HK$ and GBP. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2016: 5%) increase
and decrease in functional currency against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% (2016: 5%) represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of reporting period
for a 5% (2016: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes trade and other receivables,
available-for-sale debt investments, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payable and bank borrowings. A
positive number below indicates an increase in post-tax profit
for the year where functional currency of each Group entity
strengthen 5% (2016: 5%) against the relevant currency. For
a 5% (2016: 5%) weakening of functional currency of each
Group entity against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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33. £ I Hu

(b)

BREREREEEEREE
(&)

miERR(E)

EEmE(E)

BRE DT
AEEFEmEETT - AHE - F
TLRERSRIMNE R EN RS o Tk
LA S B T AL S ARRE S
RS % (=T —7RF : 5%)H)
BREE - 5%(ZF—NEF : 5%)
RERBYINEERSIBEEE
BRI - BURESITEREN
KREIHR AN BB/ & 18
B - YR BRI R E B HNEE
RE5% (=T —7N4F : 5%) BEE
HIRAE - GREINEREES
REA USRS - AT EER
BE - RITHRE B REMRE
MER - BNZERIBITEE -
FTHRESEEEENNRE
B AR EE T ES% (=2 —X
F: 5%)E - KEEBRBIEER
BRI - BEEEEEHINEE
EEHABEERE%(ZZ2—X
F 1 5%)EF - A BE I ANFEEHREL

EMNARSHERNTE -

2017 2016
—B—t%F = i

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHxT FHBT

Us$ EiW (113,231) (38,277)
JPY HIE 2,667 1,637
HK$ BT 33,310 (20,366)
GBP o (10,514) (4,679)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent foreign exchange risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

BEXZR R ARFEMAERE
B T BRI AR B R
BB DT HIE A B NERL R
= WK -
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest
(see Note 17 for details of these listed bond securities). The
management monitors interest rate exposure when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowings have exposure to cash flow interest rate risk due
to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this
note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related
to the fluctuation of HIBOR (2016: HIBOR) arising from the
Group’s bank borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances and bank borrowings at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
were outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2016:
50 basis points) increase or 10 basis points (2016: 10 basis
points) decrease are used and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2016: 50 basis
points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2017
would increase by approximately HK$4,315,000
(2016: HK$7,769,000) as a result of the Group’s
exposure to interest rates on its interest-bearing bank
balances and its variable-rate borrowings respectively;
and

° the investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2017 would decrease by approximately
HK$74,049,000 (2016: HK$29,072,000) mainly as a
result of the changes in the fair value of available-for-
sale listed bond securities with fixed coupon interest.

If interest rate had been 10 basis points (2016: 10 basis
points) lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

° post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2017
would decrease by approximately HK$863,000 (2016:
HK$1,554,000) as a result of the Group’s exposure
to interest rates on its interest-bearing bank balances
and its variable-rate borrowings respectively; and

° the investment revaluation reserve as at 31
December 2017 would increase by approximately
HK$10,610,000 (2016: HK$5,968,000) mainly as a
result of the changes in the fair value of available-for-
sale listed bond securities with fixed coupon interests.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of inherent interest rate risk as the year
ended exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed equity securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles and the Group has a
team to monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the
risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, all available-for-
sale equity listed securities which have been impaired have
been disposed.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale equity listed
securities, which have been impaired at the end of the
reporting period, had been 10% (2016: 10%) higher:

° No effect on post-tax profit is noted for the year
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 as a result of
the change in fair value of these available-for-sale
investments.

° No effect on the investment revaluation reserve for the
year ended 31 December 2017 is noted whereas the
investment reserve would increase by approximately
HK$201,000 for the year ended 31 December
2016 as a result of the change in fair value of these
available-for-sale investments.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. €@ A

B

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEXR
policies (continued) (%)
Market risk (continued) miERR(E)
Equity price risk (continued) RAETS I (4E)
Sensitivity analysis (continued) BURREDIT(E)

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale equity listed
securities, which have been impaired at the end of the
reporting period, had been 10% (2016: 10%) lower:

° No effect on the investment revaluation reserve for
the year ended 31 December 2017 is noted whereas
the reserve would decrease by approximately
HK$201,000 for the year ended 31 December 2016 as
a result of the change in fair value of these available-
for-sale investments.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sale equity listed
securities, which have not been impaired at the end of the
reporting period, had been 10% (2016: 10%) higher:

° The investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 December 2017 would increase by approximately
HK$22,330,000 (2016: increase by approximately
HK$111,992,000) as a result of the change in fair
value of these available-for-sale investments.

There would be an equal and opposite effect on investment
revaluation reserve if the prices of the respective available-for-
sale equity listed securities, which have not been impaired,
had been 10% lower.

At 31 December 2017, the Group has concentration of equity
price risk on its available-for-sale investments as 5.43%
(2016: 38.3%) of the total available-for-sale investments is
concentrated in two (2016: four) equity securities listed in
Hong Kong. The Group’s available-for-sale investments are
exposed to equity price risk due to the fluctuation of price on
the respective stock market.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. In order to minimise the credit risk, the board of
Directors has delegated the management to be responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end
of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk in relation to bank deposits and bank balances
is considered minimal as such amounts are placed with
banks with good credit ratings and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade and other receivables, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers other than group
entities. However, the Group is exposed to the concentration
on geographic segment in PRC. At 31 December 2017,
approximately 92% (2016: 88%) of the Group’s trade and
other receivables are arising from the PRC.

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are concentrated in
a few counterparties. However, the credit risk on amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries is limited because of the strong
financial background of the fellow subsidiaries.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

At 31 December 2017, the Group has concentration of credit
risk on its available-for-sale debt investments as 75.8%
(2016: 40.0%) of the total available-for-sale investments is
concentrated in three (2016: one) listed bond securities issued
by two (2016: one) listed issuer in Hong Kong. The Group’s
available-for-sale listed bond securities are exposed to credit
risk due to the default of repayment by the bond issuers.
However, the Directors considered that the credit risk on
these investments are limited as the listed bond securities
were secured by certain assets of the issuers and issued by
issuers in Hong Kong with good creditability.

As at 31 December 2017, other than those financial assets
whose carrying amounts best represent the maximum
exposure to credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group arising
from the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees provided by the Group is disclosed in note 36(a).

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants
during the year.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. At 31 December 2017, the Group has
available unutilised bank borrowing facilities of approximately
HK$4,945,382,000 (2016: HK$6,352,751,000).
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F :6,352,751,000/87T) °
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

BEHEERERARAA

TR

33. £ I Hu

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEXR
policies (continued) (58)
Liquidity risk (continued) nRBESER(E)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
earliest time band regardless of the probability of the banks
choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curve at the
end of the reporting period.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

TRAMAKEHTIITESR
BENEKVIIEIER - TIREAR
SEAXNEREERFZAN
FERBERERE - LEZ
B A AR AR (B R Y IRV IR
TTEETISIARPHEBR A
IR TRBITERERN 2R - &
IPTEERABZ 2 A RE
3 7E BYE R B B E o

RIEBENERASRERE °
M BRAELE  IFTREBIR
HEMRGERE B2 F R iR E
5 o

RBEE RFFERRE

Weighted Over Over Over
average  Ondemand 3 months but 1year  2years but Total
effective  orlessthan but notmore but not more not more undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3months  thaniyear than2years than5years  cash flows amount
R RERY =@ANLE —FU0EB ®BEULE FFBRES
ERA= AR EBFEB-F THEMF THEALF MEEE fREE
) HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TARL TART TARL TARL TARL TARL
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F
+=A=1+—-H
Non-derivative financial ETESmas
liabilities
Trade and other payables Z5 L EMEMER - 1,295,869 - - - 1,295,869 1,295,869
Bils payables ENEE = 460,016 - - - 460,016 460,016
Amounts due to fellow ERRZRMBA AR
subsidiaries bl - 46,276 - - - 46,276 46,276
Bank borrowings HFITRE
- variable rate —%8 210 263,483 142,201 962,173 2,241,248 3,609,105 3,402,110
2,065,644 142,201 962,173 2,241,248 5,411,266 5,204,271
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. ﬁﬁi I ;E's(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b)) BXEREEEHERBEXR
policies (continued) (58)
Liquidity risk (continued) nRBESER(E)
Liquidiity and interest risk tables (continued) HEE D RFIFE G (E
Weighted Over Over Over
average  Ondemand 3 months but 1 year 2 years but Total
effective orlessthan  butnotmore  but not more not more  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months thaniyear  than2years  than5years cash flows amount
METH wEky =ZEANLE —FNEE WENEE ERRE
EfRA= ZEAR ETEB—F THEME THEALF MELE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAL TAL TiEn TAL
At 31 December 2016 RZZ—RF
+=ZA=1+-H
Non-derivative financial ETESmAs
liabilities
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENER - 928,135 - - - 928,135 928,135
Bils payables ENEE - 135,785 - - - 135,785 135,785
Amounts due to fellow ERRRMBARAR
subsidiaries bl - 44907 - - - 44,907 44,907
Bank borrowings FITRE
- variable rate —%8 1.99 381,811 1,210,076 1,069,962 177,234 2,839,083 2,767,770
1,490,638 1,210,076 1,069,962 177,234 3,947,910 3,876,597

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 December 2017,
the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of these
bank borrowings amounted to HK$52,500,000 (2016:
HK$62,500,000). Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The Directors believe that such bank
borrowings will be fully repaid after the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates
within six years as set out in the loan agreements. At that
time, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows will
amount to HK$55,538,000 (2016: HK$66,569,000).

R EMEES TP - [REREK
“@AR]— B BEREER
EFFEEMNIERMIRITEE -
W_ZE—+tF+=-_A=+—8"
LERITEENRTEAEE
%8 552,500,000/ 7T ( ZZF — X
fF : 62,500,00087C) - BELK
ZRAEENTIEHNEAE -
IRITH TR AT RET T L BB HE LA
EFHBFER - EBREZER
TEEBRBEERIGRAE 2N
FRETERAHRHEIRE
BEEE - EF - ASBBRF
B IR &K ¥ 555,538,000/8
TT(=ZF— X : 66,569,000/
JT) e
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 33. €M I B

(c)  Fair value measurements of financial instruments () EmMIAENATESE
Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are BELEMHEERATLEIEZ
measured at fair value on a recurring basis AEBERMEEZATFE
Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair AEFETDEEENSRER
value at the end of each reporting period. The following table MAERE AR AT ESE - TX
gives information about how the fair values of these financial FraEt &Rl B F i S 4 Rt
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques BE2ANFE(CERMAME
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy BT K g A B8 ) - AR AT
into which the fair value measurements are categorised (Levels Bt 2B AEEBE 2 EREEA
1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair HBUATESA=EAAE D2
value measurements is observable. FEEERN(E—ZE=MR) -

Relationship of
Valuation Significant unobservable
Financial assets/ Fair value as at Fair value techniques unobservable inputs to
(liabilities) 31 December hierarchy and key inputs inputs fair value
TABEGA

Rt=—A=+—-RA2z AFEL HEEMK BEART HiEEAYE
SREE(8E) AYE BRI TERAHE HEGAYE 2%
2017 2016
—E—tF ZTRF
HK$000 HK$'000

TR THET
() Listed equity securities 223,300 1,121,923 1 Quoted bid N/A N/A
classified as available- prices in active  NE A TEA
for-sale financial market.
assets i B T 35 T
BEAE-
DERAHEESR
EEZ EmRAES
(i Listed bond securities 3,053,605 1,160,021 3 Reference to The lack of The higher
classified as available- the fair value marketability the lack of
for-sale financial quoted in discount marketability
assets the over- e TS TN discount, the
the-counter lower the fair
DEAIHILESR market with the value.
BE LTESH adjustments Bz st
for the lack of g
marketability. NFEHIE
SRIZINTIHR
EzLTE -
WHERZ 1%

1T AT -




158

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RARMEE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ontinued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

(continued)

Fair value of the group’s financial assets that are

measured at fair value on a recurring basis (continued)

Note:  For the listed bond securities classified as available-for-sale
financial assets, the most significant unobservable input is
the marketability discount. As at 31 December 2017, if the
marketability discount to the valuation model was 0.5% higher/
lower while and the other variables were held constant, the total
carrying amount of these investments would decrease/increase
by HK$74,049,000 and HK$74,049,000 (31 December 2016:
HK$29,072,000 and HK$29,072,000) respectively.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and 3 during the
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of
financial assets

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

33. £ I Hu

(c)

THMTENQAPEFE®E
RESEHEERAVETEZ

FEBEREEZ A VEE)
Bier: moBBAHRBESREE

WEmESESFME &
ATAEREE ABMIS T
- R-T—+F+=A
=+—8  WEEERKN
MBI E LA TR
0.5% » mH fth Al S ELERFT
B ZERENEERED
Bl & 35 4 4 174,049,000
7 7T & 74,049,000 7 T
(ZZ2—R"FE+=ZRA=+—
H : 29,072,000 #& 7T &
29,072,00087T) °

REE-ZE—+tF LT —F

+—A=+—ALFER F—
REREE = 4 7 R EEERE o

F=REMEEAVETBZY
AR

Listed bond

securities

EHhESFRS

HK$’'000

FBT

At 1 January 2016 RZZE—RF—HA—H 323,547
Additions NE 1,147,308

Disposals & (304,077)

Fair value loss in other comprehensive expense 2wy 2 AT EEIE (6,757)
At 31 December 2016 R-ZE—RF+_A=+—H 1,160,021
Additions INE 2,057,573

Disposals = (195,415)
Fair value gain in other comprehensive expense Hiv2mEAY 2 A FEKE 31,426
At 31 December 2017 R-ZT—+F+-fF=+—H 3,053,605

Included in other comprehensive income is a gain of REHEEREARFAZ L

HK$31,426,000 (2016: a loss of HK$6,757,000) relating to
listed bond securities held at the end of the reporting period
and is reported as changes of investment revaluation reserve
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with general accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis. The Directors
consider that the carrying amounts of these financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost approximate
to their fair values.

™ 1& % 75 % W % 31,426,000 78
TL(ZZ—/R4F : [§5186,757,000
B)  BETAHMEAENET
ERABEE_ZT—+E+_-A
=t+—BIEFEZREEGRHE

B -

HiteMEEREBABIAF
BIMRBERMIRR S REDN
ZAREBRAEE - BFR
5 R ERE R RS B
BEMERABENAFEREER
FERE -
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34. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS  34. E& K HiAE

2017 2016
—E2—+F —T—RF

HK$000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for but not B ET4ERAGE A BT FEHR*

provided in the consolidated financial BB E 2 B AR
statements for:
— acquisition of properties, plant and —BEYE - BELEE
equipment 13,835 30,266
— capital injection in an unlisted equity —FEEETRAKRE
investment 3,346 3,346
17,181 33,612
Other expenditure contracted for but not BETHERRERE B TR
provided in the consolidated financial EL s 2 Y
statements for:
— acquisition and other expenditures —BRAFEEMEZRER
relating to properties held for Hib%
development 1,148,902 1,182,201
1,166,083 1,215,813
35. OPERATING LEASES 35. REHL
2017 2016
—e—tF  —T%E
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FAET
The Group as lessee: AEEEREEA :
Minimum lease payments charged to the FRRERAEERNR/RZ
consolidated statement of profit or loss SEBLEFR
during the year 4,269 3,087
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group BERONREAEERETHAEY
for certain of its office properties. Operating leases are negotiated for ¥Rz KERNEERENZ

terms ranging from 1 year to 33 years. TN F1233F -
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35. OPERATING LEASES (continueq) 35. RKEHN =
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s future lease payments RREREARE R - REBRBEAT
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: BE 2 SRR BB N 2 BORNR

AR T ORI AT

2017 2016
k- o T—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —FR 879 415
After one year but not later than five years —FREREFA 593 674
After five years AFE 1,782 1,509
3,254 2,598
2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBT
The Group as lessor/licensor: AEEEAEEABEA
Rental income credited to the FANFTAGREBRRZ
consolidated statement of iER AL N
profit or loss during the year 64,356 64,370
Licence fee income credited to FANFtARE Bk EE
the consolidated statement of fERBIA
profit or loss during the year 120,000 120,000
184,356 184,370
The Group’s investment properties are rented to outside parties for AEBZIREYENIRBRET TR

periods up to seven years at fixed predetermined amounts. LB FINAAL BHIREALSEF -
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35. OPERAT'NG LEASES (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants under non-cancellable operating leases and with Licencee
under cancellable licence agreement for the following future minimum
lease payments commitments in respect of leasing of investment
properties (see Note 14) and licenced assets (see Note 15) which fall

RERERERAERAT
TR

35. BEHY

RREPEERE R - FAEBEREER
EME(RME14) REEEREE(R
FisE15) B P AT LM N AT A 2 7l
#0 e BRI S HE A RTSZAO R RT AT 1558
BUATARKEEEFRAGE - RAT

due as follow: HAREIHR -

2017 2016

—E—+t& —T—X
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Within one year —FR 59,003 60,491
After one year but not later than five years —FRERAFR 172,239 179,000
After five years RF% 77,451 127,912
308,693 367,403

The Group licences its licenced assets to a committed Licencee
under the licence agreement as follows:

o Within the first twelve months of the licence, either the Group
or the Licencee may terminate the licence agreement at its
sole discretion, by serving on the other party not less than
one month prior notice in writing and paying the other party
HK$1,000,000 or such other amount as may be mutually
agreed in writing between both parties.

o After the first twelve months of the licence, the Group may
terminate the licence agreement at its sole discretion, by
serving on the Licencee not less than one month prior notice
in writing.

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) The Group provided guarantees with maximum exposure
amounting to approximately HK$2,066,699,000 (2016:
HK$2,864,397,000) as at 31 December 2017 in respect of
bank mortgage loans granted to purchasers of the Group’s
properties. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values
of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group are
insignificant at initial recognition and the Directors consider
that the possibility of default of the parties involved is remote,
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of
the guarantee contracts and at the end of the reporting period
as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

REFBERGZE  AEERED A
ZERENERRREEREENT

. EEEERE @R A&
B EREATITEZEDE
B mes—HFEENOR—E
AEAEmBN YRS —FX
71,000,000/ 7ok & 5 £ 17
HMEHMSE - KUEREERD
& o

. ERRERE T _EA®R &
B AEREAZER T DR —{E
AELEEEAMN  2RMBELE
REERE

HAREE

(@) R—ZT—+F+-A=+—8"
AEERETFASRENEERN
IRITIRBEFREESRBIER
#92,066,699,0007 7T ( = F—7~
4 2,864,397,000/87L) - EE
RAE - AEEZSUBERED
A FERVIAERREL NE
X BESRAZLEZHENN
HEm - Bt RZE—EF
;=T F+ZA=+—H"
FAEIR & IR ST s R SR BRRS 45
RE B IWEEREE -

36.
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36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continueq)

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured
by the purchasers of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees
will be released by banks upon delivery of the properties
to the purchasers and completion of the registration of the
relevant mortgaged properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the ultimate
holding company, certain subsidiaries of the Company
and the Company (the “Respondents”) were named as a
defendant in the Supreme Court of Bermuda in respect of an
allegation of the affairs of KBCF had been and or were being
conducted in a manner which was oppressive or unfairly
prejudicial to the non-controlling shareholders of KBCF. The
petitioner was seeking an order requiring the Respondents
to repurchase all of the KBCF’s shares held by petitioner
at the price to be fixed by a valuer or the Supreme Court of
Bermuda. The trial of the petition took place in September
2015. The Supreme Court of Bermuda handed down its
judgement in 2015. The Supreme Court of Bermuda found
that the allegation, that the terms of the previous interested
person purchase transactions constituted preferential transfer
pricing which was prejudicial to minority shareholders, were
not proven and the allegation, that the terms of the license
agreement were wholly uncommercial and the Licencee was
a sham, were also not proven. However, the Supreme Court
of Bermuda ruled that the Company’s management should
have promptly initiated bona fide open negotiations in which
commercially reasonable proposals were openly tabled with
a view to persuading the minority shareholders of KBCF
to approve the interested person transactions mandate on
even marginally more favourable terms. Subsequently, the
Company filed a notice of appeal relating to the unfavourable
ruling of the judgement. The appeal hearing was taken place
on 6 and 7 March 2017 and the judgement was handed down
on 24 March 2017 which was in favour of the Respondents.
Since Respondents were successful in the appeal, the
petitioner was not entitled to any relief in the proceedings. In
addition, the Court of Appeal ordered the petitioner to pay the
Respondents its costs in respect of the appeal proceedings
and the proceedings. On 16 June 2017, the petitioner
obtained leave to appeal to Privy Council, which is the final
appellate court for proceedings in Bermuda. The hearing date
for Privy Council appeal has not been fixed as yet and there
is no timetable at present as to the steps leading up to the
hearing. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made
in connection with this claim by the Group.

KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ERIRAREMEERTEE
KM TRT - ZFEREN
A B RN R TR ARRRIS
YEECRAIRITER -

Hz—_ZT—F+=-A=+—H
LEFE  SRERARIRAQR]
AETHBRRRARR (&5
ADEBRESRERFIRER
SEIA B E AR IE#EITH
T JY R A TR 0 A R S
SAEIFIERARR - 2FAZIOE
PRHULRARLEMKERES
TP MERERTE 25
AFTHEEEIRGRG - FMER
—ZE-RFNAET - BRES
AN T — R ERITER
BRESRIRBTEEBER
B AT FEE 2 GEHERESR
EREEMmMEREVERR 2
AR NERSL - T A RIS
AmE EREE T HTEamER
Bl REREABERIBZETT
BRAZ o AT - BRER AR IR
HEANRNTNEIREIE R BNE
TEHAFMZER - AMRHD
¥ FAENES  UHREE
SRS Y D BIAR R AR T R A TR 1K
FALES RS A LR SEE
Hig  NRBIETHZ Hokss
MER FFRBAE - FFERZ
Z—tF=AXNABEREAERAK
N-ZZE—+E=A-+MWHEK%
HEERAERZER - BRE
AR SR - 2R AERRF
AR ZEATAER) o LS - EFF
FEETR2BARNEHAZNE
BRI RFANRE - K
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BREETHANKEL - 1B
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I BRF 7 A M AR R FTL 20 B A R R
Bt AEEHENRZER
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37. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

O AR R R A
—EFLEER

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which was registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme which was established under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Ordinance in December 2000 (the “MPF Scheme”). The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group and
are invested in funds under the control of independent trustees.
Employees who were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the
establishment of the MPF Scheme are members of both the ORSO
Scheme and the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining
the Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the MPF
Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2016: HK$30,000).

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the state-
sponsored pension schemes operated by the PRC government.
The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payrolls to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the pension schemes is to
make the required contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and the state-
sponsored pension schemes of approximately HK$22,562,000
(2016: HK$22,650,000) had been charged to profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2017, contributions of HK$2,257,000 (2016:
HK$2,242,000) due in respect of the reporting period had not been
paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the
end of the reporting period.

37.

RIKEREE

AEE RN —IEIRER S RIRE
165)5E M 2 e BB BT 8 ([ B 3R KT
2l MRS AR EAN =T
TE+Z AR zaHIEATE ST E
([eaFESETE]) - RSB EERAK
SECEESHEE  WIRERBBL
A2 ES - MR BESHE
ZRIB2NBERKAZIZIES R
BARERKE RAEESE 2K
8 MAMERZZZZTF+_Azz’
MAKXE@EZ FEB VAL MATESET
2l IRIERTESETE - BEREREES
BB E 8 MR A 5% S E H it
P& AMRBIKA LR A30,000/8 T
(== —7X4 : 30,000/ 7T) °

FEMBARZEEATEBMFEEZ
BRERNTEKE - ZEHMERA]
ARFEXHZ K AN L RARKE
g U BEREREN - AEBERARE
EEITZE—RERINABHEN -

MR aESHERERE
BhIRIRET 813 1+ 2 3049 522,562,000
BT (ZZ N : 22,650,00078 7T )
DEBEPHGR - RZE—tFE+ =
B=+—8 RR&EHREE 82 H3%
2,257,000/ (=2 —754F 1 2,242,000
BI) WA FZERTE - ZERER
SRS RE DT -
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 38. @i ZBHE4A 2 ABZ
ARISING FROM FINANCING HER
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from TRFAVNAEERETHELZ BB
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. 3 BRESNFFRSEEY - RMETY
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash EEZBRREREDERARERENLG
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EHRIREXERKEREETIZRS
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing MEBFAIRERE
activities.
Interest
Borrowings payable Total
£y ENFRL st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET THET FHET
At 1 January 2017 R-E—tF—H—H 2,767,770 6,737 2,774,507
Financing cash flows RERESRE 634,340 (79,421) 554,919
Interest expense recognised inthe  RERAE B RERH
consolidated statement of profit F B
or loss - 68,843 68,843
Interest expense capitalised BAREF B - 4,793 4,793
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F

+=—A=+—H 3,402,110 952 3,403,062
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39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 39. BEALIRS
The Group entered into the following significant transactions with AREEHEPEATEFRNETZIEAR
related parties during the year: 0T :

2017 2016
=gt T AF

HK$000 HK$'000
TR TAT

()  Sales of goods and driling services () MEARMBARHEEERNK

provided to fellow subsidiaries R ALIRS 1,835,757 1,744,263
(i) Purchases of goods from iy MRIRMEBARREER

fellow subsidiaries 603,701 546,591
(i)  Sales of laminates and copper to a (i) TR ERARIEAR A F]

shareholder with significant influence BESRZEB KR

over the ultimate holding company & B IR E AR X 5 659,021 562,759

(iv)  Purchases of drill bits and machineries (iv) )% 5 442 A% A A

from a shareholder with significant BEEATE N
influence over the ultimate holding FREEHENE M i 22
company 270,285 222,368
Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASMS
The remuneration of the Directors and other members of key FRN EBZREMFEEREAEZME
management during the year is as follows: W
2017 2016
ot o i
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Short-term benefits SRR 97,516 88,085
Post-employment benefits RIKEEF 893 765
98,409 88,850
The remuneration of the Directors and key executives is determined EERFETBRABZHMEEEEER

with reference to the performance of individuals and market trends. BITRANMIGBEEET -
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40. XAREEMME AT Z
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 15
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2017 N—ZE—+tFERN_ZE—XRF+=A
and 2016 are as follows: =+—08 ARFTERBATZ S
mT -
Place of
incorporation/ Issued and fully paid Proportion of the
registration and share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
EMEL, BERTRAR AEEEE
HEARAE BERRE BA/ ERER BRRRERLA FTEXK
2017 2016
“E—t+FE —T %
% %
Excel First Investments Limited British Virgin Islands* US$1 100 100 Investment holding
ERREERAA RERUHS 1% REER
KBCF Bermuda* US$72,250,000 82.32 65.95  Investment holding
BB BAE 72,250,000% 7T REER
Hong Kong Copper Foil Limited British Virgin Islands US$47,057,290 82.32 65.95  Investment holding and
BAWEERAT RERUES 47,057, 290% 7T licencing of properties
REZBRENZE
RiEER
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC! US$7,615,000 100 100  Manufacture and
Material Company Limited HE 7,615,000%70 distribution of bleached
O () BEMRBRAR kraft paper
HERDWRAAREL
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRC! US$29,466,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co. Limited g 29,466,000 T distribution of laminates
BB () BERERAR HERS HENER
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper Laminates PRC' US$17,936,546 100 100 Manufacture and
Co. Ltd. g 17,936,546% 70 distribution of laminates
BB () BESRABRRF HERS HENER
Kingboard Electronic Raw Material ~ PRC! US$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and
(Jiang Yin) Co., Ltd. FE 30,000,000 7T distribution of laminates
BESTMH (IR) ARAF HERS HENER
Jiangmen Kingboard Laminates PRC! HK$242,800,000 100 100 Manufacture and
Co., Ltd. g 242,800,000 ¢ distribution of laminates

TPRERERBRAR HEL D HEWER
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Place of

incorporation/ Issued and fully paid

registration and share capital/
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital

?‘Eﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ/ EBRTRAR
WEARER RS B/ EREE

40. ZAAEEMBATZ

=310

Proportion of the
ownership interest
held by the Group Principal activities
AEEFES
BERERERLA TEXH

Kingboard (Jiangsu) Chemical PRC! US$32,000,000
Co., Ltd. ! 32,000,000% 7T

BE(I%) L IBRAR

Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC US$32,010,000
Co., Ltd alei) 32,010,000% T

BERER (BIL) BRAR

Kingboard (Lian Zhou) Fibre Glass ~ PRC' US$13,700,000
Co. Limited B 13,700,000 7T

B (G2M) BRE R ERAT

Kingboard (Panyu Nansha) PRC! RMB250,000,000
Petrochemical Company Limited ~ F B! 250,000,000 A R 15

B (BBEY) AlLERAT

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific principal
place of operations.

! These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Wholly
Foreign-owned Enterprises.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of
the year.

2017 2016
“E—tf —TEF
% %
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
BUERDHIY IER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of laminates
SE R HEINER
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of glass
fabric
BER D HRES SR
100 100  Manufacture and
distribution of chemicals
BUERDHIY IER
# ERRDREERAR - WESEE
EM%m%E

1 IERABAINEBECE N EFE
ﬁii o

ERFAIREERAIBFEAKEE

BREEZARFMBRR - EERA
FIHEMH B AR ZFHFEBNILE

B D RNF AR EEITENES
B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(@) General information of subsidiaries
At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of
these subsidiaries operate in the PRC. The principal activities
of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Principal place
Principal activities ] of business

40.

ARATEWBAA

=310

(@ MEARZ—RESR
PIRE BRI AR - AATIHES
HAKBEWTERNEMMBA
Al o ZEMBRRABHRFEH
BB - REWBRRIZEBEY
BT

Number of subsidiaries
MEAREE
2017 2016

—E—tF  —TAF

Manufacture and sale of RLERIHE PRC F 22 21
laminates EiINER Thailand Z=H 1 1
Macau SBPY 2 2

25 24

Properties E Hong Kong a8 2 2
PRC =8 9 9

United Kingdom 5 E] 1 1

12 12

Others EAh Hong Kong BB 37 37
PRC =a 6 6

43 43
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

AREBHEAR2

+'+'E4>F

(b)  Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) EEEAFEZEREZRZIHE
have material non-controlling interests 2EMB DTS
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREFHEEEAIIERER 2
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling REBEFE2EMB AT
interests:

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation and interests and voting rights
principal place of K%K held by non-controlling Profit allocated tonon-  Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary ~ HEAREH business FTEERHY interests controlling interests  controlling interests
FEREGEACRE PREFER

RRERRERH R 2EA gtk R
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
S-tE CPRF SR CTAF SR-tF CFAE
HK$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i TAT TER TER

KBCF REREY Bermudat AR 1768%  34.05% 2,558 361 467,794 895,888
Inovidually immaterial AR

subsiclaries with non- 45 7B

controling interests FERHBAA 490181 43871

516975 939,759

# This is an investment holding company which has no specific AR R EBER AT WEBEIELE
principal place of operation. 2L o

) excluding non-controlling interests of KBCF’s subsidiary 0 NEIERE MG B R R 2 IR R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40.
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

(b)

72
== =

T

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b)
have material non-controlling interests (continued)

KBCF and subsidiaries

7 EMBELRZ

BEERFERERZF
2EMBARFE @)
EIEWERHE LR

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—REF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Current assets MENEE 1,837,886 2,337,366
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,098,099 441,624
Current liabilities mEAaE 116,253 124,374
Non-current liabilities SERBEE 4,793 -
Equity attributable to owners of ENNCIESTSDN
the Company =g e 2,319,847 1,733,292
Non-controlling interests of KBCF BB I R 467,794 895,888
Non-controlling interests of EEIREMBARZ
KBCF’s subsidiary FEER R = 27,298 25,436
Revenue S 609,407 635,296
Expenses, other gains and losses Fisz - Hiblies REE 591,655 630,363
Profit for the year N5 F 17,752 4,933
Profit attributable to owners of the ZN/NSIESESUN
Company JEAL % A 11,910 700
Profit attributable to non-controlling A FE AR R RS
interests of KBCF iyl 2,558 361
Profit attributable to the non-controling — ZSERENTE A
interests of KBCF’s subsidiary #&Hﬂ“—ﬂg{ﬁmflj 3,284 3,872
Profit for the year AN 55 ) 17,752 4,933
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40. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 40.

1 EMBATZ
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

72
== =

T

(continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that b) EBEERFEREZZHF
have material non-controlling interests (continued) 2EMBARFER @)
KBCF and subsidiaries (continued) EERERMBAR(E)

2017 2016
—®—t%F TN

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THAT

Other comprehensive income (expense) A &l35H AE(LEHAD

attributable to owners of the Company 2z (FI2) 118,535 (72,464)
Other comprehensive income (expense) 325 54 FE1E AR A 25 FE (L H Ath

attributable to non-controliing interests 2 E Yz (Fis2)

of KBCF 25,458 (87,413)
Other comprehensive income (expense)  i&)&EEM B A R FEIE R iERS

attributable to the non-controlling EEEMmEEmWEE(FEX)

interests of KBCF’s subsidiary 1,786 (2,019)

Other comprehensive income (expense) ANEEHE 2 EUZE(FX)
for the year 145,779 (111,896)

Total comprehensive income (expense)  AAFIEA AEERH

attributable to owners of the Company  Yiz5 (552 ) 42%8 130,445 (71,764)
Total comprehensive income (expense)  i&E RS JEIE IR EZS FE(E 2 E

attributable to non-controlling interests ~ Ugz5 (RS2 ) 4248

of KBCF 28,016 (87,052)
Total comprehensive income attributable 355 $ASE T B A 71 JEFE i AE 25

to the non-controlling interests of EiE R =EEE

KBCF’s subsidiary 5,070 1,853

Total comprehensive income (expense)  AEE 2 E U (B ) #E 58

for the year 163,531 (106,963)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BEERENE AR

interests of KBCF’s subsidiary FEIZ AR A 2 O AR B, (3,208) (9,360)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 484 %7438 & i A %58 120,499 185,182
Net cash outflow from investing activities % & %737 & im %58 (43,837) (32,886)
Net cash outflow from financing activities &4 5% EIR 4 7 H F 58 (3,208) (9,360)

Net cash inflow B R A FRE 73,454 142,936
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RE M BmARMEE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Non-current asset

FREEE

2017
—E—+tF

HK$’000
FET

41. RRPB I BEARRA R e
2

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FHBT

Investment in a subsidiary R—EMRB AR ZI’E 5,711,740 5,711,740
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE ST BB A R FE 14,514,623 12,245,836
Other receivables and prepayments HAth FEULAR X R TR 5RIR 50,896 38,289
Bank balances and cash RITHBRIES 682,188 510,263
15,247,707 12,794,388
Current liabilities mEBaE
Other payables H A FERBR 23,075 29,990
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NG E e 8,689,340 7,549,926
Bank borrowings RITEE
— amount due within one year ——FREE 2 I8 100,000 1,369,672
8,812,415 8,949,588
Net current assets MEEEFRE 6,435,292 3,844,800
Total assets less current liabilities BERERRDERE 12,147,032 9,556,540
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE
— amount due after one year ——F 1% B|H 7 TR 3,000,000 985,598
Net assets BESE 9,147,032 8,570,942
Capital and reserves & K
Share capital R&Ax 308,100 300,000
Reserves (Note) (P EE) 8,838,932 8,270,942
Total equity B4R 9,147,032 8,570,942
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RME

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

m.%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ

300

Note: s :
Share
Share options Special Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
BRBRE
R D E e ¥Rl E RERA bl
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT FHT
(Note a)
(FftzEa)
At 1 January 2016 R-Z—XF—H—H 1,097,104 93,105 5,427,130 579,540 7,196,879
Profit for the year and total REERFRAFE
comprehensive income for the year 2K EEREE - - - 3,318,063 3,318,063
Final dividend paid for the year ENBE-_Z—RfF
ended 31 December 2015 +ZA=+—HLtFE
ZAREARE - - - (339,000) (339,000)
Interim dividend paid for the year ENEBE-ZT—REF
ended 31 December 2016 +ZA=+—HLtFE
ZHRHARR S - - - (405,000) (405,000)
Special interim dividend paid for ENBE-ZT—RE
the year ended 31 December 2016 +_A=1+—HILFE
2RI ERR B - - - (1,500,000) (1,500,000)
- - — (22440000  (2,244,000)
At 31 December 2016 NZZE—RE+-A
=+—H 1,097,104 93,105 5,427,130 1,653,603 8,270,942
Profit for the year and total AEERAEAFEEEE
comprehensive income for the year earak - - - 2,545,041 2,545,041
Final dividend paid for the year ENEBE-T—RF
ended 31 December 2016 +=—A=t+—HILEE
ZAREARE B - - - (569,985) (569,985)
Interim dividend paid for the year ENEBEE-T—+4F
ended 31 December 2017 +=—A=t+—HILEE
ZHEAR B - - - (1,004,406) (1,004,406)
Special final dividend paid for the year BfIEZE =T —X4F
ended 31 December 2016 +=—A=t+—HILEE
ZFEERIRERIL S - - - (924,300) (924,300)
Ordinary shares issued BETE R 614,745 (93,105) - - 521,640
614,745 (93,105) ~ (2,498,691)  (1,977,051)
At 31 December 2017 RZZT—tF+=A
=t+—H 1,711,849 - 5,427,130 1,699,953 8,838,932
Note a: Special reserve of the Company represent the differences between the MizE . AEEZERIEERERBERBEARZ

BEFEER_STRFETEEEA
B AKEMETZARBRNEERE
ZHERZERE ©

net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued for the acquisition at the time of the Group’s
reorganisation in 2006.



KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED
1 74 ANNUAL REPORT 2017

INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES
EEEEH

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for REETESARREMEINTE
investment:

Gross floor Group’s interest
area (m?) AEEEERER
Location Existing use HEREER 2017 2016
= e (FFK)  —g-tg -—2r%
(%) (%)
88 to 93 Fenchurch Street, 5 and Commercial Freehold 8,000 100% 100%
7 Carlisle Avenue and Part of [GES KAERE

Saracens Head Yard, London,
EC3M 4ST, United Kingdom

Building 14, Kingboard Yueking Garden, Commercial Medium term lease 13,000 100% 100%
Kunshan Development District, [HES h HAFA R
Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

(FEUIHERILTHRER
BEmRE145E)

No. 130 Lingang Xinchengpu Road, Commercial Medium term lease 11,000 100% 100%
No. 220 Lingang Xinchengjin Road, [ES h EATE ER
Shops of Jiangyin Kingboard Garden Phase |
at No. 225 Lingang Xincheng Zhujiang Road,
Jiangyin, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
(PELIE B LR MERS IR -
130%% » BB 3T & #2205
ER B R R 8522557 -
TREERIEE — 8 s)

Unit Nos.2301-2308, 26/F, 27/F and Commercial Medium term lease 4,000 100% 100%
Car Parking Space No.9,10 on 2nd Floor, [HES  EATE HA
Overseas Trust Bank Building,
No.160 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
(BEBETITE160%
BIMEFERITRE
2301-2303% - 264 « 2718
21 EOR 10578 1)
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INFORMATION ON THE GROUP’S PROPERTIES

The following table sets out the Group’s material properties held for REETEGFREWEINTER :
development:

Approximate
percentage of

completion as Year of
at the date of expected Gross floor Group’s interest
this report (%) completion area (m? rEERERES
BEEERRE
Location Existing use B LA st BEERR 2017
12 R AR BAEHRT TIEE CFAK) —m—t&
(%) (%)
Huagjiao Kingboard Garden Phase IV, Residential 99% 2018 393,000 100% 100%
Guixi Road, Huagjao District, E=2

Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*

(PENTEERIUMIERR AR

TEREERIEEME)
Huagjiao Kingboard Garden Phase V, Residential 40% 2019 180,000 100% 100%
Guixi Road, Huagjiao District, F=E

Kunshan, Jiangsu Province, the PRC*
(FEIIHS RILMIEE BB
TEREERIEERE)

* denotes English translation of Chinese addresses in the PRC for identification * B 2 E SO R RE R AR o
purposes only.
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RESULTS E
Year ended 31 December
BE+t=-A=1+—HLLEE
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
—T—=F =ZT—NF ZFT—hHF T—N —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT FAT FET
Revenue = 12,798,302 13,282,694 12,769,720 15,531,721 18,242,796
Profit before taxation B 8 A2 ) 1,393,151 1,329,256 1,540,465 4,902,670 4,642,579
Income tax expense FriSHifsE (183,268) (193,281) (269,465) (550,762) (870,328)
Profit for the year IR HF 1,209,883 1,135,975 1,271,000 4,351,908 3,772,251
Attributable to: JE(R1DEE
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIESYEUN 1,207,182 1,121,842 1,265,403 4,346,561 3,764,540
Non-controlling interests Eielibg e 2,701 14,133 5,597 5,347 7,711

1,209,883 1,135,975 1,271,000 4,351,908 3,772,251

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERBE

At 31 December
R+=—A=t+-—8H
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

—T—=F ZZT—MNF ZT—HF —T—FRF ZET—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TR TR THTT FHET
Total assets BERE 21,959,326 22,922,586 23,030,997 25,664,205 28,551,223
Total liabilities BfERRE (7,934,790)  (8,528,926)  (8,877,836) (10,317,073) (10,564,289)
Net assets BEFE 14,024,536 14,393,660 14,153,161 15,347,132 17,986,934

Equity attributable to owners AN A &34 A

of the Company e 12,918,293 13,299,975 13,167,408 14,407,373 17,469,959
Non-controlling interests IR R 1,106,243 1,093,685 985,753 939,759 516,975

Total equity BAREEE 14,024,636 14,393,660 14,153,161 15,347,132 17,986,934
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KINGBOARD LAMINATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

23/F, Delta House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shek Mun, Shatin, N.T., Hong Kong
EEFASHAMRBH=REERE=T=1

Tel &3 * (852) 2605 6493 Fax {85 : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail EE : enquiry@kingboard.com Web site #8311t : http://www.kblaminates.com
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